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Group strategic report tor the year ended 31 December 2020

The directors present their strategic report on the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020,

Principal Group activities
The principal activity of The Peninsular and Oriental Steam Navigation Company ("P&0") and of its subsidiaries
(referred to as “the Group”) in the year was the operation and development of container terminals and related

logistical operations worldwide ("Ports™. Qur aim is to enhance the supply chain efficiency of our customers by
effectively handling container, bulk and general cargo across our network.

Review of operations and results

The resuits of the Group are set out in detail on pages 20 to 25 and in the accompanying notes. The financial position
ol the Parent Company is set out in detail on page 76 and in the accompanying notes.

The Group's key financial and other performance indicators during the year were as follows:

2020 2019 Change
Ports - Container throughput (TEUs'm) 354 355 {0.3%)
Profit fram continuing operations before taxation (£'m) 233.5 265.0 (11.9%)
Profit for the year from continuing operations (£'m) 184.6 2023 {8.7%)
Adjusted EBITDA (£'m)* 495.4 512.0 {3.2%)
Return on Capital Employed 7.7% 8.2% -
Net Assets (£'m) 2,473.4 2,328.7 6.2%
Net Debt to equity ratio 51.0% 57.8% -
Net cash inflow from operating activities (£'m) 297.9 318.7 (6.5%)
Net cash {outflow)/ inflow from investing activities (£'m) {71.7) 29.5 (343.1%)
Net cash {outflow) from financing activities (£'m) {167.9) {(312.3) (46.2%)

*Earnings before separately disclosed items, interest, tax, depreciation and amortization ("Adjusted EBITDA”").

Gross throughput of 35.4 million twenty-foot equivalent units (TEU's) was marginally down by 0.3% than last year
mainly due to weaker performances across the Asia Pachic and India region,

Profit before taxation for the year ended 31 December 2020 was £233.5m, down by 11.9% from the prior year profit
before taxation of £265.0m, mainly due to reversat of litigation provisions in Asia Pacific and India segment in the
previous year.

Profit for the year was £184.6m down by 8.7% from the prior year profit of £202.3m, mainly due to reversal of
provisions in Asia Pacific and India segment in the previous year.

Adjusted EBITDA for the year was £495.4m decreased by 3.3% from the prior year EBITDA of £512.0m, mainly due
to weaker performance in Asia Pacific and India segment, partially offset by stronger performance in Europe, Africa
and Middle East region.

Return on capital employed is 7.7% for the year ended 31 December 2020 as compared to 8.2% for the year ended
31 December 2019, due to decreased EBIT and increase In net assets during the year.

Net assets at 31 December 2020 of £2473.4m were increased by 6.2% when compared to £2,328.7m at
31 December 2019, the movements are detailed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Net debt to equity decreased to 51.0% at 31 December 2020 from 57.8% at 31 December 2019, mainly on account
of increase in equity due to increased retained earnings.

Net cash inflow from operating activities was £297.9m lower by 6.5% from the prior year, mainly on account of
decrease in EBITDA.

Net cash used in investing activities was £71.7m, lower by 343.1% from the prior year, mainly due to decrease in
dividends received from equity accounted investees in Asia pacific and India segment during the year and also
proceeds from disposal of equity accounted investees recorded in prior year in Asia pacific and India segment.

Net cash used in financing activities was £167.9m lower by 46.2% from the prior year, mainly on account of decrease
in payment in relation to loans with group undertakings during the year,
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Group strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

On 29 April 2019, the Group has disposed-off its entire shareholding of 49% in PT Terminal Petikemas Surabaya for
a consideration of £30.9 million.

Principal risks and uncertainties

During 2020, the Group continued to monitor and review the principal business performance risks that could
materially affect the Group's businass, financial condition and reputation. While other risks exist outside those listed,
we have made a conscious effort to disclose those of greatest importance to our business. The Group's risk
management process aims to provide reasonable assurance that we understand, monitor and manage the principal
uncertainties. A summary of the Group’s principal risks, the nature and management of these risks are further
described below.

Macroeconomic instability

Risk Description and Impact: - Throughput correlates with GDP growth of the global economy. Market conditions
in many of the geographies where we operate can be challenging due to macroecanomic or geopolitical issues, which
can potentially impact our volume growth and profitability.

Trend: - According to the International Monetary Fund ("IMF"), in 2020 the global economy contracted by 4.4%.
The outlook for 2021 remains uncertain with economies impacted by continued lockdowns due to COVID-19,
unresolved trade wars and post-Brexit ambiguity. However, IMF is forecasting a GDP recavery of 5.1%.

Risk Management: -

~Our business remains focused on origin and destination cargo, which is less susceptible to economic Instability,
Although our tocus on faster-growing emerging markets may result in volume volatility in the short term, we believe
that the medium to long-term prospects remain robust. We aim to deliver high levels of service to meet our
customers’ expectations and continue to proactively manage costs. Despite the very challenging market conditions
In 2024, container volumes remained Hat year-on-year. Drewry expects that industry volumes to recover by 9% in
2021.

«Muliple sources of funding have been arranged through bank loans, revolving facilities, bonds and private
placements to help ensure that the Group is able to meet short and long-term liquidity requirements, facilitating our
growth/diversification aspirations.

+ We have a well-diversified glabal porttolio ot investments across a number of junsdictions, spreading our

concentration risk due to a geographical spread of our business activity. Increasingly, we are investing in port-related

assets, which further diversify our risks.

« Cost control measures were introduced globally in 2020 to minimize the EBITDA impact of the global economic

fdeniing

Industry Capacity and Competition

Risk Description and Impact: - The utilization within our ports and terminals business is influenced by any available
capacity 10 handle container volumes. In some jurisdictions, port authorities tender many projects simultanecusly
and create capacity beyond medium-term demand, which will lead to overcapacity in that market. An increase in
capacity can lead to intersified competition between terminal operators, resulting in weak pricing power, loss of
revenue and low return on investment.

Additionally, the Group may be subject o increasing competition as part of our strategy to develop port-centric
logistics businesses to ¢complement our core.

Trend: - COVID-19 has negatively affected port volumes in many geographies. While volume trends have recovered
in 2020 across our businesses, the outlook remains uncertain, given the possibility of new lockdowns due to future
COVID-19 waves.

Risk Management: -

- Barriers to entry are typically high in the container terminal industry due to the capital-intensive nature of the
business. Mowever, in many jurisdictions, where there are ramp-up risks assaciated with new capacity, we seek
torme with the port authonitios to restnet tho granting ot additional capacity until a reasonablo lavel of ramp up has
Lieary ar Diigneen |

« We bnng on capacity in line with demand with a view to avoiding overcapacity.

« Qur portfolio continues ta have a focus lowards emerging markets that continue to show resilience and growth.
We repurpose and refit our ports and terminals in line with market demand and use technology as much as possible
to improve efficiency and drive new revenue streams, increasing the return on investment in our existing assets,
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Group strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

Industry Capacity and Competition {continued)

» We have global contractual agreements with customers to leverage the global footprint that we have, enabling
improved efficiencies for both parties.

* Developing port-centric logistics by adding landside valus to our customers.

+ With diversification into logistics parks and economic zones, these investments complement container terminals
and contribute lease revenue, which is part of our non-container revenue.

* Investments in digital assets that will deliver our vision lo become a trade enabler by taking our customers
operations online and reduce paper-based complexities involved in existing processes.

* We focus on high lavels of customer service and develop sustainable, high-value and trusted customer
relationships throughout our portfolio.

» We operate customer engagement projects to improve and extend supply chain relationships. Senior executive
sponsors are in constant dialogue with our customers and we maintain a watching brief on all markets. We partner
with customers to identify efficiencies and optimize costs wherever possible.

Major Projects — Development and planning

Risk Description and Impact: - Major capital construction projects and programmes of works contribute significantly
to reshaping our portfolio and delivering our strategy. We are managing several high-value, long-term projects that
can take months or years to complete. These programmes and projects, due to their nature, are exposed to
geopolitical events, forces of nature, unforeseen site conditions, technology development, equipment delivery issues
and other extemal factors, which can result in delays, quality issues or cost overruns. Failure to deliver these major
programmes and projects can expose the Graup to the risk of reduced profitability and potential losses.

Trend: - As a result of COVID-19, a number of construction projects were put on hold until the situation stabilized.
For projects that were already in progress, the associated impact has been minimized, thanks to the strength of our
contract documents, strong relationships with our supply chain and close manitoring and mitigation of any potential
impacts,

Risk Management: -

= Qur Group Procurement Policy supports in prequalifying our vendors, standardizing procurement activities {(e.g.
tendering, evaluation, awarding), standardizing and constantly updating the contractual documentation to cater for
the Grosip's interest whan procaring prodicts ar services fram third-party vendnars

« Project risks are penodically assessed, mitgated, managed and controlled dunng the project implementation stage.
« Several levels of approval are in place for large-scale contracts up to the level of our Board, Multi-discipline
committees have baen established to validate vendor selection and the awarding process for all large-scale projects.
- Our Group Planning and Project Policy ensures full oversight of all capital construction projects and programmes
for all Group companies. Key stakeholders across the Group are regularly provided with status update reports on the
progress of projects to ensure clear visibility and accountability,

+ The Project Implementation Manual continues to be enhanced to reflect latest process, procedures, tools and
tochniques in project managemant.

« As the Group continues to diversify and add different companies under its umbrella, the Group Planning & Project
Management department has expanded its competencies and expertise to be ready for any new project type (for
products or services).

Geopolitical

Risk Description and Impact: - The Group seeks new opportunities and operates across a large number of
jurisdictions, resulting in exposure to a broad spectrum of ecanomies, political and social frameworks, Palitical
instability, changes to the regulatory environment or taxation, international sanctions, expropriation of property, civil
strife and acts of war can disrupt the Group's operations, increase costs, or negatively impact existing operations,
service, revenues and volumes.

Trend: - This risk has increased due to the ongoing geopolitical tensions and escalations in the Middle East as well
as civil unrest across Latin America and Asia. Increased protests have also been seen as a result of COVID-19 and

how govermments have responded.

Risk Management: -

- We have a well-diversified global portfolio of investments across a number af geographical jurisdictions, which
spreads our risk. We also actively maintain a mix in investments between emerging markets and developed markets
th halanrs nur nsk return prr_)hle»

« We are also increasingly investing in port-related assets across the wider supply chain, which further diversifies our
potential risk exposure should undesired geopolitical events aoceur.

« Lur tocus on the more resilient ongin and destination cargo also lowers the risk of volatility.

3
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Group strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

Geopolitical [continued)

» Our experienced business development tearmn undertakes initial due diligence, and we analyse current and emerging
ISSUCS.

= Business continuity plans are in place to respond to threats and safeguard our operations and assets.

« Authoritative and timely intervention is made at both national and international levels in response to legislative,
fiscal and regulatory proposals that we feel are disproportionate and not in our interests.

- Ongoing security assessments and continuous monitoring of geopalitical developments, along with engagement
with local authorities and joint venture partners, ensure we are well-positioned to respond to changes in political
environments.

IT Systems, Infrastructure Failure and Cyber Threat

Risk Description and Impact: - We focuses on utilizing technologies and data to give us a competitive advantage.
It helps us drive efficiencies by ensuring that we understand and operate all our assets to their maximum potential,
automating key processes and activities where possible.

As we continue to embed greater digitalisation into the our strategy, we continue to realise significant advantages
with regard to customer experience, revenue, and cost. This will enable P&OSNCo to achieve growth targets in an
evolving landscape. However, this, coupled with the increased use of mobile devices, Internet of [hings, cloud
applications, social media and the evolving sophistication of cyber threats, lead to carporations being targets for
malicious and unauthaorized attempts to access their IT systems for information and intelligence. Our Group could be
compromised by an incident that breaches our IT security. This could result in business disruption, liabilities, claims,
loss of revenue, litigation and harm to the Group's reputation.

Trend: - The sophistication and frequency at which cyber attacks and information security incidents are occurring
within global organisations continues to increase. Hackers are exploiting COVID-19, targeting unsuspecting staff in
phishing attacks. Since working from home has become a popular way of working, we could see different and more
sophisticated methods of attacks. As such, this requires us to remain constantly vigilant and prepared.

Risk Management: -

« We have developed IT strategies that are aligned with business abjectives.

« Qur Graup IT Governance Framework is based on COBIT5, 1SO 27001, TOGAF, PMiand ITIL.

« Qur infarmation security policies, procedures and frameworks are frequently reviewed to mitigate risks and ensure
compliance. These are based on international industry standards, such as ISO27001, NIST and CIS.

» We regularly review, update and evaluate all software, applications, systems, infrastructure and security. This
includcs regutar vuinerability azscasment and penetration testing.

+ All software and systems are upgraded or patched regularly to ensure that we minimise our vulnerabilities.

» Strong authentication mechanisms are implemented to maintain contidential, integrity and availability.

« Qur security approach protects confidentiaity, integrity and availability of ntormation in all layers of i} infrastructure.
+ Qur principle is to follow “Zero Trust Model’ before granting access and use least privileged access.

+ Data back-up practices are in place across business units to ensure data availability during unforeseen events.

» Each of our business units have IT disaster recovery plans to support business continuity.

» Our IT infrastructure is regularly updated or refreshed to keep pace with changing and growing threats and support
business applications.

« We have online training and awareness courses for our emptoyees to ensure they remain aware of proper use of
our computer systems and on cyber security.

Safety Risks

Risk Description and Impact: - The industry we operate in has a considerable interaction between people and
heavy equipment/loads and falls from heights, which expose us to a range of health and safety hazards. In addition
ta this, COVID-19 has posed a real threat to the health and wellbeing of our people. The potential impacts could
include harm to our people, regulatory action, legal liability, increased costs and damage to our reputation. Qur
ultimate goal 1s zero harm to our emplayees, third parties and communities near our operations.

These impacts are compounded in emerging markets where fundamental safety cultures may not exist or where
regulations are not consistently enforced.

In addition, we see the further acquisitions of existing businesses that do not have the same level of standards and
vadtire that Girea 1M |'|1-|'||r;||‘"=

Trend:- As we continue to diversify and grow our business, this risk will increase and as such requires a high

amount of prioritisation and focus to achieve our ‘zero harm' target. COVID-19 increased the threat of health concerns
for anr amplayeas that needad careful treatmant and monitoring.

4
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Group strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

Safety Risks {continued)
Risk Management: -

= Qur Board of Directars is fully committed to creating a safety culture throughout the Group. We regularly monitor
Lthe Implementation of our satety strategy within our business uhits, which includes employee training, regular audits
and management objectives in relation to the safety of our people.

» Extensive work took place across aur businesses to protect our peaple from the threat of COVID-19, including PPE,
temperature checks, close monitoring of staffing levels, quarantining, increased social distancing, new working
practices to minimise contact and ongoing awareness.

« We maintain up-to-date HSE standards, guidelines and targeted field-based risk programmes, along with extensive
safety promotion activities.

* We have in place a comprehensive five-year HSE strategy backed by robust annual plans for all levels of the
organisation.

= We ¢ontinue to record and report on all satety impacts within our businesses to the Board and senior management.
I his includes collecting, analysing, reporting and monitoring data on a monthly basis in order to measure the safety
performance of our business units.

= We investigate alf incidents and have a working group in place to highlight trends, reduce risk factors and identify
and implement measures aimed at eliminating fulure incidents.

+ Business unit management is responsible for local terminal safety risks and is supported by safety guides,
operational manuals, procedures and oversight from our local, regional and glebal satety teams, which coordinate
consistent approaches to safety risks.

+ A Vendor Code of Conduct has been established to ensure contractor selection criteria is aligned with our safety
policies prior to commencing work at our business units.

Legal and Regulatory

Risk Description and Impact: - Qur Group is subject to local, regional and global laws and requlations across
different jurisdictions. These laws and regulations are becoming more complex, increasingly stringent and, as such,
we are subject to various legai and regulatory obligations. We are expanding geographically and therefare, we are
exposed to an increasing number of laws and regulations when operating our businesses. New legislation and other
evolving practices (e.g. data protection, competition law and merger contral rules) could impact our operations and
increase the cost of compliance.

We must ensure that we fully comply with all these rules, both within our existing operations as well as in our business
development opportunities. This is even more critical in our industry that has few players, competitors and customers.
Regulators across the world exchange data and scrutinise companies on a global level. Failure to comply with
legislation could lead to substantial financial penalties, disruption to business, personal and corporate lability and
loss of roputation.

Trend: - This risk has remained stable as we contnueé O monitor and comply with our legal and regulatory
requirements in the countries that we aperate.

Risk Management: -

» The Group monitors changes to regulations across its portfolio to ensure that the effect of any changes is minimised,
and compliance is continually managed.

+ Comprehensive policies, procedures and training are i place to promote legal and regulatory compliance.

= Uur legal team has ongoing dialogue with external lawyers to maintain knowledge of relevant legal developments
in the markets where we operate.

- There are reqular discussions with regions and businesses to proactively be aware of changes in the legal and
regulatory environment and be in a position to advise accordingly.

« A Group compliance function has been established to further consolidate compliance with laws and regulations.

Compliance

Risk Description and Impact: - The Group demonstrates high standards of business integrity and ensures
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, including but not limited to, anti-bribery and corruption, fraud, data
privacy, rade sanctiohs ang anti-trust,

As our business spreads geographically, we are increasingly operating in countries identified as having a higher risk
of exposure ta these areas of requlation. Failure to comply with these requlations could result in substantial penalties,
prosecution and significant damage to our reputation.

Ihis could, 1n tumn, impact cur future revenue and cash flow. Allegations of corruption or bribery, or violation of
sanhctions regulations, could also lead to reputation and brand damage with investors, regulators and customers.
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Group strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

Compliance {continued)

Trend: - As we grow our operations and expand into new areas, we have continued to enforce our high standards
of business integrity. Our compliance framework remains robust and aligned with the growth and development of the
Group's operatians globally, ensuring that we effectively manage our compliance risks.

Risk Management: -

* The Group has a Code of Ethics and dedicated policies and procedures in place to address bribery, moderm slavery
and human rights, and adopts a zero-tolerance approach to these areas of risk. Online training and fraud risk
awareness workshops have been rolled out across the Group to raise awareness and pramote compliance.

+ We have an Anti-Fraud Policy and framework in place for preventing, detecting and responding ta fraud to meet
the stringent requirements of the UK Bribery Act. This is particularly focused on higher-risk regions to ensure the
Group's pulicies ae underslood dand enforced.

+ We provide new starters and existing employees with training on anti-bribery and corruption as part of the induction
process.

» Our Group compliance function focuses on ensuring that we understand and comply with the applicable laws

and regulations.

+ We have a Vendor Code of Cenduct to ensure vendors comply with our ethical standards and values. We will only
engage vendors who agree to adopt and adhere to the Code.

= All business units submit an annual self-assessment to confirm compliance to global policies. Policy compliance

is independently assessed by Internal Audit during planned business audils undertaken as part of a risk based
approach.

Leadership and Talont

Risk Description and Impact: - The leadership and talent risk are inherent to all businesses and failure to effectively
attract, develop and retain talent in key areas could impact our ability to achieve growth ambitions and operate
effectively. To achieve our goal in becoming a data-driven logistics solutions provider, it is essential we have the right
leadership and capabilities in place, across all levels and businesses within the Group.

DP World’s People strategy strives to mitigate these risks by creating an environment where people can thrive and
grow as part of a dynamic business.

Trend: - This risk continues to remain stable due to the continued efforts and focus that we place on developing our
penpie

Risk Management: -

= Attraction ana retention strategies are in place tor identitied scarce skills.

« We promote a sate working environment for our employees and cperate a global health and wellbeing programme.
+ We continuously monitor and benchmark our remuneration packages in order to attract and retain employees of a
suitable calibre and skill set.

« The DP World Hub develops and delivers training programmaes across all levels, focused on improving operational
and managerial competencies.

* We partner with some of the most reputable learning institutions, such as London Business Scheol, Harvard,
Erasmus and MIT far the davelopment of our leaders.

» We have entered into agreements with leading global recruitment and executive search firms to support us when
nceded and arg currently enhancing ou suuial iiedia suuring chiamiels.

« Effective performance management remains a high priority. Our global approach and tools are evalving to drive
optimal performance, from aligning strategic goals to recognizing and develaping our talent.

» We have in place a succession planning strategy for critical roles in the business, which forms part of our talent
management process.
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Labour Unrest

Risk Description and fmpact: - Labour strikes and unrest, or other industrial disputes, pose a tisk to our operational
and financiai rasuits. In 2020, COVID-19 could have caused significant unrest within our workforce it we didn’t quickly
respond and manage the situation carefully,

Unions are now communicating trans-nationally and co-ordinating actions against multi-national companies. The
Group may not be able to renegotiate agreements satisfactorily when they expire and may face industrial action. In
addition, labour agreements may not be able to prevent a strike or work stoppage, and labour disputes may arise
aven in circumstances where the Group's employees are not represented by labour unions,

Trend: - Despite the associated threats and impacts on our workforce from COVID-19, due to our quick response in
protecting our employees, this risk has remained stable. The positive relationships that we maintain with unions and
employees has minimised the threat of disruptions,

Risk Management:

« We have an engagement strategy with unions and employees in those areas most affected by disputes. This
includes multi-year agreements and clearly assigned responsibilities for maintaining close relationships with unions
lncally, natinnally, and intermnatinnally

= We are proactive and timely in our responses to the needs of the unions. A senior management representative
holds a membership role on the European Works Council, which provides a forum to interact directly with union
representatives on a timely and continuous basis.

+ COVID-19-specific HSE measures were quickly introduced at the start of the pandemic to support in mitigating the
threat of labour unrest and disruption.

= We continue to monitor operational downtime arising from local disputes,

* We conduct employee engagemsnt surveys with a formal process for following up on employee concemns,

+ We continue to develop a response capability to address and offset the impact of work stoppages as a result of
labour disputes within the local regulatory and legat framework we operate under.

Frnulranmasnral

Risk Description and Impact: - There is a growing portfolio of legislation and government regulations aimed at
tackling climate change, which could have consequences on our operations at national or regional level. New
legislation and other evolving practices could impact our operations and increase the cost of compliance. A breach
in any of thase regulations may result in the Group facing regulatory action and legal liability, including considerable
financial penalties, disruption to business, personal and corporate liability and damage to our reputation.

Environmental assessments required by external parties now commonly require the business to meet international
standards that exceed local requirements, particularly in emerging markets. Similarly, any spillage or release of a
harmful substance may have devastating consequences on the environment and numerous implications for our
business. Major incidents related to oil or chemical release may result in the Group being held liable to financial
compensation, clean-up costs and potentially have our corporate image permanently damaged.

Trend: - This risk has remained stable in 2020 as we continue to focus on reducing our carbon footprint
Risk Management: -

* We have a dedicated team responsible for continually reviewing environmental regulatory risks, which actively
engages with policymakers and govermments to assist in managing and mitigating any risks associated with
regulatory changes.

* We are constantly reviewing and updating our standards to ensure leading and best practices are applied,

+ We have shart-term and long-term carbon and environmental management strategies.

« Operational terminals, executives, managers and technical leaders play an important role in developing strategies
and actions to combat the adverse potenial elects of climate change through planning, modification of infrastructure
ahd retrotitting, etc,

* We continue to monitor and report our carbon emissions to the Board, senior management, and globally to
stakeholders.

« DP World purchasing procedures for new equipment is geared to eco-friendly equipment. All new RTGs
purchased are eco-RTG and all terminal tractors are energy efficient.

- We review the cargo and chemicals that we handle prior to their arrival and take appropriate action and care when
handling dangerous materials to prevent incidents.

+ We have developed targeted controls, guidance and training to prepare our terminals for response to any release,
large or small, should an incident ogeur.

» We investigate all environmental incidents and have a working group in place to highlight trends, reduce risk factors
and identify and implement measures aimed at eliminating future incidents.
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Corporate responsibility, safety and the environment

There are Group policies for health, safety, welfare, environment and social responsibility which are communicated
to all staff. Each operating company is required to produce its own policies and managemeant systems to reflect
Group policies and best industry practice in its sector of business. The Company also encourages the adoption of
similar palicies by its significant joint ventures and associates.

Promoting the success of the Group

The Directors of the Group must act in a way, as defined in section 172 of the Companies Act 2006. This requires
Directors to act in way which would promote the success of the Group and consider the following matters:

a) the likely long-term consequences of decisions;

b) the need to foster the Group's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;
c) the impact of the Group’s operations on the community and the environment;

d) the desirability of the Group maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct;
¢) the neced to act fairly; and

f) the interests of the company's employees.

As part of their induction to the Group, a Director is made aware of their duties by the Company Secretary.

Long-term decisions - The Directors systematically review and monitor a Group risk register with respect to
regulatory, legislative, financial and palitical risk and act accordingly to mitigate any long-term risks. Details of the
principal risks and uncertainties can be found within this report.

Business Relationships — the Group's strategy is to grow and develop business relationships. The Directors do this
by maintaining strong relationships with both suppliers and customers, through the executive management team.

Community and Environment — the operations of the Group may have impacts on the environment and the Directors
cansider this when making decisions including reviewing the cargo and chemicals that the Group handles priar to
their arrival and take appropriate action and care when handling dangerous materials to prevent incidents before

they happen.

Maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct and to act fairly - the Directors periodically consider
changes in health and safety legislation, ant-bribery and modern slavery legislative within the Group.

Interests of the Company’s employees - the Directors promote a safe working enviranment for our employees and
operate a global health and wellbeing programme.

By order of the Board

M

Mohammad Alhashimy

Seuvielary
A0 dnne 2021
Company Number Z73



P&O Annual Report

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)

Climate Change

From the scale of energy required to make and move goods to the resource intensity of legistics, we focus on
measuring and managing our direct environmental impacts. Our aim is to proactively contribute to the pressing
issue of global climate change.

Limiting industry refiance on high-carbon fossil fuels is a priority. To play our part, we have been putting in place
a low-carbon transition plan, These efforts tie in with our focus on promoting the use of renewable energy. From
implementing green technology solutions to zero-waste solutions, recyching inthatives and low-carbon innovation,
we are closing the loop on Jogistics, Our business units continue to reduce their energy consumption, conserve
energy and maximise energy efficiency by:

»  buying eco-equipment:

« eliminating wastage (e.q. idling machinery unnecessarily or lighting areas that are not being worked),
= improving greon onergy procurement {(0.g. zero omission oloctricity); and

+ purchasing and/ar retrofitting equipment with lower-carbon technologies.

We have focused on reducing the energy output per unit of movement across our operations. We have achieved
this by increasing efficiency and promoting clean energy. Our goal is to create a zero-emission supply chain across
our networks. This will help the communities we serve and create a cleaner society.

Our long-term commitment is to continue our efforts to reduce our carbon emission and energy use through new
programmes and initiatives. These will include developing renewable energy strategies, such as on-site renewable
energy projects and green energy procurement. We continually review our regulatory risks and engage with
policymakers and governments to help manage and mitigate any risks associated with regulatory changes.

Innovation and developing advanced technologies are central to our strategy. Cleaner, more efficient fechnologies
will be crucial as we explore and develop resources in ever more challenging environments. In line with this,
investment in new terminals based on low-carbon emission technology was our most substantial business decision.
Investing in technology is central to our dynamic and innovative approach to global business.

We established and issued Group Environmental Management Standards. They are based on, and benchmarked
to, the principles of 1ISO 14001: Environmental Management Systems, referring Lo our highest environmental risks.
The standards clearly describe the key tasks, measures and actions that our teams in business units and facilities
are required to implement in relation to environmental management.

P&OSNCo Group - Carbon Emissions

POSNCo Group carbon dioxide equivalent emissions in tonnes by scope:

Emission Scape 2018 2019 2020

Scope 1 173,802 149,331 137,050
Scope 2 84,933 81,300 84,418
Biodiesel 235 11,962 18,111
Total Emissions 258,970 242,593 239,579

Following is the summary of Group’s UK based subsidiaries’ carbon dioxide equivalent emissions in
tonnes hy scope:

Emission Scope 2018 2019 2020
Scope 1 20,910 19,573 20,399
Scope 2 24,111 21,481 20,411
Biodiesel - - -
Total Emissions 45,021 41,054 40,810
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) (continued)

P&OSNCo Group - Energy Consumption

FOSNCo Group energy consweplivin in gigd juules {G) by divisioie and suuice,

Energy Source 2018 2019 2020
Diesel 2,149,074 1,851,441 1,671,606
Electricity 848,186 808,901 740,409
Total Energy 2,997,260 2,660,342 2,412,015

Following is the summary of Group’s UK based subsidiaries’ energy consumption in giga joules {G))
by division and source:

Energy Source 2018 2019 2020

Diesel 300,597 280,656 292,501
Electricity 236,819 203,226 209,292
Total Energy 537,416 483,882 501,793

Ports and terminals performance

Emission Intensity
{(KgCO2e/ModTEU)

2020 12,43

2019 12.10

2018 13.00
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Report of the directors

The directors present el reporl and accounts for the yoeur onided 31 Deceinben 3020,

Directors
The directors of the Company who held office during the year and to the date of this report were as follows:

Mohammad Alhashimy
R.A. Al Qahtani
Mantraraj Dipak Budhdev

Dividends
The Company did not pay any dividend during 2020 (2018: nil).

Employees

The Company is committed to keeping employees throughout the Group informed of performance, development and
progress through its established system of briefings by management, and widely distributed news and information
hulletins.

There is a European Works Council, known as the European Council, the purpose of which is to inform and consult
with employee representatives on transnational issues. Members are elected in the UK and Ireland and either elected
or appointed, in accordance with national laws, in other countries. The Council meets twice a year.

The Company’s aim is to meet the objectives of the code of good practice on the employment of disabled people.
Fuli and tair consideration 1s given to disabled apphcants tor employment and training, and career development 15
encouraged on the basis of aptitude and abilities. It remains Company policy to retain employees who become
disabled whilst in its service and to provide specialised training where appropriate,

Employees are able to share in the Group's results through performance related bonus schemes which are widely
applied in the Group.

Going concern

The Group's business activities, together with factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position
are set out in the Strategic Report. In addition, note 6 to the consolidated financial statement sets out the Group's
objectives, palicies and processes for managing the Group's financial risk, including capital management, and note
30 provides details of the Group’s exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk arising from financial
instruments.

The Group has within current assets an amount of £1,256.9m (2019: £1,225.7m) due from its intermediate parent
companies and tellow subsidiaries and believe these to be recoverable.

The board of directors remain satisfied with the Group's funding and liquidity position. At 31 December 2020, the
Group had net debt of £1,262.3m (2018: £1,345.3m) and the undrawn committed borrowing faciliies of £16m (2019:
nil).

At the start of the pandemic, the world suffered a production shock in China, followed by a demand shock in Europe
and North America. After an initial significant dip in volumes, traffic recovered at Group’s port in China. The Group’s
early investment in digital technology and autamation ensured the Group faced minimal disruption at its [ocations.
The Group's response to the pandemic was rapid and resolute in continuing to provide our services, maintain
operations and protect customers, employees and host communities without compromising on safety. Around the
world, the Group has established dedicated teams to monitor, implement, educate and communicate control
measures. The Group also manitors, and acts on, every health measure laid down by local government regulations
and the WHO, whilst ensuring vital trade continues to How so that societies have what they need to tace the crisis.

As part of Group's strategy to paricipate across the supply chain to reduce inefficiencies and connect directly with
owners of cargo, the Group continued to invest in Logistics and Maritime sector during the year. By integrating the
new acquisitions and investing in innovation and technology, the Group continued to assist customers who were
struggling with [ogistics amid the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Group is monitaring all capex closely, has implemented expansive cost control initiatives across afl units, is
seeking all possible revenue oppartunities throughout the business to promote cash preservation and keeping a
close watch on receivables. The Group has not observed any significant changes to debtor days as compared to the
previous year.

Based on the above and having made enquirigs, the Directors consider that the Company and the Group have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and therefore they consider it
apprapriate tn ardnpt the gning Ffanecern hasis in preparing the accnnints

11
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Report of the directors {(continued)

Directors Indemnity Insurance

All directors are entitled to indemnification from the Company to the extent permitted by law against claims and legal
axpensas incurred in the coitrea of thair Aitias

Such qualifying third-party indemnity insurance is provided and remains in force as at the date of approving the
directors’ report.

Disclosure of intormation to the auditor

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors” Report canfirm that, so far as they are aware,
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware and each Director has taken all the
steps that he ought to have taken as a director to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the Company’s auditor’s are aware of that information,

Auditor

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 20086, the auditor wilt be deemed to be reappointed and KPMG LLP
will therefore continue in office.

By order of the Board

e

Mohammad Alhashimy

Senretary

30 June 2021
Company Numbear Z73
16 Palace Street
London

SW1E 5J0
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Annual
Report, Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the financial
statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the group
and parent company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial
year. Under that law they have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with international
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and applicable law and have
elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and
applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framewark.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and parant company and of the group’s profit or loss for that
period. In preparing each of the group and parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:

« select suitable accounting palicies and then apply them consistently;
« make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent;

« for the group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with international
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

« for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

s  assess the group and parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matiers
related to going concern; and

s use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company
or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
parent company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent
company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are
responsible far such internal control as they determing is necessary 1o enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking
such steps as are reasonably open to them to sateguard the assets of the group and to prevent and detect traud and
ctherirrcgulantics.

13
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Corporate Governance

Overview

Good governance and risk management are core to our business achieving its objectives. Our business madel
integrates best practice in these areas and is the blueprint to achieving our vision as a Group to lead the future of
world trade. The Corporate Governance Report has been structured to align with the principles set out in the
Coarporate Governance Best Practice Standards as detailed in The Companies (Miscellanaous Reporting)
Regulations 2018 (the Regulations). It sets out the actions that we have taken in 2020 to implement these practices

Corporate governance framework
The Group adopts the cormporate governance framework of the Parent Company (DP Werld Limited). A detailed

Corporate Govemnance Report of DP World Limited as reported in its 2020 Annual Report can be accessed at
https:/www.dpworld.comfinvestors/financials-and-Presentations/financial-reports/annual-reports.

At POSNCao level, the Board is at the center of our Corporate Governance Framewaork. It works closely with and is
aligned with each of the committees formed by the Group's ultimate Parent Company, DP World Limited. The
principal DP World Limited Committees include the Remuneration, Audit and Risk, and Nominations and Governance
Cammittees, with formally delegated duties and responsibilities and written terms of reference. From time to time,
the Beoard may set up additional committees to consider specific issues when the need arises. Reporis on the
activities of the principal DP World Limited Committees and their terms of reference are available on the DP World
Limited website, www.dpworld.com. The Deputy Group General Counsel & Company Secretary provides support as
the secretary for the principal DP World Limited Committees. The Board considers that the Corporate Governance
Framewaork, which is aligned with that of its ultimate Parent Company, DP World Limited, promotes the prudent and
sound management of the Company in the long-term interest of the Company and its shareholders and is effective
in promoting compliance with the Carporate Governance principles.

The Gronp's compliance with six pringiples enshrined in Wates Corporate Governance Principles is described as
below: -

1. Purpose and Leadership

A bhalanred Board with the necessary skills, knowledge and industry experience to lead our Group is key to
achieving our sirategic objectives and long-term goals. The Board remains committed to effectively leading the
Company, ensuring that our business is managed prudently and soundly to drive sustained long-term value for our
shareholders. The balance of skills and expertise on our Board will allow us to continue creating value as we
expand our horizons and lead the future of world trade.

2. Board composition
The directars of the Company wha held office during the year and 1o the date of this report were as follows:

Meohammad Alhashimy
R.A. Al Qahtani
Maniraraj Dipak Budlidey

3. Director’s responsibilities

The Board is responsible for overseeing the manaagement of the Company and approves all its major decisions.
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2008, the Articles of Association (the ‘Articles’) and to directions
given by special resolution of the Company, the Board may exercise ail the powers of the Company, whether
relating to the management of the business or not. The Board meets regularly, on an ad hoc basis but at least four
times each year and is instrumental in planning the medium- and long-term strategy of the Company. Board
resolutions are passed by a simple majority of Directors present at a meeting or unanimously in writing.

Matters reserved for consideration by the Board are key matters which include setting the strategic abjectives of the

Group, declaring dividends, approving major transactions, setting the annual budget for the Group, approving safety
and environment policies. insurance, risk management and internal controls.
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Corporate Governance (continued)

3. Director’s responsibilities (continued)

Meeting attendance
The Board held a total of ten meetings during 2020.

Ihe table below show the number ot meetings individual Directors could have attended in 2020, and therr actual
attendance.

Name of the Director Attendance No. of Meetings
Mohammad Alhashimy 10 10
R.A. Al Qahtani 0 10
Mantraraj Dipak Budhdev 10 10

4. Opportunities and risk

As the Board, we are ultimately responsible for aligning with the Group's risk appetite and its willingness to accept
certain risks in pursuit of achieving the Group's strategic objectives. The Board is also responsible for maintaining
appropriate risk management and internal control systems. The Audit and Risk Committee at the Group's Parent
Company level assists the DP World Limited Board in discharging its responsibilities with regards to financial
reporting, external and internal audits, internal controls and risk management, which in tumn forms the basis an
which the Board discharges its own duties, Audit and Risk Commiittee is supported by Enterprise Risk Management
Committee, which assists the DP World Limited Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities in relation to the
Principal Risks faced by the group.

During 2020, we continued to ensure POSNCa’s alignment with the Group's principal risks that could have material
effects on our business, financial condition and reputation. The principal risks and our appreach to managing them
die discussed on pages 2 to 9 of the Strateglc Repott.

5. Remuneration

The Remuneration Committee formed at parent company levet assists the DP World Limited Board in determining
the framework and broad policy for the remuneration of the executive directors and other members of senior
management. The Board is then responsible for ensuring that this framewark is adopted as necessary by POSNCo.

The reward policy for Executive Directors and senior management (Executive Committee and other experienced
managers) is guided by the following key principles:

. Business strategy support: aligned with our business strategy with focus on both short-term goals and
the creation ot long-term value ensunng aignment to shareholders' interests;

. Competitive pay: ensures competitivenass against our target market;

. Fair pay: ensures consistent, equitable and fair treatment within the organisation; and

. Performance-related pay: linked to performance targets via short- and long-term incentive plans and the

pay review process.

6. Stakeholders relationship and engagement

At POSNCo, we are committed to conducting our business in the ways which are responsible and sustainable, in
economic, social and environmental terms. Consistent delivery on this commitment demands effective policies and
processes of engagement with the full range of stakeholders who influence, and are impacted by, our business
operations. By 'engagement’ we mean the two-way dialogue which enables us to listen and respond to stakeholder
views and congemns on issues which are important to them. The central goal of our stakeholder engagement
strategy and related activities is to generate and maintain a positive climate of stakeholder opinion and interaction,
based on a sense of invalvement and a shared belief in mutually beneficial cutcomes.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE
PENINSULAR AND ORIENTAL STEAM NAVIGATION COMPANY

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of The Peninsular and QOriental Steam Navigation Company (‘the
company”) for the year ended 31 December 2020 which comprise the Group and Parent Company Balance Sheat,
the Group Statement of Income, the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Group Statement of Cash
Flows, the Group and Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity and related notes, including the accounting
policies in Notes 3 and 4.

In our opinion:

. the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company's
affairs as at 31 December 2020 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

. the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

. the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accardance with UK accounting
standards, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

. the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006,

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing {UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable
law. Qur responsibilities are described below. We have fulfiled our ethical responsibilities under, and are
independent of the group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concem basis as they do not intend to liquidate
the group or the company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the group and the company’s
financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that
could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of
approval of the financial statements {“the going concern period”).

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the group’s business model and
analysed how those risks might affect the group and company's financial resources or ability to continue operations
over the going concern period.

Qur conclustons based on this work:

« we consider that the directors' use of the going concem basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is appropriate;

« we have not identified, and concur with the directors' assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty
related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group or the
company's ability to continue as a going cancem for the going concem period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that
are inconsistent with judgements that were reascnable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are not a
guarantee that the group or the company will continue in operation.

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect
Identifying and responding to rigks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks") we assessed events or conditions that could
indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment
procedures included:

«  Enquiring of directors and inspection of policy documentation as to the Group's high-level policies and
procedures to prevent and detect fraud, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or
alleged fraud.
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Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect (continued)
Identifying and responding fo risks of material misstatement due to fraud (continued)

« Reading Board meeting minutes,
s Considering remuneration incentive schemes and perfarmance targets for management/ directors.
¢ Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

We communicated identifiad frand risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud
thraughout the audit. This included communication from the group to full scope component audit teams ot
relevant fraud risks identified at the Group level and request to full scope component audit teams to repaort to the
Group audit team any instances nf fraud that could give rise to a material misstatement at group.

As requirand by anditing standards. and our uyerall knowledge of the control environment, we perform procedures
ta address the risk of management override of controls and the risk of fraudulent revenue recognition and the risk
that Group and component management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries and the
risk of bias in accounting estimates and judgements such as potential asset impairment and defined benefit
pension scheme assumptions.

We did nolidenlily any addiliunal fraud riska.

In determining the andit procedures, we took into account the results of our evaluation and testing of the
operating effectiveness of some of the Group-wide fraud risk management controls.

We also performad procedures including:

« ldentifying journal entries and other adjustments to test based on risk criteria and comparing the identified
entries to supporting documentation.

« Evaluated the business purpose of significant unusual transactions.

s Assessing significant accounting estimates for bias.

identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regillations that could reasanably be expected to have a material effect on the
finannial statements from our general commercial and sector experience, through discussion with the directors
and other mananement (as required by auditing standards), and from inspection of the Group's regulatory and
leqat correspondence and discussed with the directors and other management the policies and procedures
regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of
non-compliance throughait the andit This included communication from the group to compaonent audit teams of
relrvant laws and regulations identified at the Group level, and a request for component auditors to report to the
group team any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that could give rise to a matenal
misstatement at group.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is suhjert tn laws And regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial
raporting legislation {including related companies legislation), distributable profits legistation and taxation
legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures
on the related financial statement items.

Sacondly, the Graiip is stibject to many other laws and requlations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the
imposition of fines or litigation or the loss of the Company's license to operate. We identified the following areas
as thase mnst likely tn have such an effect: health and safety, anti-bribery, employment law, regulatory capital
and linnidity and certain aspects of company legislation. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to
identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other management and
inspection of reaulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Therefore, if a breach of operational regulations is not
disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence, an audit wilt not detect that breach.
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Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect (continued)
Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some
material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our
auditin accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulatians is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently
limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit
pracedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance
or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Strateqic repart and directars’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Our opinion an the financial statements
does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether, based
on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial
statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;
in our cpinian the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistant with the financial

statements; and
. in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2000, we are required to report to you if, in our apinion:

. adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

. the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

. certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; aor

. we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 11, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatemaent, whether due
to fraud or error; assassing the group and parent company's ability to continue as a going concem, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concem; and using the going concem basis of accounting unless they either
intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
S0,

Auditar's responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but daes not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK)
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered matenial if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
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The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the company’'s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members,
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

W '
e ad

Tom Eve (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accotintants

15 Canada Square
London

E14 5GL

30 June 2021
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Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2020

£ million
Year ended 31 December 2020 Year ended 31 December 2019
Note Before Separately Total Before Separately Total

separately  disclosed separately disclosed

disclosed items disclosed items

itams (refer note tems  (refer note

9} 9)
Group revenue 7 953.0 - 4953.0 949.7 - 949.7
Cost of sales (550.6) - (550.6) {570.3) - (570.3)
Gross profit 402.4 - 402.4 3794 - 378.4
Other operating income 24.9 - 24.9 25.6 - 25,6
Administrative costs (172.9) (14.1}y (187.0} (152.8) {(2.5) {155.3)
Earnings from equity accounted investees 7,9 93.7 {1.1) 92.6 108.6 {2.1) 106.5
Group operating profit 348.1 {15.2) 332.9 360.8 {4.6) 356.2
Loss on sale and termination of businesses 9 - {1.0) {1.0) - (7.4) {7.4)
Profit before finance expense 348.1 (16.2) 3319 360.8 (12.0) 348.8
Finance income 10 281 19 30.0 327 9.8 42,5
Finance expense 10 {120.5) (7.9} (128.4) {118.8) (7.5)  (126.3)
Net finance expense (92.4) (6.0) {98.4) {86.1) 23 {83.8)
Profit/ {loss) before taxation 255.7 {22.2) 233.5 2747 (9.7) 265.0
Income tax expense 11 {49.7) 0.8 {48.9) {62.7) - (62.7)
Prolit/ {luas) for Lhe year 7 206.0 (21.4) 184.6 2120 (8.7) 202.3

Attributable to:

Owners of the company 161.9 1831.6
Non-controlling interests 22.7 18.7

The accompanying notes form an integral part ot these consolidated financial statement.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2020

£ million
Nule 2020 2019
Profit for the year 184.6 502.3
Other comprehensive income
Jtems that are or may he reclassifind suhsequently to consolidated income
statement:
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (3.5) (13.8)
Cash flow hedges - reclassified to income statement 6.0 -
Fareign currency translation differences for foreign operations 1.3 (37.1)
Foreign currency translation differences recycled exchange on dispesals {0.9) (15.9)
Share of ather comprehensive inname of equity accounted investees 0.6 1.7
Current and deferred tax on other comprehensive income {0.5) 0.4
Items that will never be reclassified o cunaulidated income
statement:
Re-measurements of past-employment benefit obligations 26 (19.1) 0.1
Current and deferred tax on actuarial gains 0.2 03
Total other comprehensive income for the year {15.9) (64.3)
Tutal comprehensive inaomae for the year 160.7 136.0
Attributable to:
Owners of the company 151.4 1201
Non-controlling interests 17.3 17.9

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these cansolidated financial statement.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2020

£ million
Note 2020 2019
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 12 321.0 3241
Right of use assets 13 407.0 413.2
Property, plant and equipment 14 1,713.3 1,780.8
Investment praperties 14A 9.5 5.3
investments in equity accounted investees 15 567.7 491.9
Other investments 18 0.5 0.5
Trade and other receivables 17 386 48.2
Loans to group undertakings 17 - 14.8
Deferred tax assets 16 11.0 5.0
3,068.6 3,083.8
Current assets
Inventories 18A 23.0 208
Trade and other receivables 17 199.8 184.1
Tax recoverable 3.2 2.2
Loans to group undertakings 17 1,256.9 1,225.7
Cash and cash equivalents 19 368.7 3171
1,851.6 1,749.9
Total assets 4,920.2 4,833.7
Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 20 1,149.6 1,181.8
Lease liabilities 21 415.7 419.4
Trade and cther payables 22 §7.1 88.1
Loan from group undertakings 22 48.1 33.7
Deferred tax liabilities 16 266.1 260.2
Employee benefits 26 103.7 111.2
Pravisions 224 2.2 1.6
2,072.5 2,096.0
Current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 20 338 326
Lease liabilities 21 319 28.6
Trade and other payables 22 200.0 2113
Income tax liabilities 26.0 35.8
Loan from group undertakings 22 60.7 86.0
Employee benefits 26 6.6 5.6
Provisions 22A 15.3 9.1
3743 409.0
Total liabilities 2,446.8 2,505.0
Nat asasts 24734 £.5:48.4

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statement.
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Consolidated statement of financial position (continued)

as at 31 December 2020

£ million
Note 2020 2019

Equity
155Ued capital 24 843.2 8432
Share premium 24 815.4 8154
Translation reserve 204.7 199.2
Hadqing resarve (A0 5) (A3 3)
Other reserves 24 170.5 1/0.5
Retained earnings 448.5 305.4
2,431.8 2,280.4
Non-controlling interests 23 41.6 48.3
Total equity 2,473.4 2,328.7
Total equity and liabilities 4,920.2 4,833.7

The accounts were approved by the board of directors and signed on its behalf on 30 June 2021 by:

it

Mohammad Alhashimy
Director

The Peninsular and QOriental Steam Navigation Company — Company Number Z73

The accompanying nates form an integral part of these consolidated financial statement.
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Mantraraj Budhdev

Director
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 December 2020

P&O Annual Report

Note 2020 2019
Operating activities
Profit after taxation 104.6 2023
Adjustments to reconcile profit before taxation to net cash provided by operating
activities
Share of profits of equity accounted investees 15 {92.6) {106.5}
Loss on sale and termination of business (1.0) (16.3)
Gain on sale of other investments - 238
Impairment loss 9 8.0 2.5
Net finance expense 10 98.4 83.8
Taxation expense 11 48.9 627
Non-cash employee benefit expense - 3.1
Depreciation and amartisation charges 147.3 151.2
Gross cash flows from operations 3936 406.6
Movement in working capital:
Change in inventories (3.1) {3.6)
Change in trade and other receivables 329 18.2
Change in trade and other payables (33.9) (22.9)
Change in provisions 213 353
Income taxes paid {72.5) {91.9)
Employee benefits paid (40.4) (22.8)
Net cash provided by operating activities 297.9 318.7
Investing activities
Capilal eapendiluie (107.7) (93.8)
Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 15 27.2 77.1
Interest recaived 8.8 15.3
Proceeds from disposals of equity accounted investees - 309
Net cash (used in} /provided by investing activities {71.7) 285
Finan<ing activities
Drawdown from fong-term financing 20 65.0 37.5
Repayments of long-term financing 20 {77.3) (62.1)
Repayiigils uf lease labilities 24 (34.4) (32.9)
Payment of loans with group undertakings (net) (67.0) (189.5)
Receipt of loans with group undertakings 39.7 237
Net interest paid (69.9) {76.1)
Amounts contributed by nan-controlling interests 1.5 -
Dividends paid lo non-conlrolling inleresl {25.5) {12.9)
Net cash used in financing activities {167.9) (312.3)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 58.3 35.9
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 19 31741 291.0
Cumrency translation differences relating to cash and cash equivalents (6.7} (9.8)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 368.7 317.1

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statement.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(forming part of the financial statemonts

1 Reporting entity

Ihe Peninsular and Oriental Steam Navigation Company (the “Company™) is a company incorporated and domiciled in the
United Kingdom. The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 comprise
the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the "Group” and individually referred to as “Group entities”) and
the Group's interests in associates and jaintly controlled entities. The parent company financial statements present
information about the company as a separate entity and not as a Group.

The Company's ultimate parent undertaking, DP World Limited (formerly DP World PLC), includes the Company in its
consoiidated financial statements. | he cansolidated tinancial statements of DP World Limited are prepared in accordance
with IFRS.

2 Basis of preparation
{a) Statement of compliance

These Group financial statements were prepared in accordance with Intemational Accounting Standards in confarmity with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2008. The Company has elected o prepare its parent company financial statements
in accordance with FRS 101; these are presented on pages 76 to 107.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 29 June 2021.
(b) Basis of measurement

Ihe consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for derivative financial
instrurnents and plan assets in defined pension plans which are measured at tair value,

The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in note 5.
{c) Funding and liquidity

The Group's business activities, together with factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are
set out in the Strategic Report. In addition, note 6 to the consolidated financial statement sets out the Group’s objectives,
policies and processes for managing the Group's financial risk, including capital management, and note 30 provides
details of the Group's exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk arising from financial instruments.

The Group has within current receivables an amount of £1,256.8 million (2019: £1,225.7 million) due from its intermediate
parent companies and fellow subsidiaries and believe these to be recoverable.

I he Baard of Directors remain satisfied with the Group's funding and liquidity position. At 31 December 2020, the Group
had net debt of £1,262.3 million (2019: £1,345.3 million) and has undrawn committed borrowing facilities of £16 m (2019:
nil).

Management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the
Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Despite, Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
been prohtable, and it had positive net asset, working capital and cash flow positions as at the year end.

In response to thls ana Its potential mpact on the company's ability to continue as a going concem, Management has
prepared an additional downside scenario to madel the potential impact for the Group up until 31 December 2023, Under
this severe but plausible downside scenario, management projects a prolonged impact of the COVID19 on fravel
restrictions and international trade for the remainder of 2021 and the first 4 manths in 2022, In this scenario the Group is
expected to have a closing ¢ash pasition of apprommately 3/% lower than in the base case scenario as at 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2022 after taking mitigation actions, principally related to rescheduling of uncommitted future
capital expenditure. The Group would continue to operate within all relevant financial covenants.

Furthermore, management is not aware ot any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s

ability to continue as a geing concern. Management concluded that based on all available known facts and circumstances,
the Group is a going concemn and, therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.
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Notes to the consalidated financial statements (continucd)

2 Basis of preparation (continued)
(e) Funding and liquidity {continued)

At the slart of the pandemic, the world suffered a production shock in China, followed by a demand shock in Europe and
North America. After an initial significant dip in volumes, traffic recovered at Group's port in China. The Group's early
investment in digital technology and automation ensured the Group faced minimal disruption at its locations. The Group's
response to the pandemic was rapid and resolute in continuing to provide our services, maintain operations and protect
customers, employees and host communities without compromising on safety. Around the world, the Group has
establisned dedicated teams to momitor, implement, educate and communicate control measures. The Group also
monitors, and acts on, every health measure laid down by local government regulations and the WHO, whilst ensuring
vital trade continues to flow so that societies have what they need to face the crisis.

As part of Group's strategy to participate across the supply chain to reduce inefficiencies and connect directly with owners
of cargo, the Group continued to invest in Logistics and Maritime sector during the year. By integrating the new
acquisitions and investing in innovation and technology, the Group continued to assist customers who were struggling
with logistics amid the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Group is monitaring all capex closely, has implemented expansive cost control initiatives across all units, is seeking
alt possible revenue opportunities throughout the business to promote cash preservation and keeping a close watch on
receivables. The Group has not observed any significant changes to debtor days as compared to the previous year.

(d) Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is Pound sterling ("£"). Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the hnanctal statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Pound sterling {“£"), which in the opinion of management is the
most appropriate presentation currency of the company in view of the global presence of the Group, All financial
infurinalion presenled in £ are rounded to the nearest 4.1 milhon.

() Use uf ustimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements is in conformity with International Accounting Standards requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estmates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

The slynifeanm estimatas and judgements are listed bolow:

i Estimate of expected future cash flows and discount rates for calculating present value of such cash flows used to
compute value-in-use of cash-generating units.

iii Estimate of fair value of derivatives for which an active market is not available, is computed using various generally
accepted valuation techniques. Such techniques require inputs from observable markets and judgements on
tdrkel tisk and credli Hsk

iii. Estimate required by actuaries in respect of discount rates, future salary increments, mortality rates and inflation
rate used tor conpulalion ol Jufined benelil liability.

iv.  Estimate to measure expected credit losses for financial assets

V. Judgement is required in determine whether or not a contract contains a lease.

Manageinenl has dlso reassessed signiflcant Judgements, estimates and assumptions primarily due to the current
economic uncertainties ansing trom the recent outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-18) as outlined below:
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

2 Basis of preparation (continucd)
{e} Use of estimates and Jjudgements (continued)

Note on impairment review

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets requires that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for impairment at
a minimum every year and other non-financial assets are tested only when there are indicators of impairment that these
assels mighl be inmpai ed.

In the current year, given the impact of COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has updated the assumptions (discount rates and
growth rates) and future cash flow projections to test for impairment reflecting the increased level of risk and uncertainty.
{he value i use of each cash-generating units (*CGU") is compared to the carrying amount to assess any probable
impairment.

The value in use is calculated using cash flow projections based on the revised financial budgets covering a three year
period and a further outlook tar hive years, which is considered appropriate in view of the outlook for the industry and the
lung-lerr naiure of the concesslon agreaments held i.e. generally tor a period of 25-50 years.

Refer note 12 for further details.

3 Changes in accounting policies

The Group has consistently applied the accounting policies set out in Note 4 to all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements.

a) New standards and interpretations not yet effective

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2020
reporting periods ahd have not been early adopted by the group. These standards are not expected to have a material
impact on the entity in the current or future reporting pericds and on foreseeable future transactions.

4 Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently in the year presented in these consolidated financial
slatements and have been applied consistently by the Group entities.

(a) Basis of consolidation
h Business combinatons

| he acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations including common control transactions
by the Group on the date of acquisition. Far each significant business combination, the Group engages extermnal,
independent and qualified valuers who have the relevant experiences to carry out the fair valuation exercise of the net
assels based on market related assumptions and weighted average cost of capital. In assessing control, the Group takes
Inte consideration potential voting nghts that are currently exercisable.

I he Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

. the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

. the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus

. if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the acquiree;
less

the net recognised amaount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets (including previously unrecognised
port concession rights) acquired and liabilities {including contingent liabilities and excluding future restructuring)
assumed.

In an acquisition, if the purchase price is lower than the fair value of the assets acquired, the resulting gain will be
recognised immedately in the statement of consclidated income statement.

In case of business combinations under common control, if the purchase price is lower than the fair value of the assets
acaqired, the resulting gain will be recognised directly in equity.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in
connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies {continued)

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is
classitied as equity, then it is not re-measured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subseguent
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

(i) Subsidiarias

Subsldiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Ihe Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those retums through its power over the
antity

(iii) Business combination achieved in stages

On business combination achieved In stages, the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured
to fair value at the date of acquisition with any resulting gain or foss is recognised in profit or loss.

{iv} Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries without loss of control

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as transactions
with owners in their capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result of such transactions. The
ditference between the fair value of any consideration paid or received and relevant shares acquired or disposed off in
the carrying value of net assets ot the subsidiary Is recorded in equity under retained eamings.

{v) Disposal of subsidiaries (loss of control)

Un the loss of control, the (Group derecognises the subsidiary and recognises any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of
control In the consolidated income statement, Any retained interest is re-measured at fair value on the date control is lost
and 1s subsetjuently accounted as an equity-accounted investee or as a FVOUCI-equity instrument depending on the level of
influence retained,

(i) Non-conftrolling interests

For each business combination, the Graup elects to measure any non-controlling interests either at their proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identihahle net Assets at the date of acquisition or at its fair value.

Where a put option is held by a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary, whereby that party can require the Group to acquire
the NCI's shareholding in the subsidiary at a future date, but the NCI retain present access to the results of the subsidiary,
the Group applies the present access method of accounting to this arrangement. The Group recognises a put option liability
at its discounted fair value, being the Group's estimate of the amount required to settle that liability with a corresponding
reserve in equity. Any subsequent remeasurements of put option liability due to changes in the fair value of the put liability
estimation are recognised In the equity and not in the consalidated income statement.

{vii) Investments in associates and joint ventures (equity-accounted investees}

The Group's Interast in equity-accounted mvestees compnse interest in associates and joint ventures. An associate is an
entity over which the Group has signiticant influence. A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture.

Investments in equity-accounted investees are accounted for using the equity method and are initially recorded at cost
including transaction costs. The Group's investment includes fair value adjustments (including goodwill) net of any
accumulated impaimment losses.

At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is any objective evidence that the investments in the equity-
accounted investees are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recaverable amount of the equity-accounted investees and its carrying value and recognises the same in the
consolidated income statement.

{viii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-qroup transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from the transactions with
equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Foreign currency
(] Foreign currency transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of each entity at the fareign exchange rate
ruling on the date of the transaction. Menetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting
date are translated to the tunctional currency ot each entity at the toreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign
currency differences are generally recognised in the profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated to the functional currency of each
entity at the forcign exchange rate ruling at the date of transaction with no further re-measurement in future.

(i) Foreign operations

For the preparation of consolidated financial statements, the differences arising on translation of financial statements of
foreign operations nto £ are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve
axtept 10 the extent of share of non-contralling interests 1n such ditterences. Accumulated transiation ditterences are
recycled to profit or loss an de-recognition of foreign operations as part of the gain or loss on such derecognition. In case
of partial derecognltlon, accumulated differences proportionate to the stake derecognised are recycled.

If the settlement of a manetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely to occur
In the foreseeable future, then toreign currency differences arising from such item form part of the net investment in the
foreign operaton. Accordingly, such diftérences are recognised in OCI (other comprehensive income) and accumulated
in the translation reserve.

Foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a financial liability designated as a hedge of a net investment
in a foreign operation are recognised in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, to the extent that the
hedge is effective.

(€) Financial instruments
] Noa-derivative financial assets
Under IFRS Y, on initial recognition, a financial asset is classified and measured at:

Amortised cost;

Fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI') - debt instrument;
FVOCI - equity instrument; or

Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL'}.

I he classification ot tinancial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is
managed and also an the basis of the contractual cash flows characteristics of the financial instrument.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVIPI

a it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
. its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principdl amoun outstandlny.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

. it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
sclling financial assets; and
. its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest

on the principal amount outstanding.

Derecoqnition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows an the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred and 1t does not retain contro! of the financial
asset.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(e} Finangial instruments (confinued)
i Nanedarivativa financial liahifilivs

Classification, initial recognition and measurement
Under IFRS 9, financiat liabilities at inception can be classified either at amortised cost or FVTPL.

The Group's non-derivative financial liabilities consist of loans and borrowings, bank overdrafts, amounts due to related
parties, and trade and other payables. All non-derivative financia! liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less any
directly attributable transaction costs. The Group classifies all its non-derivative financial liabilities as financial liabilities to be
carned at amortised nost using affertive interest method.

The subsequent measurement of non-derivative financial liabilities are carried at their amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expired. The
Group also derecognises a financial liabitity when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are
substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

Wi, Derivalive financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group holds derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its
vasli Mlows exposed o Ask of luctuations In Toreign currencies and interest rates.

The Group has elected to adopt the new general hedge accounting model in IFRS 9. This requires the Group to ensure that
hedge accounting relationships are aligned with its risk management objectives and strategy and to apply a more qualitative
and forward logking approach to asscaasing hedge cftectivencas.

Initial recognition

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and
changes therein are either recognised in the consalidated income statement or the consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income.

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments to hedge the variability in cash flows associated with highly
probable forecast transactions arising from changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates and certain derivatives and
non-derivative financial liabilities as hedges of fareign exchange risk on a net investment in a foreign operation

On initial designation of the derivatives as the hedging instrument, the Group formally documents the risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The Group also documents the economic relationship between the hedging
instrument and hedged itern, including whether the changes in cash flows of the hedged item and hedging instrument are
expected to offset each other together with the methods that will be used fo assess the effectiveness of the hedging
relationship.

Subsequent measurement

Changes in the fair value of the derivative hedging instrument designated as a cash flow hedge are recognised directly in
consolidated statement ot other comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge is effective and presented in the hedging
reserve in equity. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the
consalidatod income statemont.

When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount recognised in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income Is transterred to the cammying amount of the asset when it is recognised. In other cases, the amount recognised in
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income is transferred to the consolidated income statement in the same
period that the hedged item affects the consolidated income statement.

When a derivative instrument or a non-derivative financial liability is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of a
net investment in a foreign operation, the effective portion of, for a derivative, changes in the fair value of the hedging
instrument or, for a nan-derivative, foreign exchange gains and losses is recoghised in OCl and presented in the translation
resarve within equity. Any ineffective portion of the changes in the fair value of the derivative or foreign exchange gains and
losses on the non-derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The amount recagnised in QCl is reclassified to profit
or loss as a reclassification adjustment on disposat of the foreign operation.

Derivative instruments that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships are classified as financial
liabilities or assets at fair value through prefit or loss.

31



P&0O Annual Report

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{c} Financial instruments {continued)
iii. Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derecognition

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminaled or exercised, or
the designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in consolidated statement of other comprehensive income remains there until the forecast transaction or firm
commitment occurs, If the farecast transaction or firm commitment is no longer expected to occur, then the balance in equity
is reclassifiod to the consolidated income statement.

(iv) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consaolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to set off on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously.

(d) Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement

ltems of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impainment losses (refer
to note 4(i)).

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of a self-constructed asset
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working
condition for its intended use and the cost of dismantiing and remaving the items and restoring the site on which they are
logated.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are depreciated as separate items
{major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds
from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and recognised within ‘other income’ in the
consolidated income statement.

Capital work-in-progress

Capital work-in-progress is measured at cost less impairment losses and not depreciated until such time the assets are
ready for intended use and fransferred to the respective category under property, plant and equipment.

Dredying

Dredging expenditure is categorised into capital dredging and major maintenance dredging. Capital dredging is
expenditure which includes creation of a new harbour, deepening or extension of the channel berths or waterways in
order to allow access to larger ships which will result in future economic benefits for the Group. This expenditure is
capitalised and amartised over the expected period of the relevant concession agreement. Major maintenance dredging
is expenditure incurred to restore the channel to its previous condition and depth. Maintenance dredging is regarded as
a separate component of the asset and is capitalised and amortised avenly over 10 years.

(i) Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recagnised in the carrying amount of the item if
it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be
meastired raliahly

(i) Depreciation

Land and capital work in progress is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is recognised in the consolidated

income statement on a straight-line basis aver the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and
equipment and is based on cost less residual value.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Property, plant and cquipment {coinlinued)

Dredging (continued)

(i) Depreciation (continued)

The estimated useful lives of assets are as follows:

Assets Useful life {years)
Buildings 5-50
Plant and equipment 3-30
Vessels 5-30
Dredging (included in land and buildings) 10 - 99

Dredging costs are depreciated on a straight line basis based on the lives of various components of dredging.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted prospectively,
if required.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amaunt if the asset's carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (refer to note 4 (i) (i}}.

{iv} Borrowing cost

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
thal necessarily lake 3 substaritial perlod of time to get ready tor their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

{e) Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and equity-accounted investees. Goodwill represents the excess of the
cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabiliies of the acquires. In an acquisition, if the purchase price is lower than the fair value of the assets acquired, the
iesulling yaln will be recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses (refer to note 4(i)). Goodwill is not amortised but it is
lesled fur itnpalirment @nnually, oF more treéquently it events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

I respect ot equity-accounted mvestees, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the
investment and is not tested for impairment separately.

{f) Port concession rights

The Group classifies the port concession rights as intangible assets as the Group bears demand risk over the infrastructure
assels. Substantially all of the Group’s terminal operations are conducted pursuant to long-term operating concessions or
leases entered into with the owner of a relevant port for terms generally between 25 and 50 years (excluding the port
concession rights relating to associates and joint ventures). The Group commonly starts negotiations regarding renewal of
concession agreements with approximately 5 - 10 years remaining on the term and often obtains renewals or extensions on
lhe cuncession agreements ih advance of their expiration n retum tor a commitment to make certain capital expenditures in
respect of the subject terminal. In addition, such negotiations may result in the re-basing of rental charges to reflect prevailing
market rates. However, based on the Group’s experience, incumbent operators are typically granted renewal often because
it can be costly for a port owner to switch operators, both administratively and due to interruptions to port operaticns and
reduced productivity associated with such transactions. Port concession rights consist of:

(/] Port concession rights arising on business combinations
The cost of port concession rights acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition,

Following initial recognition, port concession rights are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment fosses (refer ta note 4(i)). The useful lives ot part concession rights are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Port concession rights with finite lives are amortised on a straightdine basis over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the port concession rights may be impaired. The amortisation period
and amortisation method for port concession rights with finite useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the
assels are daccoutiled for by changlng the amortisation penod or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in
accounting estimates. The amortisation expenses on port concession rights with finite useful lives are recognised in the
consclidated income statement on a straight-line basis.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{n Port concession rights {continued)
() Port concession rights arising on business combinations (continued)

Port concession rights with indefinite tives {arising where freehold rights are granted) are not amortised and are tested
for impairment at least on an annual basis or when the impairment indicator exists, either individually or at the cash-
generating unit ievel. The useful life of port concession rights with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If nat, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis,

(i) Port concession rights arising from Service Concession Arrangements (IFRIC 12)

The Group recognises port concession rights arising from a service concession arrangement, in which the grantor
(government or port authorities) contrals or regulates the services provided and the prices charged, and also controls any
significant residuat interest in the infrastructure such as praperty, plant and equipment, if the infrastructure is existing
infrastructure of the grantor or the infrastructure is constructed or purchased by the Group as part of the service
concession arrangement.

Any amounts paid by the operator to the grantor as a consideration for obtaining the rights relating to concession
arrangements are also accounted as part of port concession rights. These port concession rights are amortised over the life
af the eonepssint petar an straght ina hasrs

Port concession rights also include certain property, plant and equipment which are reclassified as intangible assets in
accordance with IFRIC 12 'Service Concession Arrangements’. These assets are amortised based on the lower of their
useful lives or concession period. Amortisation of port concession rights us recognised in the consolidated income
statement as part of ‘cost of sales’.

Gains or [osses arising from de-recognition of port concession rights are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the consolidated income statement when
the asset is deracognised.

The estimated useful lives for port concession rights range within a peried of 5 - 50 years (including the concession rights
relating to equity accounted investees).

{g) Inventories

Inventories mainly consist of spare parts and consumables. Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on weighted average method and includes expenditure incurred in
acquiring inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

(h) Leases

i, Group as a lessee

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life or the lease term on a straight-
line basis. It the roup I1s reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset's useful life. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
aexpeise In statemeant of profit or loss.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

. fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
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. the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an
uplional renewal period if the Group 1s reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for eady
tonminalion of a loase unless the Group s 1gasuniably weilan nul Lo lenningle early.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which
is generally the case for leases in the group, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual
lessee would hdve Lo pay Lo borrew the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
cconomic envirumenlt willi similan lenns, secutty and canditions.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change
in fulure lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expecled lo be payable under a residual value guarantee, it the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a
purchase, ealenson w lenmnalion oplivn or If thers is & revised In-supstance hxed lease payment.

When lhe lease liabilily Is remeasured in this way, a comesponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-
use assel or is recorded In profit or loss If the camying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately on statement of financial position.

Variable lease payments that depend on revenue and output are recognised in statement of profit or loss in the period in which
the condition that triggers those payments occurs,

il Group as a lessor

When the Group acls as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.
| o classity each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it
is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the
majnr part nt the aronnmic fife of the asest,

The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term
as part of revenue.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(i} Impairment
(i) Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets are reviewed
tor impaiment whenever there is an indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, the assets are grouped together into smallest group of assets (cash generating unit or “CGU”)
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGU's.

Goodwill and port concession rights with infinite useful lives, as part of their respective cash-generating units, are also
reviewed for impairment at each reporting date or at least once in a year regardless of any indicators of impairment, The
recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to
sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or
cash generating unit.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit {group of units) on a
pro-rata basis.

In respect of non-financial assets (other than goodwill), impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at
each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if
there has heen a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed
only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount, which would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amoertisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

{ii) Impairment of non-derivative financial assets

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss' {ECL) model. The new impairment
model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost, contract assets and debt investments at FVOCI, but not to
investments in equity instruments. Under IFRS 8, credit losses are recognised earlier than under |1AS 39.

The financial assets at amortised cost consist of trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

Under IFRS Y, loss allowances are measured on either of the following bases:

. 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting
date; and

. lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. When determining whether the credit risk of
a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonabie and suppartable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group's historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

. the borrower is unlikely to pay credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any are held}; or
. the financial asset is mare than 180 days past due.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

{k) Share capital and premium
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised
as a deduction from equity. Any excess payment received over par value is treated as share premium, Holders of these

shares are entitled to dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of
the Company.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
n Employee benefits
] Fensinn and pnst-amplayment bencfits

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan in which the company pays the fixed contribution to a
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to
defined contribution plans are recogrised as an expense in the income statement during which the services are rendered
by employees.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan.

The Group's net wbligallon I respect of detined benetit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating
the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That
Lenefil Is discounted to getermine the présent value, and the tfair value of any plan asset is deducted to arrive at net
ubligation. The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method which
altibules entilleiment W bunelits 10 the current period (to determine current service cost) and to the current and prior
periods (lo delernlne the present value of delined benetit obligation} and is based on actuarial advice.

Re-measuraments of 1Le nel defined benefit llabllity, which compnse actuanal gans and losses, the return on plan assets
{excluding inlerest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (it any, excluding interest) are recognised directly in the consolidated
slalement of other comprehensive income. The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is determined
separately for each plan.

Contribulivns, including lump sum payments, in respect ot detined contribution pension schemes and multi-employer
defined benelil scheimes where It is not possible to identity the Group’s share of the scheme, are charged to the
consolidated income statement as they fall due.

(i) Long-term service bencfits

The Group's net obligation in respect of long-term service benefits, other than pension plans, is the amount of future
benelit that employees have earmed in retum tor their service in the current and prior perfods. The obligation is calculated
using lhe projected unjt credit method and 1s discounted fo its present value and the fair value of any related assets is
deducled. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on AA credit rated bonds that have maturity dates
approximating to the terms of the Gioup's obligalions.

(#ii) Short-term service benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount
expected lu be paid il ik Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past
service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

{m} Provisions

Provisions for enviranmental restoration, restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when: the Group has a
presenl legal or constructlve obligation as a result ot past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination
penaliles and employee termination payments. Provisions are not recognised for future operating loss.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
inwinding nf the disrannt is recognised ag a finance cost in the oonsolidated income statement.

{n) Revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the
customer al an amount that reflects the cansideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those
yuuds ul seiviles.,

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or
duty.

37



P&O Annual Report
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4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

{n} Revenue (continued?

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met befare revenue is recognised:
Rendering of port related services

The Group’s revenue mainly consists of port related services (containerised stevedoring, break bulk, general cargo, and
marine services) which are generally carried out in a short span of time. These port refated services are contracted with
the customers as a single transaction. These port related services have high degree of integration and accerdingly,
constitute a single distinct performance obligation for the Group. Revenue from these services is recognised at the point
in time when the services are rendered to the customer and are usually payable within 30 to 45 days.

The Group also provides container storage services at the request of the customer based on the usage period in the
starage yard which conslitute a separate distinct performance obligation. Revenue from container storage services is
recegnised over a period of storage days and are usually payable within 30 to 45 days.

For revenue recognition, the Group determines the transaction price in accordance with the tariff rates published by the
port authorities in certain jurisdictions or agreed rales with the customers.

{o) Finance income and expense

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and gains on hedging instruments that are recognised in
the consolidated income statement. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprises interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, impairment losses
recognised on financial assets and losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in the consolidated income
statement,

Finance income and expense also include realised and unrealised exchange gains and losses on monetary assets and
liabilities (refor to note 4(b)(ii)).

{r) Income tax

Incume lax expense comprises current and aeterréd tax. Income tax expense i1s recognised in the consolidated income
statetrient except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in consolidated
statement of cther comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income. It also includes
any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities far financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for:

. the temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss; and

. the temporary ditterences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that

tney prohahly will nnt reverse in the tareseaahle fiture,

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse,
based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will
be realized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilittes are offset only if certain criteria are met.
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Notes to the cansaolidated financial statements (continucd)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(q) Govarnmeant grants

Government grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss as an offset against
the respective expenses on a systematic basis in the periods in which the expenses are recognised, unless the conditions
for receiving the grant are met after the related expenses have been recognised. In this case, the grant is recognised
when it becomes receivable..

{r Separately dis¢losed items

The Group presents, as separately disclosed items on the face of the consolidated income statement, those items of
income and expense which, because of the nature of the events giving rise to them, merit separate presentation to allow
users to understand beller, the efements of financlal performance in the period, so as to facilitate a comparison with prier
periods and a befter assessment of trends in financial perfarmance.

(s} Investment properties

Investment property is measured initially at cost, including related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs.
After Inltial recognition, investment property 1s carned at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any.
Subsequent expendilure is capitalised to the asset's carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

5 Determination of fair values

A number of the Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and
non-tinancial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/ or disclosure purposes based
on the following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is
disclosed In the notes gpecific to that assot or lability.

{i) Property, plant and equipment

The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is based on market
values. The market value ot property is the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of
valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the
parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. The market value of items of plant, equipment,
fixtures and fittings is based on the quoted markat prices for similar items.

{ii) Port concession rights

Port concession rights acquired in a business combination are accounted at their fair values. The fair value is based on
the discounted cash flows expected to be derived from the use and eventual sale of the assets.

(iii) Investments in debt securities

The fair values of equity and debt securities are determined by reference to their quoted closing bid price at the reporting
date. I'he tair value of debt securities held to maturity is determined based on the discounted cash flows at a market related
discount rate. The fair value of debt securities held to maturity is determined tor disclosure purposes only.

{iv) Trade and other receivables/ payables

The fair value of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables approximates to the carrying values due to the
short term maturity of these instruments.

v) Derivatives

The fair value of forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps is based on the bank quoles at the reporting dates.
Similar contracts are traded in an active market and the quotes reflect the actual transactions in similar instruments.

(vi) Non-derivative financial liabilitics

Fair value tor quoted bonds is based on their market price (including unpaid interest) as at the reporting date. Other loans
include term loans and lease liabilities. These are largely at variable interest rates and therefore, the carrying value
normally equates to the fair value.

The fair value of bank balances and cash and bank overdrafts approximates to the carrying value due to the short term
maturity of these instruments.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

6 Financial risk management
Overview

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

(a) credit risk
[(s)] liquidity risk
{c) market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group's objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these
consolidaled financial statements. Also refer to note 29 for further details.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors, in conjunction with the Board of Directors of DP World Limited, have overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework.

The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. The Group, through its training and
management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all
employees understand their roles and obligations.

(a) Credit risk

Credit nsk s the nsk of tinancial loss to the Group it a customer tails to meet its contraclual obligations, and arises
principally trom the Group's receivables from customers, amounts due trom related parties and investment securties.

Trade and other receivables

The Group trades mainly with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade oncredit terms are subject to credit verification procedures and are required to submit financial guarantees
based on their creditworthiness. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that
the Group's exposure to bad debts 1s not signiticant. 1he Group has not observed any signifricant changes to debtor
days due to COVID-14, as compared to the previous year.

The Group applies IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit losses (ECLs) which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets. The Group uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs
of trade receivables which comprise a very large number of small balances. These historical loss rates are calculated
using a ‘rolt rate’ method based on the probability of a receivable progressing through successive stages of delinguency
to write-off. Thus, expected credit loss rates are based on the payment profile of sales over a period of 60 months before
31 December 2020 and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. These historical rates
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of customers
to settle the receivables. The Group identified gross domestic product {GDP), global supply/ demand index of container
market, global freight rate index of container market, oil prices in international markets and consumer price index (CPI)
to be the most relevant factors for performing macro level adjustments in expected credit loss financial model.

Other financial assets

Credit risk arising from other financial assets of the Group comprises cash and cash equivalents and certain derivative
insttuments. The Group's exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure egual
to the carrying amount of these instruments.

The Group manages its credit risks with regard to bank deposits, throughout the Group, through a number of controls,
which include assessing the credit rating of the bank either fram public credit ratings, or internal analysis where public
data is not available and consideration of the support for financial institutions from their central banks or other regulatory
authontios.

Financial guarantees
The Group's policy is to consider the provision of a financial guarantee to wholly-owned subsidiaries, where there is a
commercial rationale to do so. Guarantees may also be provided to equity accounted investees in very limited

circumstances and always only for the Group's share of the obligation. The provision of guarantees always requires the
approval o sénier ranagement.
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6 Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framework (contlinuad)
(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient cash to meet its liabilities
when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
Group's reputation.

The Group's abjective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
facilities and by ensuring adequate internally generated funds. The Group’s terms of business require amounts to be paid
within 60 days of the date of provision of the service. Trade payables are normally settled within 45 days of the date of
purchase. COVIDB-19 has not impacted the Group’s ability to maintain the normal payment cycle,

{c) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the
Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage
and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

The Group enters into derivative contracts in order to manage market risks. All such transactions are carried out within
the guidelines set by the Board of Directors in the Group Treasury policy. Generally, the Group seeks to apply hedge
accounting in order to manage the volatility in the consolidated income statement.

During the year, COVID-19 had no significant impact on Group’s exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks.

The Group determines the existence of an economic relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged item based
on the currency, amount and timing of their respective cash flows. The Group assesses whether the derivative designated
in each hedging relationship is expected to be and has been effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged
item using the hypothetical derivative method.

In these hedge relationships, the main sources of ineffectiveness are:

. the effect of the counterparties’ and the Group's own credit risk an the fair value of the forward faoreign exchange
contracts, which is not reflected in the change in the fair value of the hedged cash flows attributable to the change
in exchange rates; and

. changes in the timing of the hedged transactions.

(/] Currency risk

The proportion of the Group's net operating assets denominated in foreign currencies is approximately 85.2% (2019:
84.8%) with the result that the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position, and in particular owner's equity, can
be affected by currency movements when it is retranslated at each year end rate. The Group partially mitigates the effect
of such movements by borrowing in the same currencies as those in which the assets are denominated and using cross
currency swaps. The impact of currency movements on operating profit is partially mitigated by interest costs being
inaurred in foreign currencies.

interest on borrowings is denominated in the currency of the borrowings. Generally, borrowings are denominated in
currencies that match the cash flows generated by the underlying foreign operations of the Group. This provides an
economic hedge without derivatives being entered into and therefore hedge accounting is not applied in these
circumstances.

A portion of the Group's activities generate part of their revenue and incur some costs outside their main functional
currency, Due to the diverse number of locations in which the Group operates there is some natural hedging that accurs
within the Group. When it is considered that currency volatility could have a matenal impact on the resuits of an operation,
hedging using forward foreign currency contracts is undertaken to reduce the shor-term effect of currency movements.

When the Group's businesses enter into capital expenditure or lease commitments in currencies other than their main
functional cumrency, these commitments are hedged in most instances using forward contracts and currency swaps in
order to fix the cost when converted to the functional currency. The Group classifies its forward exchange centracts
hedging forecast transactions as cash flow hedges and states them at fair value.

(i) Interest rate nsk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt
obligations with a fixedfloating interest rate and bank deposits.
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6 Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Market risk {continued)
(i} Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group's policy is to manage its interest cost by entering into interest rate swap agreements, in which the Group
agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by
reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount. These swaps are designated to hedge underlying debt obligations.

At 31 December 2020, after taking into account the effect of interest rate swaps, approximately 63.5% (2019: 59.2%) of the
Group's bormowings are at a fixed rate of interest.

Capital management

The Board's policy is to maintain a strong equity base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to
sustain future development of the business. The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might
be passible with hinhar lavels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

Equity consists of issued capital, share premium, other reserves, retained earnings, and non-controlling interests. 1he
primary objective of the Group's capital management strategy is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and
healthy capital ratios such as adjusted net debt/ adjusted equity and adjusted net debt/ adjusted EBITDA in order to
support its business and maximise sharehaolder value. The Group also monitors its interest coverage ratio as well for this

purpose.
For calculating these ratios:

+ Adjusted net debt is defined as total loans and borrowings including lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents.
« Adjusted EBITDA is defined in note 7 Segment information,

The Board monitors these ratios without considering the impact of IFRS 16 Leases which reguire further adjustments to
adjusted EBITDA and equity. These modified ratios are also provided as an additional information.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. The key
performance ratios as al 31 December are as follows:

£ million

KNata 2020+ 2020 2019* 2019

Pra-1FRS 16 Post-IFRS 16 PredFRS 16 Post4FRS 16

Total interest bearing loans and barrowings 1,183.4 1,183.4 1,214.4 1.214.4
Add: lease liabilities - 4476 - 448.0
Less: cash and cash equivalents 19 {368.7) {368.7) (317.1) (317.1)
Total adjusted net debt A 814.7 1,262.3 897.3 1,345.3
Total Equity 2,473.4 2,473.4 2,328.7 2,328.7
Add: IFRS 16 adjustments - - 63.0 -
Adjusted equity B 2,473.4 24734 2,391.7 2,328.7
EBITDA as per segmentation 495.4 4954 512.0 512.0
Less: lease expense (34.4) - (40.8) -
Adjusted EBITDA C 461.0 495.4 471.4 512.0
Net finance costs before separately disclosed items D 924 924 86.1 86.1
Adjusted net debr Equity AD 0.3 0.5 0.4 0.6
Adjusted net debt/ adjusted EBITDA B/C 54 5.0 51 4.5
Interest cover before separately disclosed items C/D 5.0 54 5.5 5.9

* Ratios recomputed without considering the impacts of leases and concession liabilities
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7. Operating segments

The internal management reports which are prepared under EU-IFRS are reviewed by the Board of Directors ('Chief
QOperating Decision Maker) based on the location of the Group's assets and liabilities. The Group has identified the
following geographic areas as its basis of segmentation.

. Asia Pacific and India
. Australia and Americas
- Fitrnpe, Africa and Middle Fast

Each of the above operating segments have an individual appointed as Segment Director responsible for these segments,
who in tumn reports to the Chief Operating Decision Maker.

In addition to the above reportable segments, the Group also reports unallocated head office costs, finance costs, finance
income, tax expense and tax liabilities under the head office segment in line with Group internal management report. In
presenting the geographic information, segment revenue, segment results from operation, segment assets and segment
liahilities has been allocated based an the qeographic location of the entity.

The Group measures segment performance based on the eamings before separately disclosed items, interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation ("Adjusted EBITDA"). Although this is a non-IFRS measure, this will provide additional
information to the users of the consolidated flhancial stalemenls.

The Chief Operating Decision Maker also monitors certain key performance ratios from the perspective of capital
management which aro disclosed in note 6.

Information regarding the resulis of each reportable segment is included below.

£ million
2020
Asia  Australia Europe
Pacific and Africaand Head Total
Note andIndia Americas Middle East Office group
By region
Revenue from poris and terminals 193.7 202.8 4741 - 870.6
Revenue from logistics and maritime services 23.5 333 20.6 - 82.4
Total Revenue 222.2 236.1 494.7 - 953.0
Segment results 128.6 65.7 148.6 (1.0} 3319
Fitian e intaune 10 - 30.0 300
Finanre expensps 10 - - - {128.4) {128.4)
Tax cxpenscs 11 - - - (48.9) {48.9}
Profit/{loss) for the year 128.6 65.7 148.6 £158.3) 184.6
Depreciation and amaortisation 31.4 358 79.8 0.3 147.3
Impairment loases - . A - 440
Share of profit of equity accounted investees before -
separately disclosed items 73.7 0.9 19.1 93.7
I ax expenses 11 - . - 40.9 48.9
Capital expenditure 4b.8 1.5 4.4 - 167.7
Segment assets
Current and nan-rumrent assets 407.1 482.3 1894.7 1554.2 4338.3
Fauity-accounted investments 13 398.6 19 165.1 - 567.7
Taxation assets - - - 14.2 14.2
Total assets 805.7 436.3 2059.8 1568.4 4920.2
Segment liabilities
Current and nan-currant tiahilities 143.9 40.1 3638 1606.9 2154.7
Taxation liahilitirs - - - 2921 292.1
Total liabilities 143.9 40.1 3633 1899.0 2446.89
Eamning before separately disclosed items, interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation ("Adjusted EBITDA")
Revenue before sepaiately disclused lleins 222.2 2361 494.7 953.0
Adjusted EBITDA 160.0 103.3 239.8 (7.7) 495.4
Finance income - - - 281 281
Finance costs - - - (120.5) {120.5)
Tax expense - - - (49.7) (49.7)
Depreciation and amortisation {(31.4) {35.8) (79.8) {0.3) {147.3)
Adjusted net profit 128.6 67.5 160.0 {150.1) 206.0
Arjisted far separately disclosed items 9 - (1.8) (11.4) {8.2) {21.4)
Profit o cuittinuling vperativns 128.6 65.7 118.6 (168.3) 184.8

Net finance cost and tax expense from various geographical locations and head office have been grouped under head
office.
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7. Operating sogments (continuerl)
£ million
2019
Asia  Australia Europe
Pacific and Africa and Head Total
Note andlIndia Americas Middie East Office group
By region
Revenue from ports and terminals 205.9 255.3 424.7 - 885.9
Revenue from logistics and maritime services 19.8 - 44.0 - 63.8
Total Revenue 225.7 255.3 468.7 - 949.7
Segment results from nperations 178.2 45.2 128.1 (3.7} 348.8
Finance income 10 - - “ 425 425
Finance expenses 10 - - - (128.3) {126.3)
Tax expenses 1 - - - {62.7) {62.7)
Profit/{loss) far the year 178.2 45.2 129.1 {150.2) 2023
Depreciation and amortisation 31.5 M8 7.4 Q0.5 151.2
Share of profit of equity accounted investees before
separately disclosed itemgs 91.9 0.9 15.8 - 108.6
Tax expenses 1" - - - b2./ 62.7
Capital pxpenditure 17.9 5.3 70.8 - 93.3
Segment assets
Current and nan-current assets 399.0 507.2 1929.4 1499.0 4334.6
Equity-acconntan investments 15 328.9 6.5 163.2 {6.7) 491.9
Tuxdliun assels - - - 7.2 7.2
Total assets 727.9 513.7 2092.6 1499.5 4833.7
Segmaent liabilities
Current and non-current liabilities 1413 41.8 216.6 1809.3 2209.0
Taxation liabilities - - - 296.0 296.0
Tatal liahilitias 1413 41.8 216.6 2105.3 2505.0
Earning before separately disclosed items, interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation ("Adjusted EBITDA")
Revenue before separately disclosed items 2257 2553 468.7 " 949.7
Adjusted EBITDA 193.4 110.8 211.0 (3.2) 512.0
Finance income - - - 327 327
lnance coste - - - (118.8) {118.8)
Tax expense 11 - - - {82.7) (62.7)
Pepreciation and amortisation {31.5) {41.8) {77.4) {0.5) {151.2)
Adjusted net profit 1€1.9 69.0 133.6 (152.5) 212.0
Adjusted for separately disclosed items 9 16.3 {23.8) {4.5) 2.3 (9.7)
Profit from continuing operations 178.2 45.2 129.1 {150.2) 2023
8. Net operating costs
£ million
Included within Group operating profit are the following items: 2020 2019
Depreciation and amortisation of prepaid leases, intangible assets and property 147.3 151.2
plant and equipment ' ’
Audit fees 1.1 11
£ million
Fees paid to the company's principal auditor - KPMG 2020 2019
Fees paid to the company’s auditor for the audit of the Company's accounts and 11 11
its subsidiaries ' )
Non-audit and other assurance services:
Tax services 0.5 0.3
___All other services 0.4 0.1
. . 0.9 0.1
Tatal of audit and non-audit services 2.0 1.5

Fees of £45,850 (2019: £40,449), in respect of the audit, and Nit (2019: Nil), in respect of tax services, were paid to KPMG
LLP by the P&O pension scheme.
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9. Separately disclosed items
£ milllun
2020
Net
General and Equity Sale of financing Income
administration earnings business cost tax Total
Restructuring costs (3.1) - - - - (3.1}
Impaimment expenses (8.0) - - - - {8.0)
Guaranteed minimum pension costs (3.0} - - - - {3.0)
Share of loss from equity accounted
investees “ (1.1 " N " a1
Sale of business - - {1.0) - - {1.0)
Hedge costs - - - (6.0) - {6.0)
Income tax - - - - 0.8 0.8
(14.1) (11) {1.0) (A.0) NAa {21 4)
£ million
2019
Net
General and Equity Sale of financing  Incame
administration eamings business cost tax Tatal
General and administration costs (2.5) - - - - (2.5)
Share of loss from equity accounted
investees ) (21) ) ) ) (1)
Sale of business - - {7.4) - - (7.4)
Hedge costs - - - 23 - 2.3
{2.5) {21) {7.4) 2.3 - (9.7}

The Group presents, as separately disclosed items on the face of the consolidated incame statement, those itams of
income and expense which, because of the nature of the events giving rise to them, merit separate presentation to aliow
users to understand better, the elements of financial performance in the period, so as to facilitate a comparison with prior
periods and a better assessment of trends in financial performance.

Restructuring costs mainly relates to severance pay associated with redundancies resulting from the impact of COVID-
19 in the "Americas and Australia” region. (2019: Nil).

Impairment expenses relates to impairment of property, plant and equipment in the 'Europe and Africa' region. (2019
related to impairment of property, plant and equipment in the 'Europe and Africa’ region).

Guaranteed minimum pension costs relates to additional costs arising in respect of “guaranteed minimum pension” (GMP)
based on a landmark High Court judgment confirming that UK pension schemes are required to equalise male and female
mecmbers banghts for the ofiovt of unugual GMP.

Share of loss from equity-accounted investees relates to ineffective hedge in the "Europe and Africa’ region. (2019 related
to impairment of praperly, plant and equipment in the 'Europe and Africa' region).

Sale of business relates to the loss on sale of a subsidiary and an equity accounted investee in the 'Europe and Africa’
region. (2019 related to the loss on termination of a concession in the ‘Asia Pacific and India’ region).

Hedge costs relates to the ineffective elements of hedges in subsidiaries in the ‘Europe and Africa’ region and ‘Asia
Pacific and India’ region.

Income tax relates to the tax impact on the restructuring in the "Americas and Australia® region. (2019: Nil).
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10. Net financing expenses

£ million
2020 2019
Finance income
Interest income
- Third parties a7 15.4
- Related partias 74 10.1
Exchange gains 11.0 7.2
Fair value gain 1.9 9.8
30.0 42,5
Finance expenses
Interest expensc
- Third parties (70.4) (76.7)
- Related parties (4.5) {4.5)
- Lease liabilities (21.4) (21.5)
Exchange losses (22.5) (12.9)
Fair value loss {7.9) (7.5)
Net interest costs in respect of pension plans {1.7) (3.2)
{128.4) {126.3)
Net tinancing expshss (90.4) {83.8)
11. Taxation
£ million
2020 2019

UK corporation tax
Current tax charge for the year (0.4) (5.2)
0.2

Adjustment in respect of prior years 1.6
{0.2) (3.8)
Overseas tax
Current tax charge for the year (48.8) (64.4)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 23 (0.7)
{46.5) (65.1)
Total current tax {46.7) (68.7}
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences in the current year (9.9) 3.0
Adjustment in respect of prior years 7.7 3.0
Tax on profit for the year {48.9) (62.7)
Tax recognised in statement of other comprehensive income
Current tax on IFRS16 adoption recoginsed in P&L Reserves - o1
Deferred tax on IFRS16 adaoption recoginsed in P&L Reserves - 4.0
Current Tax in OCI 0.8 1.3
Deferred Tax in OCH {06.9) (0.8)
Total {0.3) 4.8

The adjustments in respect of prior periods is £ 10.2 million (2019: £3.9 million}) arises from the finalisation and agreement
of prior year tax computations for companies in the UK and nverseas.
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11. Taxation (continued)
Factors affecting the taxation charge for the current year

The total taxation charge is higher (2019: higher) than the profit an ordinary activities multiplied by the standard
rate of corporation tax in the UK of 18.00 per cent (2019: 19.00 per cent). The differences are explained as follows:

Rernnciliatinn nf the effective tax rate % £ million Yo £ million
2020 2019

Profit befare taxation 233.5 265.0

Profit before taxation multiplied by the standard rate of

corporation tax in the UK of: 19.00% 44.4 19.00% 50.3

Effects of:

Non-taxable income less expenses not deductible for tax

purposes 3.6% 8.3 (4.3%) (11.4)

Tax deduction in respect of he pension schemes {1.5%) {3.5) (1.1%) {2.8)

Net of {unrelieved tax losses carried forward) utilization of

tax losses {0.4%) {0.9) (0.0%) {0.1)

Acgounting profits on chargeuble assols {0.7%) {1.6) 0.0% 0.0

Changes in corporate tax rates 0.3% 0.7 0.9% 23

Higher raie wixos sn gverseas eamings 14.1% J3.u 1L.6% 41.4

Withholding and other taxes suffered ovorseas 1.8% 4.1 5.7% 15.2

Tax on earnings from equity accounted investees at 19% {10.9%}) (25.4) {10.6%) {28.2)

Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods {4.4%) (10.2) {1.5%) {3.9)

Effective tax rate 20.9% 48,9 23.65% 62.7

The profit before taxation of £233.5 million (2019: £265.0 million ) includes the Group's share of profits of joint ventures
and assaciates within continuing operations of £92.6 million {2019: £ 106.5 millicn) which is net of a tax charge of £41.0
million (2019: £42.1 million).

The Group's overseas tax rates are typically a mixture of rates higher and lower than 19.00 percent. They include the
effect of overseas tax benefits available to infrastructure projects.

A reduction in the UK corporation tax rate from 19% to 17% (effactive 1 April 2020) was substantively enacted on 6
September 2016. The March 2020 Budget announced that a rate of 19% would continue to apply with effect from 1 April
2020, and this change was substantively enacted on 17 March 2020. The UK deferred tax asset/{liability) as at 31
December 2020 was calculated at 19% (2019 17%).

An increase in the UK corporation rate from 19% to 25% (effective 1 April 2023) was substantively enacted on 24 May
2021. This increase does not affect the amounts of current or deferred income taxes recognised at 31 December 2020.
However, this change will increase Group's future current tax charge accardingly. If the new tax rate was applied to
calculate taxable/deductible temporary differences and tax losses recognised as at 31 December 2020, then the net
deferred tax liability would increase by £1.02m.

47



P&O Annual Report
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

12. Intangible assets

£ million
Port concession
rights and Service .
cgncession assets Goodwill Total
Cost
At 1 January 2020 587.0 40.0 627.0
Additions 335 - 335
Disposals {23.2) - {23.2)
Transfers to property, plant and equipment 1.6 1.6
Exchange adjustments {28.3) {0.3) {28.6)
At 31 December 2020 570.6 39.7 610.3
Accumulated amortization
At 1 January 2020 (302.9) . {302.9)
Charge for the year {24.5) - (24.5)
Disposals 232 - 23.2
Exchange adjustments 14.9 - 14.9
At 31 December 2020 {289.3) - (289.3)
Net book amount at 31 December 2020 281.3 39.7 321.0
Cusl
Al 1 January 2019 651.4 41.9 693.3
Acldilicens 0.1 - U.1
Irahsters to property, plant and equipment {32.8) - (32.8)
Exchange adjustments (31.7) (1.9) {33.6)
At 31 December 2019 587.0 40.0 627.0
Accumulated amortization
At 1 January 2019 {318.5) - {318.5)
Charge for the year (£4.3}) - (24.3)
Transfers to property, plant and equipment 239 239
Exchange adjustments 16.0 - 16.0
At 31 December 2019 {302.8) - {302.9)
Net book amount at 31 December 2019 2841 40.0 324.1

Port concession rights mainly represents concession agreements which are identified and accounted as a part of business
combinations. These concessions were determined to have finite and indefinite useful lives based on the terms of the
respective concession agreements and the income approach model was used for the purpose of determining their fair
values. Service concession assets represent assets arising on account of application of IFRIC 12 on service concession
arrangements, Four of the Group’s deep seapart terminals in emerging markets are operated under certain restrictive
price and service conditions. The grantor controls any significant residual interest in the infrastructure. The amounts paid
by the Group as an operator to the grantor {government or port authorities) as a consideration for obtaining the rights
relating to concession arrangements are accounted as part of port concession rights. In addition, Port concession rights
also include certain property, plant and equipment which are reclassified as intangible assets in accordance with IFRIC
12 'Service Concession Arrangements’,
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12. Intangible assets (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations and port concession rights with indefinite useful lives have been
allocated to various cash-generating units {“CGU"), which are reportable business units, for the purposes of impairment
testing.

Impairment testing is done at operating port (or group of ports) level that represents an individual CGU. Details of the
s hy nperating seqment are shown below

Discount Average
rate change budgeted margin ~ Terminal growth
. . required for growth change rate change
Cash gen%retajtlng umtg carrying required f%r reguired f%r
aggregated by operating Carrying amount to carrying amount  carrying amount
segment amount Hré-tax equat to equal te equal
of discount Terminal recoverable recoverable recoverable
goodwill rate  growth rate amount armount amount
£ million % % % % %
2020
Europe, Africa and Middle East 149 6.0-13.5 2.5 0.4 -13.0 Refer note (a) Refer note (a)
Australia and Americas 152 6.0- 7.0 2.5 3.2 Refer note (a) Refer note (a)
Asia Pacific and India 96 9.0- 95 2.5 9.9 Refer note (a) Refer note (a)
Total 39.7
2019
Eurcpe, Africa and Middle East 142 73-153 2.5 04-13.0 Refer note (a) Refer nate (a)
Australia and Americas 5.7 7.5-16.2 25 4.4 Refer note (a) Refer note (a)
Asia Pacific and India 101 7.7-108 2.5 8.0 (2.8) Refer note (a)
Total 40.0
(a) As per the sensitivity analyses, even if these assumptions are reduced to 0%, it will still result in recoverable

armounls beiny higher thar the carrying drmounts,

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined based on their value in use calculated using cash flow
projections based on the tinancial budgets approved by the Board covering a three year period and a further outlook for
five years, which is considered appropriate in view of the outlook for the industry and the long-term nature of the
concession dgreements held i.e. generally for a period ot 25-b0 years.

Key assumptions used in valae in use calculations (adjusted for COVID-19 impact)

The following describes each key assumption on which the Board has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill.

Budgeted margins — The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted margin is the average gross margin
achieved in the year immediately before the budgeted year, adjusted for expected efficiency improvements, price
fluctuations and manpower costs.

Discount rates — These represent the cost of capital adjusted for the respective location risk factors. The Group uses the
post-tax industry average weighted average cost of capital based on the rate of 10 years default free US treasury bonds
adjusted for country-specific risks,

Cost infiation — The forecast general price index is used to determine the cost inflation during the budget year for the
relevant countnes where the Group is operating which has been sourced from International Monetary Fund (IMF).

lermunal growth rate — In the Board's view, the terminal growth rate is the minimum growth rate expected to be achieved
beyond the eight-year period. | his 15 based on the averall regional economic growth forecasted and the Group’s existing
internal capacity changes for a given region. The Group also takes into account competition and regional capacity growth
to provide a comprehensive growth assumption for the entire portfolio. Based on the historical trend of growth in global
trade, the long-term growth in the range of 1% to 2.5% is considered reascnable for the diversified businesses of the
Group. The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with the past expertence of the Board.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

The calculation of value in use for the CGU is sensitive to future earnings and therefore a sensitivity analysis was
performed. A sensitivity analysis demonstrated that a 10% decrease in earnings for a future period of three years from the
reporting date would not result in impairment. An increase of 0.10% in discount rate and decrease of 0.25% in terminal
value growth rate would nal resull i irainnel,
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13. Right of use assets

£ million
Pnrt conressinn machlner?:aizg Lanq qnd Total
nghts vehicles Building
Cost
At 1 January 2020 3979 18.1 14.0 430.0
Additions during the year 1.8 28 - 14.7
Reassessments - (0.1) - {0.1)
Written off during the year - {1.7) - {1.7)
Exchange adjustments 0.9 (0.9) 0.60 0.60
" At 31 December 2020 4106 18.3 14.6 4435
Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 January 2020 {13.1) (1.2 (2.5) {16.8)
Charge for the year {16.4) {1.5) {2.8) {20.7}
Reassessments 0.1 0.1 - 0.2
Written off during the year - 1.7 - 17
Exchange adjustments {0.5) {0.4) - {0.9)
At 31 December 2020 (29.9) 1.3 {5.3} (36.5)
Net book amount at 31 December 2020 330.7 17.0 9.3 407.0
Cost
?:g?%nﬁmgrr;‘ggﬂ application of IFRS 16 3915 172 141 4228
Arditinns diiing the year 2 0.2
Wiinwn off during the yoar {u.b) - - 10.5)
Exchange adjustmonts 6.9 09 (0.3} 7.5
Al 31 Decembet 2019 4974 18.1 14.0 430.0
f\uéumulaled Depreciation
Charge for the year (14.0) (1.8) {2.2) (18.0)
Written oft during the year 0.5 - - 0.5
Exchange adjustments 0.4 0.6 {0.3) 0.7
At 31 December 2019 {13.1) (1.2) {2.5) (16.8)
Net hook amount at 31 December 2019 384.8 16.8 1.5 413.2
2020 2019
£ millian £ miltion
Amcunt recognised in consolidated income statement
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 20.7 18.0
Interest expense on lease Habilities (included in inance cost) 21.4 21.5
Expense relating to short-tarm leases, leases of low value assets and variable fease 98.0 123.0
;?zg:frl:tlbrecogni-.;ed in consolidated statement of cash flows
Lease payments made during the year (included under financing activities) 344 329
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14. Property, plant and equipment

£ millinn
Capital
Property Vessels ezlligtm?r: p“;f;:;; Total
Cost
Al1 January 2020 829.4 195.2 1,528.9 70.8 2,624.4
Additions - 0.8 15.9 57.5 74.2
Transfers to Investment properties {5.8) - (0.5) - A3
Transfars to Intangihla asgets - {1.G) (1.8)
Transfers from capital work-in-progress 20.0 4.5 53.3 (77.8) -
Disposals 0.1 {12.6) {15.4) {0.1) {28.0)
Exchange adjustments (22.5) {0.5) {21.3) {2.5) (46.8)
At 31 December 2020 821.2 187.5 1,560.9 46.3 2,615.9
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2020 {269.9) (76.3) (497 .4) - (843.6)
Charge for the year {24.0) {11.1) (67.0) - {102.1)
hupaiiment losses i8.0) - - - (8.0}
Transfers to Investment properties 1.0 - - - 1.0
Disposals {0.1) 12.8 15.3 - 28.0
Exchange adjustments 99 (1.1 13.3 - 221
At 31 December 2020 {291.1) {75.7) (535.8) - {90.2.0}
Net baok amount at 31 Dacember 2020 530.1 111.8 1,025.1 46,3 1,743.3
Cost
At 1 January 20149 853.2 204.1 1,499.3 200 2,576.6
Additions 0.3 1.6 6.3 85.6 93.8
Transfers from Intangible assets - - 32.8 - 328
Transfers from capital work-in-progress 6.0 1.1 24.3 (31.4) -
Disposals (5.9} {0.1) (13.2) - (19.2)
Frrhange adjustments (24.2) (11.4) (20.G) {3.4) (569.8)
At 31 December 2019 8294 195.3 1,528.9 708 2,624.4
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2018 (249.7) {69.2) {431.1) - {750.0)
Charge for the year {31.1) {10.5) (67.3) - (108.9)
Impairment losses - {2.5) - - (2.5)
Transfers from Intangible assets - - (23.9) - (23.9)
Disposals 4.1 2.6 12.7 - 19.4
Exchange adjustments 6.8 3.3 12.2 - 22.3
AL 31 Deceinbier 2019 (26Y.Y) {/6.3) (497 .4) - (843.6)
Nel bouk amount at 31 Decemher 2019 5595 119.0 1,031.5 70.8 1.780.8

AL 31 Detember 202U, property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of £768.9 million (2019: £779.2 million) are
pledyed 0 secure bank loans (reter to note 20). At 31 December 2020, the net carrying value of the leased plant and
equipment and other assets was £129.37 million (2019: £123.71 million).

Borrowing costs capitalised to property, plant and equipment amounted to £1.85 million (2019: £1.84 million) calculated
using a capitalisation rate of 0.40% (2019: 0.43%)
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14A  |nvestment properties

£ million
Building and
Infrastructure
Cost
At 1 January 2020 546
Additions -
Transfers from PPE 6.3
Exchange adjustments {0.8)
At 31 December 2020 11,1
Accumulated amortization
At 1 January 2020 {0.3)
Charge for the year {0.3)
Transfers from PPE (1.0)
Exchange adjustments -
At 31 Nacembar 2020 i1.6)
Net book amount at 31 December 2020 a.5
Cost
At 1 January 2019 57
Additions -
Exchange adjustments (0.1)
At 31 December 2019 5.6
Accumulated amortization
A1 January 2019 (0.1)
Cliarye: on i yea {0.2)
Cxchange adjustments
Al 31 Decennber 2019 {0.3)
Net book amount at 31 December 2019 5.3

The Group leases out its investment property. The Group has classified these leases as operaling leases, because they
do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the assets. Investment property

comprises a commercial property leased out to third parties.

Revenue on lease rentals from investment properties recognised in the profit or loss amount to £ 0.4 million (2019: £ 0.3
million) while associated costs related to these investment properties amount to £ 0.04 million {2019: £ 0.01 million). The

rental income is dependent upon variable rates and the contracts are renewed annually.

Although the risks associated with rights that the Group retains in underlying assets are not considered to be significant,
the Group employs strategies to further minimise these risks. For example, ensuring all contracts include clauses requiring
the lessee to compensate the Group when a property has been subjected to excess wear-and-tear during the lease term.
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15. Investments in equity accounted investees

The fulluwing lable summarses the financial intormation tor equity-accounted investees, adjusted for fair value
adjusbimens gl aeyguisilion and reconciled ta the carrying amount ot Group's interest in equity-accounted investees as
included In consolidaled statement ot hinancaal position:

£ million
Cost at 1 January 2020 44149
Share ot protits tor the year 92.6
Share of actuarial Josses, net of tax (0.1}
Share of movement in effective portion of cash-flow hedges, net of tax 0.7
Share of movement in other reserves (0.8}
Dividends {27.2)
Exchange adjustments 10.6
Cost at 31 December 2020 567.7
Cost at 1 January 2019 536.2
Share of profits for {he yea 106.5
Share of actuarial losses, net of tax (0.8)
Share of movement in effective portion of cash-flow hedges, net of tax 2.3
IFRS 16 Transition impact 234
Share of movernenl ji ulligl 18se ves (76.9}
Dividends (77.1}
Exchange adjustments (21.9)
Cast at 31 December 2019 491.9
Summarised financial information for equity accounted investees:
£ million
2020 2019
Sales and other operating revenues 479.2 506.4
Prafit before interest and taxation 156.4 136.3
Net Finance costs (22.8) 12.3
Prafit before taxatian 133.6 148.6
Taxation (41.0) (42.1)
Prafit for tha year 02.C 106.5
Non-current assets 1,022.5 965.4
Current assets 252.2 219.2
Total assets 1,274.7 1.184.6
Current liabilities (154.8) (187.9)
Nan-current liabilities {552.2} {504.8)
Total liabilities (707.0) {692.7)
Net assets 567.7 4919
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16. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

£ Miilliv

Assets Liabilities Net 2020

Property, plant and equipment (2.5} 52.9 50.4
Intangible assets {0.5} 0.1 {0.4)
Investment in equity accounted investees - 17.7 17.7
Emnpluyee beuellis (5.0} uu {5.09
Provisions (1.6) 01 {1.5)
Tax value of loss carried forward recognised {23.8) 0.0 (23.8)
Financial instruments {12.6) 4.6 {8.0)
LCapital gamn 0.0 2147 214.7
Other {9.0) 20.0 11.0
Total tax {assets)/liabilities {55.0) 310.1 255.1
Tax offsat 44.0 {44.0) 0.0
Total tax (asaeta)lliabililies afller ullsel (11.0) 266.} 255.1
Assets Liabilities Net 2019

Property, plant and equipment (1.2) 45.6 44,4
Intangible assets (0.6) 0.1 (0.5)
Investment in equity accounted invastees - 16.6 16.6
Employee benefits (5.7) - (5.7)
Provisions (1.4) 0.1 (1.3)
lax value of loss camied forward recuynised {23.8) - (23.8)
Financial instruments (13.3) 50 (8.3)
Capital gain - 221.7 221.7
fthar (9.9 22.0 12.1
Total tax {assetsYliabilities {55.9) 3111 255.2
Tax offset 50.9 {50.8) -
Total tax (assetsVliabilities after offset (5.0) 260.2 2552

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised by some of the subsidiaries on their trading losses where utilisation is
unclear, either because they have not been agreed with tax authorities, or because of uncertainties of future profits to
ottset aganst these losses, ur because of the impact of tax holidays. The Group will continuously review/monitor these
unrecognised tax losses and will consider recognising them as deferred tax asset in future if there are any significant

changes to tThese assumplions. Detalls are as tollows;

2020 2010
Giuss Giruss
amount Tax effect | Expiry date amount Tax effect Expiry date
£ mimonh £ mion ¥ milhon ¥ milion

Trading losses — will expire 31.6 7.4 | 2021 - 2026 31.1 6.4 2020 - 2023

under current legistation 15.0 4.8 | 2027 - 2038 4.0 0.9 2024 - 2027

3.5 1.0 | 2039 - 2040 7.4 241 2035 - 2039
Trading losses - will not expire

under current legislation 290.2 62.9 - 301.2 75.2 -
Capital losses — will not expire

under current legislation 192.5 36.6 - 168.8 32.1 -
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16. Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

Movement in deferred tax during the year

£ million
Acquired Recognised
Balance at balances in OCland Balance at 31
1 January Exchange Recognised and P&L December
2020 movements inincome  dispasals resenves 2020
Property, plant and equipment 44.4 {2.4) 8.5 (0.1) - 50.4
Intangible assets (0.5) 0.1 - - - (0.4)
Investment in equity accounted investees 16.6 - 1.1 - - 17.7
Employee benefits (5.7} {0.1} 0.4 - 0.4 (5.0)
Provisions {1.3} (0.1} - (0.1) - (1.5)
Tax value of loss carned torward recogrised {23.8} 6.5 (6.5) - - {23.8)
Financial instruments (8.3) - 0.1 - 0.2 (8.0)
Capital gain 2217 {7.0) - - - 214.7
Other 121 0.3 {1.4) (0.3) 0.3 11.0
Total tax liabilities/{assets) 255.2 (2.7) 2.2 {0.5) 0.9 255.1
Acquired  Recognise
Balance at balances din OCl Balance at 31
1 January Exchange Recognised and and P&L December
2019  mavements in income  disposals reserves 2019
Property, plant and equipment 474 {2.9) (0.1) - - 44.4
Intangible assets (0.5) - - - - {0.5)
Investment in equity accaunted investees 17.0 - (0.4) - - 16.6
Employee benefils (6.4) 0.1 (0.1) - 0.7 {5.7)
Provisions (1.0) 0.1 (0.4) - - {1.3)
Tax value of loss carried forward recognised (23.6) {1.0) 0.8 - - (23.8)
Financial instruments 6.5) 0.1 (1.2) - {0.7) (8.3)
Capital gain 2282 (7.5) - - - 2217
Other 191 0.7 {4.3) - {3.4) 121
Total tax liabilities/(assets) 274.7 (10.4) (5.7) - {3.4) 2852
17. Trade and other receivables
£ millian
2020 2019
Current  Non-current Current  Non-current
Trade receivables 98.7 - 937 -
Other receivables 86.6 37.5 711 47.3
Prepayments and accrued income 145 11 19.3 0.0
199.8 38.6 184.1 48.2
Loans to Parent Group undertakings:

Loans to the intermediate parent company 4,198.9 - 1,185.2 -

Loans to fellow subsidiaries of the Group's ultimate 58.0 -
cantrolling entity 40.5 14.8
1,256.9 - 1,225.7 14.8

Trade receivables are reported net of a provision of £9.2 million (2019: £3.1 million).

The Group's exposure to credit and cumrency risks and impairment Josses related to trade and other receivables are
disclosed in note 30.

Ammuunls owed by Group undertakings bear interest in reterence to LIBOR and are repayable on demand by the relevant

parties. | he directors believe that these loans are recoverable which is supported by cash repayments of £39.7 million
received in 2020 (2019: £23.7 million).
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18. Other investments

£ million
2020 2019
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 0.5 0.5
0.5 0.5

(a) The movement schedule for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive incoma is as given below:
£ million
2020 2019
Balance as of 15t January 0.5 243
Disposals during the year - (23.8)
Balance as of 315 December 0.5 0.5

The Group's exposure to credit, currency and interest rate risks refated to other investments is disclosed in note 30.

18A Inventories

£ million

2020 2019

Raw materials, spare parts and consumables 23.4 2189
Goods in transit 0.1 0.2
Fuel on board of vessels 04 0.3
239 224

Mrovigion for obsolete and slow moving itcm3s {0.9) {1.6)
Total Inventories 23.0 20.8

In 2020, inventories of £34./ mithon {2019: £4U0.% milllon) were recognised as an expense dunng the year and included
In cost of sales.

19. Cash and cash equivalents

£ million

2024 2019

Bank balances 2264 157.8
Call deposits 118.1 130.4
Deposits under lien 24.2 28.9
Cash and cash equivalents as per the statement of financial position 368.7 3171
Rank nverdrafts - -
Cash and cash equivalents as per the consolidated statement of cash flows 368.7 317.1

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in note
30.

The deposits under lien are placed to collateralise some of the borrowings of the Group.
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20. Interest bearing leans and borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest bearing loans and borrowings, which
are measured at amortised costs. For information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk,

sce note 30.
£ mitlion
2020 2019
Nun-Current
Secured bank loans 763.9 775.3
Mortgage debenture stock 1.4 1.4
Unsecured loan 12.8 12.0
Unsecured bank loans 365.7 387.1
Unsecured bond issues 5.8 6.0
Total non-current 1,149.6 1,181.8
Current
Secured bank loans 171 17.5
Unsecured bank loans 16.7 15.1
Total current 33.8 328
Total current and non-current 1,183.4 1,214 .4
2020 £ million
2020 Nominal Interest rate Year of maturity Face value _Carrying value
Unsecured Loans
INR 7% 2023 20 2.0
INR Variable 2021-2022 127 12.7
INR Variable 2023-2025 7.0 7.0
INR Variable 2024 7.5 7.5
INR Variable 2025 25 25
usD Variable 2021-2024 84.3 84.3
usp Variable 2023 190.5 189.8
usD Variable 2023-2026 26.0 26.0
uUsb Variable 2024-2026 40.6 40.6
UsD Variable 2027 7.3 7.3
EUR 0.6% -2.2% 2021-2024 2.7 2.7
Saruran | Aans
usp 5.98% 2021-2022 7.9 7.5
UsD Variable 2021-2029 549 52.7
uUsD Variable 2030 6.5 6.5
EUR 4.661% -4.75% 2021-2022 09 0.9
EUR 1.18% - 1.48% 2021-2024 36 3.5
EUR 2% 2021-2026 5.5 5.5
GBP 1.14% 2021-2045 83.9 839
GBP Variable 2022-2036 565.8 556.8
PGK 6.75% 2021-2027 237 235
PKR Variable 2021-2025 237 23.7
PKR Variable 2021-2026 16.5 16.5
Unsecured bond issues
uspb 7.875% 2027 59 5.8
Unsecured Loan
EUR 4.0% 2024 128 12.8
Mortgage debentures stocks
GBP 3.5% Undated 14 1.4
Total 1,196.1 1,183.4
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20.  Inlerest bearing loans and borrowings (continuod)

2019 £ million

2019 Nominal Interest rate Year of maturity Face value _Carrying value
Unsecured Loans

INR Variahle 2024 117.3 117.3
INR Variable 2020-2024 14.3 14.3
usD Variable 2021 41.9 41.9
INR Variable 2020 3.2 3.2
INR Variable 2022-2027 29.7 29.7
UsD Variable 2023 195.8 195.8
Secured Loans

usD Variable 2020 22 2.2
UsD Varlable 2029-2030 65 65
ush 5.898% to 8% 2020-2022 10.7 10.7
PGK 6.75% 2027 283 28.3
EUR Variable 2022 1.3 1.3
EUR 1.18%-4.75% 2021-2026 11.5 11.5
PKR Variable 2025-2026 33.1 331
GBP Variable 2024-2036 617.0 817.0
GBP 4.50% 2045 237 23.7
Unsecured bond issues

UsD 7.875% 2027 6.0 6.0
Unsecured Loan

EUR 4.000% 2024 12.0 12.0
Mortgage debentures stocks

GRP 3.500% Undated 1.4 1.4
Total 1,214.4 1,214.4

Certain property, plant and equipment are pledged against the facilities obtained from the banks {refer to note 12 and
note 14). The deposits under lien are placed to collateralise some of the borrowings of the Company’s subsidiaries (refer
to note 19).

At 31 Decembar 2020, the undrawn committed borrowing facilities of £16 m (2019: £ NIL) were available to the Group, in
rasnert af whirh all nonditions precedent had been mel.

Movement of interest bearing loans and borrowings

£ million
2020 2019
Balance as at 1 January 1,214.4 1,264.5
Cash flow items
Additional borrawings during the year 65.0 37.5
Repayment of borrowings during the year {77.3) (62.1)
Other non-cash items
Translation adjustments {18.7) (25.5)
Balance at 31 December 1,183.4 1.214.4
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21. Lease liabilities
£ million
] 2020 2019
At 1 January 448.0 29
At 1 January 2018 upon adoption of [FRS 16 - 444.3
Payments (34.4) (32.9)
Additions 14.7 0.2
Interest expense 214 21.5
Reassessments 0.1
Reclassified fram ancanunts payahle - 57
Translation adjustment (2.2) 6.3
As at 31 December 447.6 448.0
Lease liabilitics classificd as:
Non-current 415.7 419.4
Current 319 28.8
Total 447.6 448.0
Refer note 13 for right-of-use assets and also refer note 30(b) for maturity profile of lease liabilities.
22 Trade and other payables
¥ millinh
2020 2019
Current Non-current Current Nen-current
Trade payables 37.5 - 41.6 -
Qther unsecured payahles 30.5 124 321 14.9
Accruals and deferred incomne 132.0 225 146.7 231
Fair value of derivative financial instruments - 32.5 0.9 50.1
200.0 87.1 211.3 88.1
Loan from Parent group undertakings
Loan from fellow subsidiaries of the Group’s
ultimate conlrolling enlily G0.7 48.1 86.0 237
G0.7 48.1 86.0 33.7

The Group's exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 30,

22A. Provisions

£ million

2020 2019

Opening balanco 10.7 10.9
MPravisions mado during the year 14.2 14.0
Pravisions utilised during the year {7.4) (14.2)
Closing Balance 17.5 10.7
Current 15.3 9.1
Non-current 2.2 1.6

During the current year, additional provision of £14.2 million was made (2019: £14.0 million) and an amount of £7.4 million
was utilised (2019: £14.2 million). The recognised provision reflects management's best estimate of the mast likely
nutenme of varinus legal and ather claims, which are subject to considerable uncertainty in terms of outcome and timing

nf sattlement.
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23.

The foflowing tahle summarises the financial information for the material NCi of the Group:

Non-controlling interest

£
millic
n
2020 2020 2020 2020 2019 2018 2018 2019
Middle Other ’
East, Australi  individuall Méda‘ﬂf Australia diviﬁ;‘ﬁr
Eur‘a’r?g Amaefi'::: immateriayll Gros Europé Amefil::: immaten'ayI‘ Gross
Africa s subsidiarie Tota] 2ndAfrica subsidiarie  Total
rcgion s* reglon s
Baldip e sleee! widinnatinni
Non-current assets 308 26.0 49,2 26,0
Cirrent asantg aa.8 21.0 32.2 39.0
Nan-current liabilities {5.5) {4.0) {4.3) {3.0)
Current liabilities (10.9) (15.0) (14.3) (13.0)
Net assets (100%) 53.20 28.00 62.8 49.0
Carrying amount of NCI as at 31 416 48.3
December 21.3 12.4 7.90 ' 25.1 21.7 1.50 )
Inenema slalerent information
Revenue 285 770 323 820
Profit after tax 54 (9.0} 8.9 (2.0)
QOther comprehensive income, net
of tax - - - -
total comp}eher:slve Incorme
(100%), nelul lax 54 (9 0) 8.9 {2.0
Profit allocated to NCI 3.8 2.0 169 227 3.5 (1.0) 182 187
OCI allocated to NC - - (54 (5.4 - - (0.8) _ {0.8)
Total comprehensive income
allocated to NCI 38 2.0 11.5 17.3 35 (1.0) 15,4 17.9
Gnsh fiows from operating activities .9 oL 5.9 170
Cash flows from investing activities @7) 15 0.4 (2.3)
Cash tlows trom tinancing activities (2.8) 271 1.4 o.n

Dividends paid to NGI

There are na subsidiaries with material NCI in the Group.
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24, Issued capital and reserves
8hare capital and share premium account

The balances classified as share capital and share premium account include the total net proceeds on issue of the
Company’s equity share capital. The authorised share capital is £853.2 million (2019: £953.2 million) being the allotted
capital together with £110.0 million (2019: £110.0 million) of unclassified shares. The nominal value of each class of
share unit is £1. The number of shares held is 843.2 million, Share premium amounted to £815.4 million (2019: £815.4
million). The allotted, called up and fully paid share capital was £843.2 million as at 31 December 2020 {2019: £843.2
million).

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations that are integral to the operations of the Company.

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging
instruments related to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred.

Other reserves

Other reserves of £170.5 million (2019: £170.5 million) is made up of the Group's merger reserve of £454.2 million (2019:
£454.2 million) and capital reserve £161.4 million {2019: £161.4 million), less goodwill deducted from reserves of £451.9
million (2019: £451.9 million), all arising under UK GAAP prior to transition to IFRS, plus a capital redemption reserve of
£3.3 million {2019: £3.3 million) and amounts relating to share hased payments of £3.5 million {2019: £3.5 million}).

25. Employees

£ million

Employee costs 2020 2019
Wages and salaries 1488 143.9
Social security costs 13.7 7.9
Pensiui and ullier pust-ielienent benefil vusls 260 23.2
191.4 175.0

Average humber of employees at 31 December 2020 2019
UK full time 1,164 1,135
UK part time 21 13
Overseas full time 4,370 4,447
Oversees part time 127 163
5,632 5,758

26, Employee benefits
The Group participates in a number of pension schemes throughout the waorld, mostly concentrated in the United Kingdom.
The board of a pension scheme in the UK is required by law to act in the best interests of the fund participants and is

responsible for setting certain policies (e.g. investment, contributions and indexation policies) and determining recovery
plans, if appropriate.

These defined benefit schemes expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency risk, interest rate risk

and market (investment} risk. In addition, by participating in certain multi-employer industry schemes, the Group can be
exposed to a pro-rata share of tha credit risk of other participating employers.
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26. Employee benefits {continued)

a) P&0O UK Scheme

This principal scheme is located in the UK (the “P&0 UK Scheme”). The P&0O UK Scheme is a funded defined benefit
scheme and was closed to routine new members on 1 January 2002 and to future accrual on 31 December 2015. The
pension fund 1s legally separated from the Group and managed by a Trustee board. The assets of the scheme are managed
on behalf of the Trustee by independent fund managers.

Formal actuarial valuations of the P&0 UK scheme are normally carried out triennially by qualified independent actuaries,
the muost recen! valuation was at 31 March 2019 on a market related basis. The deficit on a statutory funding objectives
basis was GBP 98 milion. Ihe Group agreed with the | rustee to a new monthly deficit payment plan effective from 1 April
AUTIY o tollows:

Payinent Daley Monthly payments

From 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 GBP 0.8 million

From 1 April 2020 to 31 May 2020 GBP 1.3 million

In May 2020 GBP 6.5 million {one off lump sum)
From 1 June 2020 to 31 March 2021 GBP 2.5 million

From 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2025 GBP 1.3 million

In December 2007, as part of a process developed with the Group to de-risk the pension scheme, the Trustes transferred
GBP 800 milion ot P&O UK Scheme assets to Paternoster (UK) Ltd, in exchange for a bulk annuity insurance policy to
ensure that the assets {in the Company's statement ot tinancial position and in the Scheme) will always be equal to the
current value of the liability of the pensians in payment at 30 June 2007, thus removing the funding risks for these liabilities.

b} Marchant Navy Officers’ Pension Fund (“MNOPF”)

The Group participates in various industry multi-employer schemes in the UK. These generally have assets held in
separate trustee administered funds which are legally separated from the Group.

The MNOPF Scheme is an industry wide multi-employer defined benefit scheme in which officers employed by companies
within the Group have participated. | he scheme has been closed to further benefit accrual from 31 March 2016.

The most recent formal actuarial valuation of the New Secticn of MNOPF Scheme was carried out as at 31 March 2013,
1his resulted in a deticit of USD 8.6 million. The Trustee Board believe their investment strategy will address this deficit
and theretore has not issued deficit contribution notices to emplayers in respect of the 2019 actuarial valuation.

Following earlier actuarial valuations in 2009, 2012 and 2015 the Trustee and Employers agreed contributions to be paid o
the Section by participating employers over the period to 30 September 2023. These contributions included an allowance
tor the impact of irrecoverable contributions in respect of companies no longer in existence or not able to pay their share.

The Group's share of the net deficit of the MNOPF Scheme at 31 December 2020 is estimated at 5.21%.
c) Merchant Navy Ratings’ Pension Fund (“MNRPF”)

The MNRPF Scheme is an industry wide multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme in which sea staff employed by
companies within the Group have participated. The scheme has a significant funding deficit and has been closed to further
benefit accrual from 2001.

Certain Group companies, which are no longer current employers in the MNRPF Scheme had settled their statutory debt
obligation and were not considerad to have any legal obligation with respect to the on-going deficit in the fund. However,
following a legal challenge, by Stena Line Limited, the High Court decided that the Trustee could require all employers that
had ever participated In the $cheme to make contributions to fund the dehcit. Although the Group appealed, the decision
was3 1ot overlunied,
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26. Employee benefits {continued)

d} Merchant Navy Ratings’ Pension Fund (“MNRPF”) (continued)

The most recent formal actuarial valuation was carried out as at 31 March 2017. The deficit contributions arising from the
valuation totalled GBP 7.7 million. The contributions due to the Scheme in respect of this valuation will be paid aver the
period to 31 October 2023.

For the Group, aggregated outstanding contributions from these valuations are payable as follows:

. 2021: GBP 4.5 million
. 2022 to 2025: GBP 9.9 million

The Trustee set the payment terms for each participating employer in accordance with the Trustee’s Contribution Collection
Hollgy which includes credit vething.

The outcome of the MNRPF Scheme’s 2020 trignnial actuariat valuation is still to be finalised.

During the year, MNRPF Scheme has sought direction for the UK Court regarding the correct benefit provision to its
scheme members in respect of Il Health Early Retirement. The Case was due to be heard in November 2020 but was
adjourned until July 2021 whilst representatives from the Trustee Board, the Employers and the Members/employees
considered a Settiement proposal. The outcome of either the Court direction or the Settlement proposal is unknown to
the Group at the current time, but the Group's share of potential additional liability is estimated to be in the range of USD
NIl to GBF 22.14 million.

The Group's share of the net deficit of the MNRPF at 31 December 2020 is estimated at 7.38%.
e} Others

The Group also operates a number of smaller defined benefit and defined contribution schemes.
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26. Employee benefits {(continued)

Reconciliation of assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows

£ million
2020 2019
Non-current
Defined benefit schemes net liabilities 101.8 110.4
Liability in respect of long service leave 0.4 0.2
Liability for other non-current deferred compeansation 1.5 0.6
103.7 111.2
Current
Liability for current deferred compensation 6.6 5.6
Net liability 110.3 116.8
Reflecled in the consolidated statement of financial position as tollows:
Employee bencfit liahilitios: non curront 103.7 111.2
Employee benefit liabilities: current - 5.6
110.3 116.8

Long term employee benefit expense recognised in consolidated statement of profit and loss consist of following:

£ million

2020 2019

Defined benefit schemes* 7.9 7.7
Defined contribution schemes 12.3 10.7
Other employee benefits 13.2 9.5
334 27.9

* In 2020, this includes £3.0 million additional costs arising in respect of “guaranteed minimum pension” (GMP) based
on a landmark High Court judgment in the UK.
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26. Employee benefits (confinued)

The re-measurements of the net defined benefit fiability recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income is
as follows:

£ miflion

2020 2019

Actuaiial luss/{yain) ecoynised i Uie yed 1739 1781
Return an plan assets {grealer) / lesser than the discount rate {164.5) {149.0)
Change in share in multi-employer scheme - 0.3
Movament in minimum funding liability 9.7 {29.5)
191 {0.1)

Actuarial valuations and assumptions

The latest valuations of the defined benefit schemes have been updated to 31 December 2020 by qualified independent
actuaries. The principal assumptions are included in the table below. The assumptions used by the actuaries are the best
estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions, which, due to the timescale covered, may not
neLessarily be burme ool in praclice.

P&O UK Scheme MNOPF Scheme Other Scheme

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Discount rates 1.25% 1.95% 1.25% 195% 1.71% 1.80%

Discount rates - Bulk Annuity Asset 1.15% 1.85% n/a n/a n/a n/a

Expected rates of salary increases * nfa* n/a* nfa* nfa* 1.47% 1.34%
Pension increases:

- Deferment 2.80% 3.00% 2.00% 225% 2.07% 2.20%

- Payment 2.80% 3.00% 2.75% 3.15% 2.27% 2.51%

intlation 2.80% 3.25% 2.80% 3.25% 2.29% 2.75%

* The P&O UK Scheme and MNOPF were closed to future accruat as at 31 December 20186, so future pay increases is
not relevant.

In the clrrent year, the methodology tor deterrmning the Retail Price Index (RP1) assumption used for the valuation of the
vetined Beneht Pension Scheme Obligation changed, resulting in an RPt of 2.80% (compared to an RPI of 3.25% under
the old methodalogy). However, the resulling decrease in the DBO has no impact on the net defined banefit pension
liability on the balance sheet as at 31 December 2020. This is bacause the impact is offset by an equal and oppasite
chango to the minimum funding ability,

The assumptions for pensioner longevity under both the P&0O UK scheme and the MNOPF scheme are based on an
analysis of pensioner death trends under the respective schemes over many years.

For illustration, the life expectancies for the two schemes at age 65 now and in the future are detailed in the table below.

Male Femalg
Age 85in 20 Age 65in 20
Age 65 now years' time  Age 65 now years' time

2020

P&0 UK scheme 228 24.5 25.0 26.7
MNOPF scheme 21.9 24.0 24.0 26.2
2019

P&O UK scheme 22.8 245 24.9 26.7
MNOPF scheme 218 239 239 26

At 31 December 2020, the weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 14.3 years (2019: 14.9 years).

Reasonably possible changes to one of the actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant (in practice, this
is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated), would have increased the net defined
benefit liability as at 31 December 2020 by the amounts shown below;

£ million

2020 2019

0.1% reduction in discount rate 4.4 3.9
0.1% increase in inflation assumption and related assumptions 28 5.4
0.25% p.a. increase in the long term rate of mortality improvement 2.4 8.9
9.6 16.2
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26, Employee benefits (continued)

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to the previous
period.

The schemes’ strategic asset allocations across the sectors of the main asset classes are:

P&0O UK MNOPF Other Total Fair
Scheme Scheme Schema value
£'million £'million £'million £'million

2020
Equities 185.9 45.7 5741 288.7
Bonds 427.7 129.7 2149 772.3
Other 105.2 - 328 138.0
Value of insured pensioner lability 718.7 - 2.0 720.7
1,437.5 175.4 306.8 1,919.7

2019
Equities 178.6 51.1 48.7 278.4
Bonds 218.8 120.0 178.8 517.6
Cther 212.8 - 355 248.3
Value of insured pensioner liability 721.8 - 2.0 723.8
1,332.0 171.1 265.0 1,768.1

With the exception of the insured pensioner liability all material investments have quoted prices in active markets.

Reconciliation of the opening and closing present value of defined benefit obligations and fair value of scheme assets for
the period ended 31 December 2020:

£ million
P&O UK MNOPF Other
Scheme Scheme Scheme Total
Present value of obligation at 1 January 2020 {1,370.0) {(158.1) {290.4) {1,818.5)
Current service cost - (0.1) (5.0 {5.1)
Employer's past service cost* (3.0} - - {3.0)
Interest cost on Defined Benefit Obligation (28.7) (3.0) (5.4) (35.1)
Contributions by scheme participants - - (1.0) {1.0)
Effect of movement in exchange rates - - (1.2) {1.2)
Actuarial gain/(loss) - experience - 1.5 0.2 1.7
Actuarial gain/(loss) - demographic assumptions {31.0) (0.7) {(1.7) (33.4)
Actuarial gain/(loss) - financial assumptions {99.5) (11.0) (31.7) {142.2)
Actual benefit paid 68.2 8.8 9.8 86.8
Present value of obligation at 31 December 2020 {1,462.0) (162.6) {326.4) {1,951.0)
Fair value of scheme assets at 1 January 2020 1,332.0 17141 265.0 1,768.1
Interest income on assets 259 3.2 51 34.2
Return on plan assets {greater)/less than the 120.6 10.2 337 164.5
discount rate
Actual employer contributions 287 - 1.7 40.4
Contributions by scheme participants - - 1.0 1.0
Effect of movement in exchange rate 0.1 - 1.0 1.1
Actual benefit paid (68.2) {8.8) (9.8) (86.8)
Administration costs incurred during period {1.6) {0.3) (0.9) (2.8)
Fair value of scheme assets at 1,437.5 175.4 306.8 1,919.7
31 December 2020
Defined benefit schemes net liabilities {24.5) 12.8 {19.6) {31.3)
Minimum funding liability {43.2) {12.8) {14.5) (70.5)
Net liability recognised in the consolidated (67.7) {0.0) {34.1) {101.8)

statement of financial position as at
31 December 2020

* In 2020, this includes £3.0 million additional costs arising in respect of “guaranteed minimum pension” (GMP) based
on a fandmark High Court judgment in the UK.
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26. Employee benefits (continued)

Reconciliation of the apening and closing present value of defined benefit obligations and fair value of scheme assets for
the pericd ended 31 December 2019;

£ million

P&O UK MNOPF Other

Scheme Scheme Scheme Total
Present value of obligation at 1 January 2019 (1,278.8} (157.3) (244.7) {1,680.8)
Current service cost - - {4.6) {4.6)
Interest cost on Defined Benefit Obligation (35.3) (4.4) (7.3) (47.0)
Centributions by scheme participants - - (0.9} (0.9)
Effect of mavement in exchange rates - - {14.5) (14.5)
Actuarial gain/{loss) - experience 18.5 {0.9) 1.3 189
Actuarial gain/{loss) - demographic assumptions (15.7) 7.4 4.9 (3.4}
Actuarial gain/{loss) - financial assumptions (143.3) (16.2} {34.1) (193.6)
Gain/(Loss) due to change in share - 43 - 4.3
Actual henefit paid 84.6 9.0 95 103.1
Present value of obligation at 31 December 2019 (1,370.0) {158.1) {290.4) (1,818.5)
Fair value of scheme assets at 1 January 2019 1,266.4 168.9 211.2 1,646.5
Interest income on assets 35.0 47 8.5 46.2
Return on plan assets {greater)/less than the
discount rate 108.9 1.4 287 149.0
Actual employer contributions 9.0 - 13.8 22,8
Contributions by scheme participants - - 09 0.9
Effect of movement in exchange rate (0.8) - 143 13.5
Actual benefit paid (84.6) (9.0) (9.5) {103.1)
Gain/(Loss} due to change in share - (4.8) - {4.6)
Administration costs incurred during period {1.9) (0.3) (0.9) (3.1
Fair value of scheme assets at
31 December 2019 1,332.0 171.1 265.0 1,768.1
Defined benefit schemes net liabilities (38.0) 13.0 _{25.4) (50.4)
Minimum funding liability (32.2) {13.0) {14.8) {60.0)
Net liability recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial positinn as at
31 December 2019 (70.2) {0.0) {40.2) (110.4)

A minimum funding liability arises where the statutory funding requirements are such that future contributions in respect
of past service will resultin a future unrecognisable surplus.

The helow table shows the movement in minimum funding liability:

£ million
2020 2019
Minimum funding liability as on 1 January (60.0) {87.1)
interest cest an minimum funding liability {0.8) (2.4)
Actuarial movement during the year {9.7) 29.5
Minimum funding liability as on 31 Dcecmber _(70.5) {60.0)
it is anticipated that the company will make the following contributions to the pension schemes in 2021:
£ million
P&O UK MNOPF Other Total
Scheme Scheme Scheme
Pensinn srhame contributions 18.1 103 20.4
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27. Commitments

Capital commitments

£ million
2020 2010
Cstimated capital eapendilure cunbacled o as al 31 December 114.0 141.5
28. Contingent liabilities
(a) The Group has contingent liabilities amounting to £21.5 million (2019: £22.3 million) of payment guarantees,

£46.1 million {2019: £47.7 million) of performance guarantees and £0.7 million (2019: £1.6 million) of letter of
credit. The bank guarantees are ansing In the ordinary course of business from which it is anticipated that no
material liabilities wil arise.

(b) I he Group has contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees issued on behalf of equity accounted investees
amounting to £14.9 million (2019: £15.1 million).

29, Related parties

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group, if the Group
has the abillity, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over it in making financial and
operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to comman cantrol or significant influence
i.e. part of the same Parent Group.

Related parties represent associated companies, shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the Group,
the Parent Company, Ultimate Parent Company and entities jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties.
Pricing palicies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management, The terms and conditions of
the related party transachons were made on an arm’s length basis.

Parent entities

The largest group of companies for which consclidated financial statements are prepared and in which the company is
consolidated 18 D World Limited, a company limited by shares incorporated in Dubai, whose accounts are filed with the
Dubai Internationat Financial Centre. DP World Limited has 19.55% of its shares traded on the NASDAQ Dubai.

In the opinion of the directars, the ultimate contralling parent company as at 31 December 2019 was Port & Free Zone
World F2E, which owns 80.45% of DP World Limited. Port & Free Zone World FZE is a wholly owned subsidiary of Dubai
World Corporation, {ultimate parent conpany).

Traneactions with parent group

Amounts due from the parent group are disclosed in note 16. Interest eamed on these loans amounted to £7.0 million
{2079: £4.4 milnon). Amounts due to the parent group are disclosed in note 20, Interest cost on these loans amounted to
£0.9 million (F019: £1 2million),

Management fees of £15.7 million (2019: £16.4 million) were paid to DP World group companies during the year.
Management fees of £5.7 million {2019: £7.3 million) were received from DP World group companies during the year,

On 30" January 2019 the Group transferred its 3.15% interest in DP World Australia (Holding) Pty Ltd held as investments
in unlisted companies to a parent Group entity (DP World Australia B.V) for a sale consideration of $1.

There were no other material transactions with the parent group during the year (2019: £nil).
Transactions with key management personnel

Given The operational and organisational structure of the Group, the key management personnel as defined under IAS
24 'Related Parly Disclosures' consists of the board of directors of the company together with the key management
persannel of DP World Limited.

The Group’s share of the remuneration of these key personnel was £1.9 million (2019: £1.3 million). The remuneration of
the Direclors of (he Company is disclosed in note M to the Company financial statements.

The remuneration of the key management personnel of DP World Limited and any relevant transactions are set out in the
financial statements of DP World Limited which are publicly available an their website at www.dpworld.com.
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29, Related parties {continued)
Othor related party transactiona

During the year the Group provided services including office accommodation and IT support to Istithmar P&O Estates an
affiliated company under ultimate parent company, amounting to £0.1 million (2019: £0.1 million).

There are no other related party transactions during the year, {2019: Nil}

30. Financial instruments
{a) Credit risk
i Lxposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk
at the reporting date was:

£ million

Carrying amount Carrying amount

2020 2019

Trade receivables 98.7 Q3.7
Other receivables 139.7 138.8
Amounts owed by group companies 1,256.9 1,240.5
Cash and cash equivalents 368.7 317.1
Loan fo equity accounted investees 1.5 44.5

The maximurn exposure to ¢rédit nsk tor trade receivables at the reporting date by geographical region is as follows:

£ million
2020 2019
Europe and Africa 69.4 62.1
Australia and Americas 14.6 17.8
Asia Pacific and India 14.7 13.8
28.7 93.7
(ii) Credit quality of financial assets and impairment losses
Movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables during the year was:
£ million
2020 2019
At 1 January 31 0.5
Charge/ (reversed) during the year 6.1 2.6
At 31 December 9.2 3.1
Ihe ageing ot trade receivables at the reporting date was:
£ million
2020 2019
Neither past due or impaired 54.5 52.6
Past due oh the reporting date
Past due less than 30 days 20.6 20.2
Past due 31-60 days 9.1 10.2
Past due over B0 days 6.5 4.7
8.7 93./

(b) Liquidity risk

Ihe following are the contractual matunties ot financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding
the impact of netting agreements:
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30. Financial instruments (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk {continued)
£ million
2020 One to Twoto More than
Carrying Contractual  Within one Two five five
amount Cash Flows yoar years years years
Nrow=eler lvaibuns oanelal Bahllites
Trade and cther payables (234.6) {234.6) (200.0) (34.6) - -
Unsecured bond issues (5.8} {11.9) (0.9) (0.9) {2.8) {7.3}
Secured bank loans (781.0) (1,187.1) (49.5) {54.9) {152.5) (930.2)
Unsecured bank loans {382.4) (496.8) (28.0) {38.2) {341.5) {89.1)
Lease liabilities (448.0) (725.0) (30.1) {29.6) (84.0) {581.3)
Mortgage debenture stock {1.4) {3.5) {0.1) {0.1) (0.3) {3.0)
Unsecured loan (12.8) (12.8) {12.8) - - -
Loan from group undertakings {108.8) {108.8) {60.7) (48.1}) - -
Derivative financial liabilities
Interest rate swaps {net outflow) {52.5) {46.1) {17.4) {(14.7) (13.9) (0.1}
(2,027.3)  (2,826.6) (399.5) {221.1) {595.0) (1,611.0}
£ millon
2019 Oneto Two to More than
Carrying Contractual ~ Within one Two five five
amount Cash Flows year years years years
Nan-derivarive financlal ilabliies
Trade and other payables (248.4) (248.4) (210.4) (38.0) - -
Unsecured bond issues (6.0) (5.5) - - (0.1) (5.4)
Secured bank loans (792.8) (1,292.8) (53.4) (50.7) (175.7) {1,013.0)
Unsecured bank loans (402.2) {459.3) (31.1) (32.2) (347.3) {48.7)
Lease ligbilities (448.0) (777.7) (30.5) (30.2) (88.9) (628.1)
Mortgage debenture stock (1.4) {5.1) (0.5) (0.5) (1.5) (2.6)
Unsecured loan {12.0) (12.1) - (12.1) - -
Loan from group undertakings {119.7) (119.7) {86.0) (33.7) - -
Derivative financial liabilities
Interest rate swaps (net outflow) (51.0) (60.1) {0.9) (33.3) (17.4) (8.5)
(2,081.5)  (2,980.7) (412.8) (230.7) (630.9)  (1,706.3)
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{c) Market risk

(i Currency risk

The following significant exchange rates were applied during the year:

Average rates: Reporting date spot rates:
2020 219 2070 7n19
usD 1.283 1.276 1.365 1.322
EUR 1.126 1.140 1.1 1.175
AUD 1.864 1.838 1.765 1.881
INR 95.074 89.848 99.683 94,339
CAD 1.720 1.683 1.738 1.717

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

A 10% strengthening of pound sterling against the following currencies at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019
would have increased/{decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. 1his analysis assumes that all
other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. Further, as each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency, the effects of translating financial assets and liabilities of the respective entity would mainly impact

equity.
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30. Financial instruments fcontinued)

{c) Markef risk {continued)
2020 £'million
Caonsolidated Consolidated
statement of OCI Income statement
usb 7.5 1.2
EUR 1.5 0.0
AUD {1.4) {0.0)
INR 13.6 0.6
CALD 1.7 {0.0)
2019 £'millian
Equity Income Statement
usDhD 7.2 1.5
EUR 20 (0.1)
AUD (0.2) (0.0)
INR 15.6 0.3
CAD ) 1.7 {0 0)

A 10% weakening of pound sterling against the above currencies at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 would
have had the equal hut opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other
variables remain constant.

(i) Inferest rale risk

At the repaorting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

£ million
Carrying Carrying
amount amount
2020 2019
Fixed Rate instruments

Financial liabilities {1 nans and lease liabilities) (149.4) {93.7)
Interest rate swaps hedging floating rate debt (886.2) (891.0)
{1.035.6) {984.7)

Variable ratc instruments
Financial assets 1,389.2 1,280.1
Financial liabilities (Loans and lease liabilities) {1,481.8) (1,568.8)
Interest rate swape hadging finating rate deht ddo.2 891.0
H 803.8 602,3

The group has hedged its exposure to varable rates by entering into fixed interest rate swaps for a notional amount
equivalent to £886.2 million (2019: £891.0 million)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
A change of 100 basis points (“bp”) in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/{(decreased) equity and

profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency
exchange rates, remain constant and the hedging arrangements are effective.

£ million
income statement Equity
100bp 100bp 100bp 100bp -
increase decrease increase decrease
31-Dec-20
Varinbly rate inatrumants Hn (H1y - -
Interest rate swaps - - 8.9 (8.9)
Cash flow sensitivity net 8.0 {8.0) 89 (8.9)
31-Dec-18
Vaiiable rate instruments 6.0 {6.0) - -
Interest rate swaps - - 8.9 (8.9)
Cash flow sensitivity nat 6.0 (6.0 89 {8.9)
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30. Financial instruments (continued)

{d) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The table below presents the rarrying amounts and the fair values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities at
31 Dewernber:

£ cuilliun
2020 2019
Book value Fair value Book value Falr value

Primary financial assets and liabilities held or issued to finance the Group's operations:
Trade and other receivables 2384 238.4 2323 232.3
Trade and other payables (234.6) (234.8) (248.4) (248.4)
Unsecured bond issues (5.8) {5.8) (6.0) {6.4U)
Socured bank loans {781.0) (781.0) (792.8) (792.8)
Unsecured bank loans (382.4) (382.4) (402.2) (402.2)
Lease liabililies {447.6) (447.6) {448.0) {448.0)
Mortgage debenture stock (1.4) {1.4) (1.4) (1.4)
Amounts owed by group undertakings 1,256.9 1,256.9 1,240.5 1,240U.5
Amounts owed 1o group undertakings (108.8) {108.8) ($19.7) (119.7)
Cash and cash equivalents 368.7 368.7 3171 3171
Derivative financial instruments held to manage the intcrest rate and currency profile:
Interest rate swap - liabilities (52.5) (52.5) (51.0) {51.0)
Cash flow sensitivity net {150.1) {150.1) (279.6) (279.6)

I he following valuation methods have been used at the end of above years:

The fair value of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables approximates to the bock value due to the
short-term maturity of these instruments.

The fair value of bands and dollar notes included in loans above is based on the quoted market price of comparable debt.
Other loans include term loans and lease liabilities. These are largely at variable interest rates and therefore the book
value normally equates the fair value.

The: fair value of interest rate swaps is based on the bank quotes at the reporting dates.

The fair value of mortgage debenture stocks is based on the quoted market value at the reporting dates. The fair value
of other investments is based on the year-end quoted price for listed investments and the estimated recoverable amaunt
for unlisted investments. The fair value of cash and bank overdrafts approximates to the book value due to the short-term
maturity of the instruments. The fair value of derivative financial instruments is based on the cash flows discounted to the
net present value using prevailing market rates and foreign currency rates at the reporting date.
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30.  Financial instruments (continuerl)
{a) Falr value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been
defined as follows:

. Level 1: quoted prices {unadjusted) in Active markets tor identical assets ¢or habilities
. Level 2. inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
gither directly (i @ as prices) or indirectly (i.e, derived trom prices)
. Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on abservable market data {unabservable inputs)
£ milion
Levell Level 2 Level3
2020
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Unsecured bond issues (6.8) - -
Financial liabilities through profit and loss
Derivative financial liabilities - (52.5) -
{6.8) {52.5) -
20119
Firrancial liabilities at amortised cost
Unseuwired bond iasucs H4) - _
Financial liabilities through profit and loss
Derivative financial liabilities - {51.0) -
{b.Y} {51.0) .

* The Group enfers intn derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps wilh various counterparties, principally
financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings. These derivative financial instruments are valued using
discounted rash flow valiiation technigues, which employ the use of market observable inputs such as credit quality of
counterparties and observable interest rate curves at each reparting date.

* During the year, tha Gronp has recognised losses on effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges
amounting to £3.5 million (2019: £13 8 million gain) in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Furthermore,
the Group has recognised loss on ineffective portion on cash flow hedges amounting to £6.0 million (2019: £2.3 million
gain) (refer to note 8).
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31. Significant group entities

The extant nf the Granp's nwnership in its various subsidiaries, equity accounted investees and their principal activities are
as tollows:

Country of Ownership

incorporation interest Business description
Subsidiaries
Chennai Container Terminal Private | td India 100% Container terminal operations
DP World Antwerp Terminals N.V. Belgium 100% Container terminal and ather
port operations
DP World Caltac S.A. Peru 100% Container terminal operations
DP Wuild Aushalia {POSN) Pty | td Auctralia 10N0% Hnlding Cinmpany
DF wWorld versaas Piy | hmiled Auatralia 100% Holding Company
DP World (POSN) RV Netherlands 100% Holding Company
DP World Red B.V. Netherlands 100% Holding Company
DP World Biue BV, Netherlands 100% Holding Company
DP World Maputo S.A Mozambique 60% Container terminal operations
India Gateway Terminal Private Limited India 85.02% Container terminal operations
Mundra International Caentainer Terminal Private India 100% Container terminal operations
Limited
Nhava Sheva {India) Gateway Terminal Private india 100% Container terminal operations
Limited
Nhava Sheva International Container Terminal Private India 100% Container terminal operations
Ltd
Container Rail Rnad Servicas Pyt Limited India India 100% Container rail freight operations
Container
P&Q Maritime Services Pty | tr Australia 100% Port and maritime services
P&O Maritime Services (PNG) 1 d Papua New 100% Port and maritime services
Guinea
Qasim Intemational Container Terminal Pakistan Ltd ~ Pakislan 65% Container terminal operations
Saigon Premier Container Terminal Vietnam 80% Container terminal operations
Southampton Containar Terminals Ltd England 100% Container terminal operations
Terminales Rio de la Plata SA Argentina 55.62% Container terminal operations
London Gateway Port Limited England 100% Container termunal operations
Remolcadores de Puerto y Altura, S.A. Spain §57.01% Port and mantime services
DP World Germersheim BV Netherlands 100% Container terrminal operations
DP World Saint John, Inc Canada 100% Container terminal operations
Joint Venfures and Associates
Antwerp Gateway NV Belgium 60%* Container terminal gperations
Laem Chabang International Terminal Co Ltd Thailand 34.5% Container terminal operations
Eurofos S. AR France 50% Container terminal operations
Gencrale de Manutention Portuaire 5.4 Franca 50% Container terminal operations
Qingdan Qinnwan Container Terminal Co. | td China 29% Container terminal operaticns
Asian Terminals Inc. Philippines 41.72% Container terminal operations
Portus Indico - Sociedade de Servicos Portuarios Ltd  UAE 48.5% Holding company
Visakha Container Terminals Private Limited India 268% Container terminal operations

* Although the Group has mare than (1% effective ownership interest in this entity, it is not treated as a subsidiary, but
instrarl treated As an equity accounted investee. The underlying shareholder agreement does not provide control to the
Group.

32. Subseguent events

No ather matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2020 that has significantly affected, or may significantly
affect the Group's operations, the results of those operations, or the Group's state of affairs in future financial years.
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As at 31 December 2020

£ onllan Ll
NNt 2020 2019
Nanwntrant assets
Tangible fixed agssts F 0.2 0.4
Right-of-use-asset G 2.2 2.8
Investment property 4.5 4.7
Investments in subsidiaries H 1,494.7 1,484.7
1,.001.6 1,502.6
Cunenl assets
Debtors 1 2,327.4 2,274.4
Cash and cash equivalents 2.8 3.7
2,330.2 2,2781
Total assets 3,831.8 3,780.7
Craditors: amounte talling Aira wathin ana ysar
Lease liabilities J (1.0) (1.0)
Other creditars L (781.7) (706.7)
(782.7) (707.7)
A‘Net current assets 1,547.5 1,570.4
Total assets less current liabilities 3,049.1 3,073.0
Lreaitors: amounts falling due in e than one
year
Other creditors L (1.0) (0.8)
Loans K (7.3) (7.5)
Lease liabililies J (2.8) (3.7)
Provisions M (6.3) (7.1)
Pension Eability Q (75.8) {80.5)
(33.2) {99.6)
Net assets 2,855.9 29734
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital N (843.2) {843.2)
Share premium accaount o] (815.4) (815.4)
Profit and koss account o) (1,287.3) {1,314.8)
Total equity {2,955.9) {2,973.4)

The accounts were approved by a duly authorised committee of the Board of directors and signed on its behalf
on 30 June 2021 hy

N -

Mohammad Alhashimy Mantraraj Budhdev
Director Director

The Peninsular and Oriental Steam Navigation Company — Company Number Z73
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2020

£ million
capil__premium __earings _ Tot8 Bty
Bakance as at 1 Janyary 2019 843.2 8i5.4 1,205.4 2,954.0
Profit for the year - . 1941 181
Pension obligation borne by ultimate Parent Campany - - -
Total other comprehensive incame, net of income tax N . 0.3 0.3
Total comprehensive income - - 19.4 19.4
1 ransactions with owners recorded direcuy in sguily - - - -
Dividends - - - -
At 31 December 2019 843.2 815.4 1,314.8 29734
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - . 3.7 3.7
Total other comprehensive lass, het of income tax - - (21.2) (21.2)
Total comprehensive Income - - (17.5) {17.5)
Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity
Dividends - - - -
At 31 December 2020 843.2 8154 1,297.3 2,955.9
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Notes to the Company financial statement

A. Basis of Preparation

Statement of compliance

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framewark ("FRS 101").

in preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements
of international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 ("Adopted IFRSs") but
makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage
of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken. The financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost
basis.

The Company's ultimate parent undertaking, DP World Limited, includes the Company In its censolidated financial
statements. The consalidated financial statements of DP World Limited are prepared in accordance with IFRS and are filed
with the Dubai international Financia! Centre. The financial statements are available to the public and may be obtained from
16 Palace Street, London SW1E 5JQ, United Kingdom.

Disclosure exemptions

In these financial statements, the Company has applied exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of the following
disclosures:

- A cash flow statcment and related notes;

- Comparative period reconciliations tor share capital, tangible tixed assets, and investments;
- Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries;

- Disclosures in respect of capital management; and

- Disclosures required by IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures

- The effects of new but not yet effactive IFRSs

Going concern

The Directors consider that the Company's basis of preparation as a going concem is integrally linked to the Group and its
position. Therefore, the Directors have considered the Company not only on a standalone basis but also in the context of
the Group.

The Company has within current receivables an amount of £2,310.8 million (2019: £2,258.5 million) due from its parent
companies and fellow subsidiaries and believe these to be recoverable.

The Board of Directors remain satisfied with the Company's funding and liquidity position. At 31 December 2020, the
Company had net debt of £4.5 miltion {2019: £3.8 million) and had no committed borrowing facilities (2019: nil),

As disclosed in Nate 2{c.) to the consolidated financial statements, the appearance of COVID-19 has however introduced
additional risk and uncertainty which may impact the future trading performance and liquidity of the Group. This could result
in the mandatory closure of ports, a reduction in volumes and lower levels of new business being generated, as well as the
likelihood of slower cash receipts. As the situation and uncertainty associated with the COVID-18 pandemic continues to
evolve, there remains the potential tor the creation ot additional future financial risk.

In response to this and its potential impact on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, Management has
prepared an additional downside scenario to madel the potential impact for the Group up until 31 December 2023, Under
this severe but plausible downside scenario, management projects a prolonged impact of the COVID19 on travel restrictions
and intemational trade for the remainder of 2021 and the first 4 months in 2022. In this scenario the Group is expected to
have a closing cash position of approximately 37% lower than in the base case scenario as at 31 December 2021 ang 31
December 2022 after laking mitigation actions, principally related to rescheduling of uncommitted future capital expenditure.
The Group would continue to operate within all relevant financial covenants.
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Notes to the Company financial statement (continued)

A. Basis of Preparation (Continued)

On this bass, the board has a reasonable expectation that the (Group has adequate resources to manage its business risks
successfully and continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, the board is of the view that the going
concern assumption is appropriate and as such the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on this basis.

Functional currency

The functional currency of the Company is sterling. All financial information presented in Sterling is rounded to the nearest
million.

B. Accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently in the year presented in the financial statements and
have been applied consistently by the Company.

Farecign currency transactions

Transaction in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the exchange rate ruling on the date of the transaction. Monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange
rate at that date and exchange differences, if any, are recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary tems in a toraign currency that are measured at historical cost are translated to the functional currency using
the exchange rate at the date of initial transaction and is not retranslated at a later date. Non-monetary items that are
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the date
whien e fal valueg was delennined.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss,
except for differences arising an the retranslation of available-for-sale equity instruments, of a financial liability designated
as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation, or qualifying cash flow hedges, which are recognised directly in
statement of other comprehensive income.

Tangible fixed assets

These assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any provision for impaimment. Assets canstructed by the
Company are depreciated from the date that the agsets are available for uge.

Provision for any impairment in value of other fixed assets is made in the profit and oss account.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of these assets to estimated residual value, on a straight line basis over the
expected useful life of the asset concerned. The expected useful lives of property and other fixed assets (reported within

plant #nd machinery, fletlires and AMings ) vary np Ta an yaars

The estimated useful lives of assets are as follows:

Assets Useful life (years}
Buildings 5-40
Plaitt and Machinery 3 25
Fixtures & Fittings 3-25

Interest incurred in respect of assets under construction is capitalised into the cost of the asset concemed.
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Notes to the Company financial statement (continued)

B. Accounting policies (continued)

Investment properties

Investment property is measured initially at cost including any related transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment
property is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. Depreciation is calculated to write off the
cost of the asset to estimated residual value, on a straight line basis over the expected useful life of the asset. The estimated

useful live is as follows:
Asset Useful life {years)

Buildings 5-40

At 31 December 2020, the fair value of investment property was £4.6million,

Investment in subsidiaries

Investment in subsidiaties are initially measured at historic cost, including transaction costs, and stated at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. |he Company assesses investments for impairment whenever events or changes in
cireumstances indicate that the carrying value of an investment may not be recoverable. If any such indication of impairment
exists, the Company makes an estimate of its recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an investment exceeds
its recoverable amount, the investment is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Financial instruments
Financial assets

Classification, initial recognition and megsurement

Under IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, on initial recognition, the Company classifies and measures its financial assets in the
following categories

= Amortised cost;
= Fair value through other comprehensive income ('FVOCI'); or
+  Fair value through profit or loss ({FVTPL').

| he classihcation depends an the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the
rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset are transferred and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

Impairment of non-derivative financial assets

The Company assesses, on a farward-looking basis the expected credit losses ('ECLs') applicable to its financial assets measured
al armontised cost. The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to litelime ECLs. When determining whether the
credit risk ot a hnancial asset has ncreased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Company considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company's historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-locking information.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs s the maximum cantractual pericd over which the Company is exposed to
credit risk.
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B. Acconnting palicies (rontinned}

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Classification, initial recognition and measurement

The Company's financial instruments include non-derivative financial liabilities comprising of trade and other payables
including amounts owed to group undertakings and interest-bearing bamrowings. All non-derivative financial liabilities are
recagnised initially at fair value less any directly atiributable transaction costs. The Company classifies all its non-derivative
financial liabilities as financial liabilities to be carried at amortised cost using effective interest method.

The subsequent measurement of non-derivative financial liabilies is carried at the amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged ar cancelled or expired.
lhe Company also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability
are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

Financial guarantees

This is where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of subsidiaries, joint
ventures or associates. The Company considers these to be insurance arrangements, and accounts for them as such. In this
respect, the Company treats the guarantee confract as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the
Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit and loss account
except to the extent that 1t relates to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income, in which case it is
recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

Curren! lax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temperary differences between the carrying amaunts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit ather than in a business combination, and
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. A deferred tax asset is
recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary
difference can be utilised.
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B. Accounting policies (continued)

Pravicions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic henefits will be required to settle the abligation, and where the
amount of the associated costs can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, provisions are calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money, and where
appropriate the risks specitic to the liability.

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Company from a contract are
lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease If the conhtract conveys the right to control the use of an identiied asset tor a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Company allocates the consideration in the contract to the
lease and non-lease compaonents based on therr relative stand-alone prices.

Company as a lessee

The company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is
imtially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liahility adjusted for any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life or the lease term on a straight-line
basis. If the Company is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset's useful life. The right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain
remeasurements of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an
expense in statement of profit or loss.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company's incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

. fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

. amaunts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

. the exercise price under a purchase aption if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option, lease
payments in an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extensian option

. penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which
is generally the case for leases in the group, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual
lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
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B. Accounting policies (continued)
Company as a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Company’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option ar if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the camrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The company presents right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately on statement of financial position,

Variable lease payments that depend on revenue and output are recognized in statement of profit or loss in the period in which
the condition that triggers those payments occurs.

Pensions
Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan in which the company pays the fixed contribution to a separate
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Contributions, including lump sum payments,
in respect of defined contribution pension schemes and multi-employer defined benefit schemes where it is not possible to
identify the Company’s share of the scheme, are charged to the profit and loss account as they fall due.

Defined benefit plans
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan.

The Company's net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating
the amount of future benefit that employees have eamed in retum for their service in the current and prior perieds. That
benefit is discounted to determine the present value, and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The calculation is
performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting
date on AA credit rated bonds that have matunty dates approximating to the terms of the Company’s obligations.

When the actuarfal calculation results in a benefit to the Company, the recognised asset is limited to the present value of
economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.
In order to calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any minimum funding requirements
that apply to any plan in the Company. An econamic benefit is available to the Company if it is realisable during the life of
the plan, ar on settlement of the plan liabilities.

Where the present value of the deficit contributions exceeds the 1AS 19 deficit an additional liability is recognised.

Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liahility, which comprise of actuarial gains and losses, the retumn on plan assets
(excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest) are recognised directly in statement of other
comprehensive income. The Company determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability
(asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit abligation at the beginning of the
annual period to the then-net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit
liability {asset) during the period as result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses
related to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss,

When the benefits of a plan are ¢changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to past
service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The Company recognise gains and
losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the setflement occurs.
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C. Audit fees

The Company's audit fee paid to its principal auditors, KPMG LLP was £127,962 (2019: £200,000), and non-audit fee was
£nil (2019 £52,000).

D. Dividends

No dividend was declared during the year (2019 £nil).

E. Profit for the financial year
The profit for the financial year, being the profit on ordinary activities after taxation, was £3.7 million (2018 profit of £19.1
milltari ),

F. Tangible hixed assets

£ million £ mitlion £ million
Plant and Fixture & Fittings Total
machinery
Cost

At 1 January 2020 0.7 2.6 33
Disposals {0.0) (0.4) {0.4)
At 31 December 2020 0.7 2.2 29

fccumulated dopreciation
AL 1 January 2020 (0.4) (2.9) (2.9)
Charge for the year 0.1} (0.1 (0.2)
Disposals - 0.4 0.4
At 31 December 2020 {0.5) {2.2) (2.7)
Net book amount at 31 December 2020 0.2 0.0 0.2
Net book amount at 31 Decamber 2019 0.3 0.1 0.4

G. Right-of-use assets
£ million £ million £ million
Land and Vehicles Total
Building
Cost

At 1 January 2020 33 0.1 3.4
At 31 December 2020 33 0.1 3.4

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2020 (0.6} . (0.6)
Chargo for the yoar (Ub) - (0.5}
At 31 December 2020 (1.2) - {1.2)
Carrying value at 31 December 2020 21 0.1 2.2
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G. Right-of-use assets (continued)

P&O Annual Report

The Company has lease contracts that provide the right to use office, property and vehicle. The above table represents
the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and related movements during the year.

Refer to note J for underlying lease liabilities with respact to above right-of-use assets.

Following are the amounts recognized in profit or loss

£ million £ million
2020 2019
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 0.6 0.6
Interest on lease liabilities (included in finance cast) 0.2 0.2
The lease payments made during the year amount to £1m {2319: £0.9m).
H. Investments
£ million £ million £ million
Investments Investments Total
In subsidiary in unlisted
companies caompanies
Cost
At beginning of year 2,287.3 - 2,287.3
Additions - - _
Disposals - - -
At 31 December 2020 2,287.3 - 2,267.3
Provisions
At beginning of year {792.6) - (792.6)
Charge for the year - - -
At 31 December 2020 (792.6) - (792.8)
Net Investment at 31 December 2020 1,494.7 - 1,494.7
Net Investment at 31 December 2019 1,494.7 - 1,494.7
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H. Investments (continued)

Investment in Subsidiary Companies

The following are subsidiary undertakings of the Company, the investments in which are recognised as investments in subsidiary

companies.

Subsidiay underiakings

Beaufort Insurance Company Limited

British India Steam Navigatian Campany | imitad
DP World (POSN) B.V.

DF Warld Australia {POSN) Pty Lid

DP World Investments FZE

DP World Limited

DP World Logistics Europe GmbH

P World Maritime B.V.

DF World Red BV

European Ferries Limited

London Gateway Limited

London Gateway Logistics Park Davelopment Limited
London Gateway Logistics Park Management Limited
London Gateway Port Holdings Limited

London Gateway Services Limited

P&0 Bulk Shipping Limited

P&0 Delaware Holdings LLC

F&C Duver (Huldings) Litiwy

&0 Overseas Holdings Limited

280 Pension Funds Investments Limited

P&O Ports Limited

P&0O Properties Internaticnal Limited

P&0 Scottish Ferries Limited

P&0 Tankships Investments Limited

POETS Fleet Management Limitad

Southampton Container Terminals Limited

Lountry ot
incorporation

United Kingdom
Inited Kingdnm
Netherlands
Australia

United Arab Emirates
Urited Kingdom
Germany
Natherlands
Netherlands
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United States
Lirited Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdem
United Kingdom

United Kingdom
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MPercentage ot share
capital owned by the
Company

100.00%
100.00%
94.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
94.00%
100 .00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
10U.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.60%

100.00%

Class of shares

QOrdinary shares and Preference shares
QOrdinary charse
Ordinary-B shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
COrdinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary-B shares
Urdinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Qrdinary shares
Qrdinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Crdinary shares
Crdinary shares
Qrdinary shares

Ordinary shares
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H. Investments (continued)

Investment in Subsidiary Companies

The following subsidiaries have elected the audit exemption (section 479A of the Companies Act 2008} where a parent
Company has provided a guarantee for all liabilities owing by the respective entities:

Company Registered Number
British India Steam Navigation Campany Limited 0000133

European Feries Limited 0301725

P&O Dover {Holdings) Limited (03492979

P& Overseas Holdings Limited 00537728

P&0O Properties International Limited 01099229

P&C Scottish Ferries Limited 00071375

Londan Gateway Logistics Park Development Limited 6766019

London Gateway Services Limited 6766022

The following subsidiaries have elected the audit exemption (section 480 of the Companies Act 2006) where the following
subsidiaries have been dormant since the end of the previous financial year,

Company Registered
number

DP World Limited 6291123

P&0 Scoattish Ferries Ship Management Limited 5C10350

P&O Tankships Investments Limited 21685

P&0 Ports Limited 00751061

Paets Flert Management Limited 161443

P& Bulk Shipping Limited 00258349
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I. Debtors
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
2020 Falling due 2019 Falling due
in more in more
withinone than one within  than one
year year Total onhe year year Total
Trade Debtors 1.5 - 1.5 104 - 10.4
Other receivables 5.0 - 5.0 5.4 - 5.4
Prepayinentls and deciued incorneg 0.1 - 0.1 0.1 - 0.1
Amounts awed by greup undertakings 2,310.8 - 23108 2,258.5 - 22585
2,3274 - 2,327.4 2,274.4 - 2,274.4
]. Leases
Company as a lessee
£ million £ million
2020 2019
At 1 January 4.7 -
Upan adoption of IFRS16 (0.1) 5.2
Payments (1.0} (0.8)
Additions - 0.2
Dispaosal (0.0} -
Interest expense 0.2 0.2
Al 3¢ Decemnben 2029 3.8 4.7
Lease liabilities classified as
Non-current 2.8 3.7
Current 1.0 1.0
Total 3.3 4.7

Reafar to nata {5 far right-nf-11se Aasaete
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K. Loans
£ million £ million
2020 2019
Creditors falling due more than one year
US dollar bonds 2027 (unsecured) 59 6.1
Mortgage debentures stocks 1.4 1.4
7.3 7.5
Terms and debl iepayinenl schedule
£ million £ million £ million £ million
Currency Nominal Year of Face Carrying Face GCarrying
interest maturity value amount value amount
rate
2020 2020 2019 2019
US dollar bonds 2027 (unsecured)  USD 7.9% 2027 59 5.9 6.1 6.1
Morigage debentures stocks GBP 3.5% Undated 14 14 1.4 1.4
7.3 7.3 7.5 7.5
L. Creditors
£ million £ millinn £ million £ million £ million £ million
2020 Falling due 2019 Falling due
in mare in more
than one than one
within one year year Total within one year year Total
Amounts owed to subsidiaries 776.4 7764 700.9 700.9
Social security & other
taxation 0.2 0.2 04 0.4
Other unsecured creditors 0.4 0.4 0.6 0.6
Accruals and deferred income 4.7 1.0 5.7 4.8 0.8 56
781.7 1.0 782.7 706.7 03 707.5
M. Provisions
£ million £ million
2020 2019
At 1 January 71 6.6
Utilized during the year (0.5} (0.1)
Reclassified during the year - 0.6
Amounts adjusted to the incoume statement (0.2}
613 7.1

Proviginn FR 3 millinn (2(119: £7.1 millign)is in relation to exposures to claims from former employees working in environments
that used to contain asbestos. Liabilities expected to be incurred are in part covered by insurance. Any expected recaveries
are included within other receivables.
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N. Share capital

The allotted. called up and tully paid share capital is as follows:

£ million £ million
2020 2019
Issued share capital {843.2 million ardinary shares of £1 each} 843.2 843.2
0. Reserves
£ million
Share Profit and Total
premium loss
account account
At 1 January 2020 815.4 1,314.8 2,130.2
Movement in defined benefit pension schemes recognized in equity - (21.2) (21.2)
Puofit fur the financial year - 3.7 37
At 31 December 2020 8154 1,297.3 21127
P. Directors’ emoluments
£ thousand
2020 2019
Directors" emoluments 1,838 1,232
Company contributions to meney purchase pension schemes 43 32
1,881 1,264
Ratirement henefits are ancming to the follnwing niimher of directors under;
2020 2019
Money purchase schemes 1 1
1 1

The aqqregate emoluments of the highest paid director were £1,463,492 (2019: The aggregate emoluments of the
nighest paid director were £1,050,845 and no pension contribution was made on his behalfy.

The Directors hold a variety of roles and responsibilities with the ultimate parent Group and not all are directly
employed by the Company. Therefore, where necessary, an estimation has been made of the proportion of their
remuneration that relates to qualifying services for the Company.
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Notes to the Company financial statement {continued)

Q. Pensions

The Company participates in a number of pension schemes throughout the world, mostly concentrated in the United
Kingdam.

The board of a pension scheme in the UK is required by law to act in the best interests of the fund participants and is
responsible for sefting certain policies (e.g. investment, contributions and indexation policies) and determining recovery
plans, if appropriate.

These defined benefit schemes expose the Company to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency risk, interest rate
risk and markat (investmeant) risk In addition, by participating in certain multi-employer industry schemas, the Company
can he expnsed tn a pro-rata share of Ihe credit risk of other participating employers.

The Company has nn ineonditional right to refund of surplus of assets under the rules of the P&QO Pension Schemes. Upan
winding up of the Scheme, if any surplus exists will be settled in accordance with the pension’s legislation in place at that
time. The Company has recognized net pension obligation under the relevant accounting rules.

P&O Pension Scheme

This principal scheme is Incated in the [K (the "P&Q UK Scheme”). The P&O UK Scheme is a funded defined benefit
scheme and was closed to routine new members on 1 January 2002 and to future accrual on 31 December 2015. The
pension fund is legally separated from the Company and managed by a Trustee board. The assets of the scheme are
managed on behalf of the Trustes by independent tund managars

Formal actuariat valuatinns nf the P&O LIK scheme are normally carried out triennially by qualified independent actuaries,
the mast recent valuation was at 31 March 2019 on a market related basis. The deficit on a statutory funding objectives
basis was GBP 98 million. The Company agreed with the Trustee to a new monthly deficit payment plan effective from 1
April 2019 as follows:

Payment Dates Monthly paymenis
From 1 Aprl 2013 to 31 March 2020 3RP it A millinn
From 1 April 2020 to 31 May 2020 GBP 1.3 million
In May 2020 GBP 6.5 million (one off lump sum)
From 1 June 2020 ta 31 March 2021 GBP 2.5 million
L rom & Apnl JUdt te 31 Marcn 2u2s ] anr 1.3 million

In Necamber 2007, as part of a process developed with the Company to de-risk the pension scheme, the Trustee transferred
GBP 800 million of P&O LIK Scheme assets to Patermnoster (UK) Ltd, in exchange for a bulk annuity insurance policy to
ensure that the assets (in the Company's statement of financial position and in the Scheme) will always be equal to the
current value of the liability of the pensions in payment at 30 June 2007, thus removing the funding risks for these liabilities,

Merchant Navy Officers’ Pension Fund Scheme {"MNOPF")

The Company participates in various industry multi-employer schemes in the UK. These generally have assets held in
separate trustee administered funds which are legally separated from the Company.

The MNOPF Scheme is an industry wide multi-employer defined benefit scheme in which officers employed by the
Company have participated. The scheme has been closed to further benefit accruai from 31 March 2016.

The most recent formal actuarial valuation of the New Section of MNOPF Scheme was camied qut as at 31 March 2019,
This resulted in a deficit of USD 8.6 million. The Trustee Board believe their investment strategy will address this dehcit and
therefore has not issued deficit contribution notices to employers in respect of the 2019 actuarial valuation.

Fnllnwing eartiar actuarial valuations in 2009, 2012 and 2015 the Trustee and Employers agreed contributions to be paid
to the Section hy partiripating employers over the period to 30 September 2023. These contributions included an allowance
for the impant of irrecovarable contributions in respect of companies no longer in existence or not able ta pay their share.

The Company's share of the net deficit of the MNOPF Scheme at 31 December 2020 is estimated at 5.21%.
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Q. Pensions (continued)

Merchant Navy Ratings’ Pension Fund Scheme ("MNRPF")

Tha MNRPF Scheme is an industry wide multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme in which sea staff employed by
the Company have participated. The scheme has a significant funding deficit and has been closed to further benefit accrual
from 2001.

Ceartain Companies, which are no longer current employers in the MNRPF Scheme had settled their statutory debt obligation
and were not considared tn have any legal obligation with respect to the on-going deficit in the fund. However, following a
legai challenge, by Stena Line Limited, the High Court decided that the Trustee could require all employers that had ever
participated in the scheme to make contribulions to fund the deficit. Although the Company appealed, the decision was not
overturned.

The maost recent formal actuarial valuation was carried out as at 31 March 2017, The deficit contributions arising from the
valuation tatalled GBP 7.7 millian. The contributions due to the Scheme in respect of this valuation will be paid over the
period to 31 October 2023.

For the Company, aggregated outstanding contributions from these valuations are payable as follows:

. 2021: GBP 4.4 million
2022 to 2025: GBP 9.9 million

The Trustee set the payment terms for each participating employer in accordance with the Trustee's Contribution Collection
Policy which includes credit vetting.

The outcome of the MNRPF Scheme's 2020 triennial actuarial valuation is still to be finalised.

Muiring the yaar, MNRPF Scheme has sought direction for the UK Court regarding the correct benefit provision to its
srhema mamhers in respect of lll Health Early Retirement. The Case was due to be heard in November 2020 but was
adjourned until July 2021 whilst representatives from the Trustee Board, the Employers and the Members/employees
ennsidered A Seftleament proposal. The outcome of either the Court direction or the Settlement proposal is unknown to
the Company at the current time, but the Company's share of potential additional liability is estimated to be in the range
of USD Nil v GBP 22,14 rmitliun.

The Company's share of the net deficit of the MNRPF at 31 December 2020 is estimated at 7,38%.

The amounts recognised in the balance sheel are as follows

2020 2019
Present value of abligations (1,647.6) (1,548.2)
Irrecoverable surplus (effect of asset ceiling) (62.1) (51.5)
Fair valug of plan assets 1,633.9 1,519.2
rel abilivy deficl {75 R) (HL.5)
Related deferred tax asset - -
Net liability {75.8) (80,5)
Amounts In the balance sheet
Non-current Liabilities (75.8) (80.5)
Net liahility (75.8) (80.5) -~

The defined pension benefit schemes of GBP 75.8 million (2019: £80.5 million} is in respect of Company's three schemes
shown on page 96.

The re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability recognized in the statement of other comprehensive income is as
tollows:
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Q. Pensions (continued)

‘The re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability recognized in the statement of other comprehensive income is as
follows:

2020 2018
Actuanal gaini{loss) recagnised in the year {143.2) (153.7)
Raturn an plan asspts lrssprf (greater) than the disconnt rate 132.0 123.9
Change in share in multi-employer scheme - (€.2)
Movenent in minimun funding liability (10.0) 0.4
(21.2) 0.3
The pensiun vusls lur delined benefit achames are aa tollows:
2020 2019
Employer's past service cost* {3.2) -
Gain due to settlements/curtailments - -
Administration costs (2.2) {2.5)
Total charge to operating profit (5.4) {2.5)
Net Interest on net defined benefit liabitity (1.2} {2.4)
Total expenses recognised in the income statement (6.8) (4.9)

¥ [n 2020, this includes GBP 3.0 million additional costs arising in respect of “guaranteed minimum pension” (GMP) based
on a landmark High Canrt judgment in the LK

Actuarial valuations and assumptions

The latest valuations of the defined benefit schemes have been updated to 31 December 2020 by qualified independent
actuaries. The principal assumptions are included in the table below.

The assumptions used by the actuaries are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions, which,
due to the timescale covered, may nat necessarily be borne out in practice.

P&O UK Scheme MNOPF Scherme MNRPF Scheme

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Disentint rates 1.25% 1.95% 1.25% 1.95% 1.25% 1.95%

Discount rates - Bulk Annuity Asset 1.15% 1.85% nja nla n/a n/a

Fxpeied ples of salay incieasey © n/a nfa nia n/a n/a na
Pension increases:

- Deferment 2.00% 3.00% 2.00% 2.26% 2.00% 2.25%

- Payment 2.80% 3.00% 2.75% 3.15% 2.75% 3.15%

Inflation 2.80% 3.25% 2.80% 3.25% 2.80% 3.25%

* The P&O UK Scheme and MNOPF were closed to future accrual as at 31 December 2018, so future pay increases are not
refevant.
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Q. Pensions (continued)
Actiarial valuatinnas and assumptinna

In the current year, the methodology for determining the Retail Price Index {RPI) assumption used for the valuation of the
Defined Benefit Pension Scheme Obligation changed, resulting in an RP{ of 2.8% (compared to an RPI of 3.2% under the
old methodology). However, the resulting decrease in the DBO has no impact on the net defined benefit pension liability
on the balance sheet as at 31 December 2020, This is because the impact is offset by an equal and opposite change to
the minimum funding liability.

Reasonably possible changes to one of the actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant (in practice, this
is unlikely to ocour, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated), would have increased the net defined
benefit liability as at 31 December 2020 by the amounts shown below:

£ million
2020 2019
N 1% reduction in discaunt rate 0.1 0.3
0.1% increase in inflation assumption and related assumptions - 3.9
0.25% p.a. increase in the long term rate of mortality improvement - 49
0.1 9.1
The schemes’ strategic asset allocations across the sectors of the main asset classes are:
P&0 UK WMNOPF MNRPF Total Falr
Scheime Scheme Schemes value
£'millon £'million £'million £'million
2020
t
Fquities 185.9 335 a3 2287
Bonds 4277 94.9 58.7 5813
Lther 105.2 - - 105.2
Value of insured pensioner liability 718.7 - ) 7187
1,437.5 128.4 68.0 1,633.9
2019
Equities 178.6 374 6.9 222.9
Rnnel
nas 218.8 88.1 54.8 361.7
Other 2128 . ; 212.8
Value of insured pensioner liability 27 8 - ) 7218
1,332.0 125.5 617 1,519.2

With the exception of the insured pensioner liability all material investments have quoted prices in active markets.

The assumptions for pensianer longevity under both the P&O UK scheme and the MNOPF scheme are based on an
analysis of pensioner death trends under the respective schemes over many years.
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Q. Pensions (continued)

For illustration, the life expectancies for the two schemes at age 65 now and in the future are detailed in the table below.

Male Female
Age 65 Age 65 |r|‘ Age 65 Age 65 |n‘
20 years 20 years
NOW . now .
time time
2020
P&O UK scheme 228 24.5 250 26.7
MNRPF scheme 193 M.3 ns 246
MNOPF scheme 21.9 24.0 24.0 26.2
2019
BT 1R wed
P& LR vehiwimnea 228 245 24.9 26.7
MNRPF scheme 19.2 21.2 224 24.5
MNOPF scheme 218 2349 239 26.0

At 31 December 2020 the weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 14.3 years (2018: 14.9 years).
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Q. Pensions (continued)

Reconciliation of the opening and closing present value of defined benefit obligations and fair value of scheme assets for
the period ended 31 December 2020:

£ millian
P&O UK MNOPF MNRPF Total
Scheme Scheme  Scheme
Miesent value of obligation at 1 January 2020 (1,370.0) (116.3y (61.9) {1.548.2)
Emplover's past service gost* (3.0 {©.1) .0 (3.2)
Interest cost on Defined Benefit Obligation (26.7) (2.0) (1.2) (29.9)
Actuarial gaind{laGs)  expanonad 1.0 {0.5) 0.5
Actuarial gain/(loss) - demographic assumptions (31.0) (0.5) 0.7) (32.2)
Actuarial gain/(loss) - financial assumptions (99.5) (7.5) (4.5) (111.5)
Gain/(Loss) due to change in share - - - -
Actual benefit paid 68.2 6.0 57 76.9
Present value of obligation at 31 December 2020 {1,462.0) (119.4) (66.2) (1,647.6)
Fair value of scheme assets at 1 January 2020 1,332.0 126.5 81.7 1,610.2
Interest income on assels 259 22 12 29.3
Return on plan assets (greater)/less than the dissount rate 120.7 6.9 44 132.0
Actual employer contributions 287 - 38 325
Aclual benent pald (68.2) ®.0) @7 (76.9)
Gain/(Loss) due 1o ¢hange in share - - - -
Administration costs incurred during period (1.6) ©.2) (0.4) 2.2)
Fair value of scheme assets at
31 December 2020 1,437.5 128.4 68.0 1,633.9
Irrecoverable surplus at 1 Jancary 2020 (32.3) (9.2) {10.04 (51.5)
Interest cost on irrecoverable surplus (0.3) .1y 0.2) {0.6)
Change in irrecoverable surplus (10.7) 0.3 0.4 {10.0)
Irrecoverable surplus at 31 December 202U 43.3) 9.0) {0.8) (62.1)
Letined benent schemes net habihities at 31 Uecember 2020 (7.0} 0.0 (0.0) (75.0)

* This relates to additional costs arising in respect of “guaranteed minimum pension” (GMP) based on a landmark High
Court judgment in the UK
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Reconciliation of the apening and closing present value of defined benefit obligations and fair value of scheme assets for the

perod ended 31 December 2U1Y:

£ millign
P&0O UK MNOPF MNRPF Total
Scheme Scheme Scheme o
Present value of obligation at 1 January 2019 {1,278.8) (17.1) (56.6) {1,452.5)
Current service cost - - - -
Employer's past sarvice cost* - - - -
Interest cost on Defined Benefit Obligation (35.3) (3.0) (1.8 (39.9)
Actuaral gaind(loss) - cxporicnce 18.5 (0.6) (0.1) 17.8
Actuarial gain/(loss) - demographic assumptions (15.7) 50 (10.7)
Actuarial gaini(lese)  financial ascumntions {144 4 {1y thh) { thel Ay
Gain/(Loss) due fo change in share - 23 - 43
Actual benefit paid 81.6 6.1 29 936
Present value of obligation at 31 December 2019 (1,370.0) (116.3) (61.9) (1,548.2)
Fair value of scheme assets at 1 January 2019 1,266.4 1253 51.8 1,443.5
Interest income on assets 25.0 2.2 15 39.7
Return an plan assets (greater)/less than the discount rate 108.1 78 8.0 1239
Actual employoer cantributions 9.0 - 3.8 128
Acludl benefit paid (84.6) 6.1) (2.9) (93.6)
Gain/(Loss) due to change in share - 4.6) - “@6)
Settlement - - - -
Administration costs incurred during period (1.9) ©.1) (0.5) (2.5)
Fair value of scheme assets at
31 December 2019 1,332.0 125.5 61.7 1,519.2
Irrecoverable surplus at 1 January 2019 (62.8) (8.2) (8.7) (79.7)
Interest cost on irrecoverable surplus (1.8) {0.2) (©.2) (2.2)
Change in irrecoverable surplus 323 (0.8) £1.1) 30.4
Irrecoverable surplus al 31 December 2018 {32.3) @.2) {10.0) (51.5)
Defined benefit schemes net liabilities at 31 December 2019 {70.3) 0.4 {10.2) {80.5)
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Q. Pensions (continued)

The below table shows the mavement in minimum funding liability.

£ million
2020 2018
Minimum funding liability as on 1 January {51.5) {79.7)
Interest cost on minimum funding liability {0.8) {2.2)
Actuarial movement during the year {10.0) 304
Minimum tunding hability as on 31 December {62 1) {51 R}
It is anticipated that the company will make the following cash contributions to the pension schemes in 2021:

£ miflion
P&0O UK MNOPF MNRPF Total

Scheme Scheme  Scheme
Pension scheme contnbuhons 19.2 0.0 4.4 238

R. Contingent liabilities

The company has no centingent liability {2019: none).
S. Controlling party
Ultimate holding company

In the opinion of the directors the ultimate controliing parent undertaking as at 31 December 2020 was Part & Free Zone
World FZE, which owns 100% of DP World Limited. Port & Free Zone World FZE is a wholly owned subsidiary of Dubai
World Corporation, which is the ultimate parent company of the Company, but which does not exert control over the
Company.

I he largest Lompany of companies tar which consolidated tinancial statements are prepared and in which the company is
consolidated is DP World Limited. The Company’s immediate parent undertaking is Thunder FZE.
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The Company's ownership in various related undertakings has been disclosed in note H. In accordance with section 408 of the
companies Act 2006, a full list of related undertakings, the country of incarporation, percentage of share capital and registered
address owned by the Company as at 31 December 2020 is disclosed below.

Name

Aberlour Holding Campany, Inc.
Anderson Hughes Pty Ltd

Antwerp Gateway NV

ARC Fleet Holding Corparation
ARC Towage Limited

Ascot SAS

Asian Terminals, Inc

ATI Batangas, Inc

ATl Holdings, Inc.

Aflantic Reyser Limited

Basswick Pty Limited

Beaufort Insurance Company Limited

Bengal Port Private Limited

British India Steam Navigation Company
Limited
Candesinia, S.L.

Carpentaria Shipping Services Pty Ltd

Chennai Container Terminal Pvt. Ltd.

Community Network Services Limited

Cantainer Rail Road Services Pvt. Ltd.

Country of
incorporation

Philippines
Australia

Belgium

Barbados
Trinidad and
lobago
France
Philippines
Philippines
Philippines
Canada

Auslralia

United
Kingdom

India

United
Kingdom
Spain

Australia
India
United

Kingdom
India

Percentage
of share
capital
owned by
the Group
16.0%
94.0%

60.0%

25.5%
26.0%
25.0%
50.5%
50.1%
100.0%
28.6%
100.0%

100.0%

44.5%

100.0%
28.6%
50.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

99

Class of
shares

Preferred
shares
Ordinary
charos
Category
N shares
and P
shares
Common
shares
Ordinary
.:'il 1HICS
Ordinary
shares
Common
shares
Cammon
shares
Common
shares
Comman
shares

Ordinary
Shares
Crdinary
shares and
Cumulative
Preterence
shares
Ordinary
Equity
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary-A
shares
Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
Equity
shares

Registered Address

7th Floor, STI Holdings Center, 6764 Ayala
Avenue, Makati City, Metro Manila, Philippines
Level 4, 70 City Road , Scuthbank VIC 3008,
Augtralia

Nieuwe Westweg haven 742, 2040 Antwerpen,
Belgium

The Grove, 21 Pine Road, Belleville, St.
Michael, BB11113, Barhadas

9 Main Read, Point Fortin, Trinidad and
Tubauu

Av Du 16eme Port, 76600, Le Havre, France

A. Bonifacio Drive,, Port Area, Manila, 1018,
Philippines

Port of Batangas, Sta. Clara, Batangas City,
4200, Philippines

3rd Flaor, SSHG Law Centre, 105 Paseo de
Roxas, Makati City, Philippines

300 Union Street, Saint John NB E2L 422,
Canada

Level 21, 400 George Street, Sydney NSW
200U, Australia

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5.Q, United
Kingdom

Sagar Estate, 4th Floor, 2,, Clive Ghat Street,,
Kolikata, West Bengal, 700001, India

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ, United
Kingdom

Calle Dactor Fleming 24, 3° B, 28036, Madrid,
Spain

Level 4, 70 City Road , Southbank VIC 3006,

Australia

Darabshaw House, Level 1, Narottam Morarji

Road, Ballard Estate, Mumbai, Maharashtra,

400001, India

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ, United
Kingdom

Darabshaw House, Level 1, Narottam Morarji
Road, Ballard Estate, Mumbai, Maharashtra,

400001, India
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T. Related undertakings (continued)

Name

Daven Haldings, Inc

DP World (POSN) B.V.

DP World Antwerp Container Services NV
DP World Antwerp Customs Desk NV

DP World Antwerp Empty Depot Services
DP World Antwerp Holding N\,

DP World Antwerp Tenminals N.V.

DP World ANZ Ports (Australia) Pty
Limited

DP World Australia {investmenits) Ply Ltd

DP World Australia {POAL) Pty Ltd

DP World Australia (FOSN} Pty Ltd
DP World Blue B.V

DP World Callas S.R.L.

DP World East Canada B.V.,

DP World Germersheim B.V,

DP World Germersheim Beteiligungs
GmbH

DP World Germersheim GmbH & Co. KG

DP World Investments FZE

DP World Liege NV

Country of
incorporation

Philippines

Netherlands
Belgium
Belgium
Belgium
Belgium
Belgium
Australia
Australia

Australia

Australia
MNetherdands

Peru

MNetheriands

Netherlands

Germany
Germany
United Arab

Emirates
Belgium

Percentage
of share
capital
owred by
the Group
16.0%
94.0%
100.0%
50.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
94.0%
100.0%

100.C%

100.0%
100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

94,0%

9.4%
9.4%
100.0%

100.0%

100

Class of
shares

Preferred
shares

Qrdinary-B
shares
OCrdinary
shares
Ordinary
shiares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Class A, Class
B andclass B
Ordinary
sharag
Ordinary
shares
ordinary
shares
Participaciones
shares

Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Ordinary B
shares
Ordinary B
shares
Ordinary
shares

Class A, Class
B and class B
Ordinary
chares
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Registered Address

7th Floor, STI Holdings Center, 6764 Ayala
Avenue, Makati City, Metro Manila,
Philippines

Albert Plesmanwegq 43G, 30838GB,
Rotterdam. Netherlands

Nieuwe Westweq Kaai 742, 2040 Antwerp,
Belyiuin

Nieuwe Westweg haven 742, 2040
Anlwepen, Belgiun

Nieuwe Westweg Kaai 742, 2040 Antwerp,
Belgium

Nieuwe Westweg haven 742, 2040
Antwerpen, Belgium

Nieuwe Westweq Kaai 742, 2040 Antwerp,
Belgium

Level 21, 400 George Street, Sydney NSW
2000, Auslralia

MLC Centre Level 40, 19-29 Martin Place,
Sydney NSW 2000, Australia

Level 21, 400 George Street, Sydney NSW
2000, Australia

MLC Centre Level 40, 19-29 Martin Place,
Sydney NSW 2000, Australia

Albert Plesmanweg 43G, 3088GB,
Rotterdam, Netherlands

DP World Callac S.R.L., Terminal Partuario
Muelle Sur, Avenida Manco Capac 113,
Callao 1, Peru

Albert Plesmanweg 43G, 3088GE,
Rotterdam, Nethertands

Smirmoffweg 3, PO Box 59138, 3088 HE
Rotterdam, 3008 PC Netherlands,
Netherlands

Woerthstrasse 13, 76726 Germersheim,
Germany

Woerthstrasse 13, 76726 Germersheim,
Germany

P.O. Bax 17000, Dubai, United Arab
Emirates

Rue de |a Resistance SN, 4100 SERAING,
Belgium
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T. Related undertakings (continued)

Name

DM World Limited

DP World Logistics Europe GmbH
DP World Maputo, SA
DP World Maritime B,V.

DP Warld Overseas Pty Limited

DP World Properties {Australia) Pty Limited
DP World Red B.V

DP World Saiqon Holdings Limited

DP World Saint John, Inc.

DP World Sokhna FZE

DP Waorld Sokhna SAE

Eastern Gateway Termminals Private Limited

Egyptian Container Handling Company

Eurofos SARL

Europe Atlantique Terminal SA
Europear Ferries Limited

Expert Terminal Services Limited
Fricue Pty Limited

Fritex Pty Limited

Country of
incorporation

United
Kingdom
Gemany
Mozambique

Metherlands

Australia

Australia
Netherlands
Virgin Islands,
British
Canada
United Arab
Emirates

Egypt

India

Egypt

France

France
United
Kingdom
Cyprus

Australia

Australia

Percentage
of share
capital
owned by
the Group
100.0%

100.0%
60.0%
94.0%

100.0%

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
0.2%

68.8%

0.2%

50.0%

32.5%
100.0%
50.0%
100.0%

100.0%

101

Class of
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
chareg
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary-
B shares
Class A
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Qrdinary
charas
Ordinary
shares
Common
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
Equity
charac
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
slhiaies
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
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Registered Address

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ, United
Kingdom

SchanzenstraBe 102, 40549 Dusseldorf,
Zermany

Terminal de Contentores, Porte de Maputo,
Maputa, Mazambique

Albert Plesmanweq 43G, 3088GB,
Rotterdam, Netherlands

'MLC Centre' Level 40, 19-29 Martin Place,
Sydney NSW 2000, Australia

MLC Centre Level 40, 19-29 Martin Place,
Sydney NSW 2000, Australia

Albert Plesmanweg 436G, 3088GB,
Rotterdam, Netherands

Belmont Chambers, PO Box 3443, Road
Town, Tortcla, British Virgin Islands

10 King Street West, Unit 8, Saint John NB
E2M 7Y5, Canada

P.O. Box 17000, Dubai, United Arab Emirates

Ain Sokhna, Sokhna Port, Suez, PO Box 133,
Faynt

Darabshaw House, Level 1, Narottam Morarji
Road, Ballard Estate, Mumbai, Maharashtra,
400001, India

Sokhna Port, Ain Sokhna, Administrative Bldg
no. 1, Suez, 133, Egypt

Secteur Graveleau , Terrninal Conteneurs |
Darse 2, 13270, FOS SUR MER/PORT
SAINT LOWIS, France

Av Du 16eme Port, 76600, Le Havre, France

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ, United
Kingdom
27 Gregory Afxentiou Street, Larnaca, Cyprus

Level 21, 400 George Street, Sydney NSW
2000, Australia
Level 21, 400 George Street, Sydney NSW
2000, Australia
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T. Related undertakings (continued)

Name Country of Percentage Class of Registered Address
incorparation of share shares
capital
owned by
the Group
Generate De Manutention Portuaire France 50.0% Ordinary Av Du 16eme Port, 76600, Le Havre, France
shares
Harbaurside Holdings Corparation Philippines 16.0% Preferred Tth Flaor, STI Holdings Center, 6764 Ayala
shares Avenue, Makati City, Metra Manila, Philippines
Havenbedrijf Antverpia NV Belgium 98.7% Ordinary Nieuwe Westweg haven 742, 2040 Antwerpen,
shares Belgium
Hindustan Ports Private Limited India 100.0% Ordinary Darabshaw House, Level 1, Narottam Morarji
shares Road, Ballard Estate, Mumbai, Maharashtra,
400001, India
India Gateway Terminal Private Limited India 85.0% Ordinary Administration Building, ICTT,, Vallarpadam
shares SEZ,, Emakulam, kerela, 682504, India
Internacional de Remolcadores Reyser, Spain 53.6% Ordinary Calle Doctor Fleming 24, 3° B, 28036, Madrid,
S0 shares Spain
Jeletrans SAS France 50.0% Ordinary Av Du 18eme Port, 76600, Le Havre, France
sharas
Laem Chabang International Terminal Ca. Thailand 32.4% Ordinary Laem Chabang Port, Terminal BS, Sriracha,
1td shares Chenburi, 20230, Thailand
Laem Chabanq Success Service Co. Lid Thailand 32.4% QOrdinary Laem Chabang Port, Terminal BS, Room
shares No.130 1st Floar, Thungsukia, Sriracha,
Chonburi, 20230, Thailand
Laing Investments Inc, United States ~ 50.0% Common 55 Waugh Drive, Suite 1111, Houston TX
shares 77007, United States
Laing Management Company United States 50.0% Cammaon 55 Waugh Drive, Suite 1111, Houston TX
shares 77007, United States
Liena Pty Limited Australia 100.0% Ordinary MLC Centre Level 40, 19-29 Martin Place,
shares Sydney NSW 2000, Australia
London Gateway Limited United 100.0% QOrdinary 16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ, United
IKingdam shargg Kingdom
Landen Gateway Logistics Limited United 100.0% Ordinary 16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ, United
Kingdom shares Kingdom
London Gateway Logistics Park United 100.0% Ordinary 16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ, United
Neavalnpment | imitad Kiargduin shares Kingdom
London Gateway Logistics Park United 100.0% Ordinary 16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ, United
Management Limited Kingdam shares Kingdorm
London Gateway Port Holdings Limited United 100.0% Ordinary 16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ), United
Kingdom shares Kingdom
Londan Gateway Port Limited United 100.0% Ordinary 16 Patace Street, London, SWHE 5JQ, United
Kingdom shares Kingdom
London Gateway Port Railway Limited United 100.0% Qrdinary 16 Palace Street, Londen, SW1E 5JQ, United
Kingdom shares Kingdom
London Gateway Servicas Limited United 100.0% Ordinary 16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ, United
Kingdam shares Kingdom
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Notes to the Company tinancial statement (continued)}

T. Related undertakings (continued)

Name

Mackinnon Mackenzie & Co. of Pakistan
(Private) Limited
Manutention Générale Méditerranéenna SA

Manutention Terminal Nord

Matthews Holdings Limited

Morray Holdings, Ing,

Mundra International Gontainer Terminal
Private Limited

Navigue — Empresa Mogambicana de

Navegagao, SARL
Network Financing B.V.

Nhava Sheva (India) Gateway Temninal
Private Limited

Nhava Sheva International Container
Terminal Pvi. Ltd,

One Stop Logistics Company Limited

P&O Bulk Shipping Limited
P&O CIL S.A.
P&Q Containers Pakistan (Private) Limited

P&O Delaware Holdings LLC

P&0O Dover (Haldings) Limited

P&O France S.A.S.

P& Garden City Investments B.V.
P&0O Management Services Phils., Inc,
P&O Maritime Holdings (Austratia) Pty

Limited
P&O Maritime Holdings Paraguay S.A.

GCountry of
incorporation

Pakistan

France

France

Bermuda

Philippines

India

Mozambique

Netherjands

India

India

Thatland

United
Kingdom
Paraguay
Pakistan
United States
United
Kingdom
France
Netherlands
Philippines

Australia

Paraguay

Percentage
of share
capital
owned by
the Group
100.0%

50.0%

50.0%

100.0%

16.0%

100.0%

48.5%

9.4%

100.0%

100.0%

32.4%

100.0%
100.0%
99.9%

100.0%

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
40.0%
94.0%

94.0%
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Ciass of
shares

Ordinary
shares
Qrdinary
shares

Ordinary
shares
Common
shares

Preferred
shares
Ordinary
Equity
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
shares
Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares
Qrdinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Common
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
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Registered Address

3rd Floor Mackinnons Building, , 1.1
Chundrigar Road, , Karachi, 74000, Pakistan
Terminal Conteneurs Darse 2 Secteur
Graveleaw, 13230 Port Saint Louis du Rhone,
France

Av Du 18eme Port, 76600, Le Havre, France

Estera Services (Bermuda) Limited, Canon's
Court, 22 Victoria Street, PO Box HM 1179,
Hamilton, HM EX, Bermuda

7th Floar, STI Holdings Center, 6764 Ayala
Avenue, Makati City, Metro Manila, Philippines
MICT Operation Centre, Navinal, New Mundra
Port, Kachehh, Mundra, Gujarat, 370421,
India

366 Rua de Bagamoyo, Maputo, Mozambigque

Smimoffweg 3, PO Box 59138, 3088 HE
Rotterdam, 3008 PC Netherlands, Netherlands

Darabshaw House, Level 1, Soorji Vallabhdas
Marg, Ballard Estate,, Mumbai, Maharashtra,
400038, India

Darabshaw Hause, Level 1, Narottam Morarji
Road, Ballard Estate, Mumbai, Maharashtra,
400001, India

Laem Chabang International Terminal Co.,
Ltd., Terminal B5, Laem Chabang Port,
Tungsukla, Sriracha, Chonburi, Thailand

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ, United
Kingdom:

Avda. Guido Boggiani 5509 ¢, Pracer
Arguello, Asuncion, Paraguay

Mackinnons Building , I.L.Chundrigar Road,
P.Q.Bax 4679, Karachi, Pakistan

The Corparation Trust Company, Corporate
Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington,
Detaware, New Castle, 19801, United States
16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ), United
Kingdom

34, Boulevard des Italiens, 75009, Paris,
France

16 Palace Street, Londan, SW1E 5JQ, United
Kingdam

7th Floor, STI Holdings Center, 6764 Ayala
Avenue, Makati City, Metra Manila, Philippines
Level 4, 70 City Road , Southbank VIC 3008,
Australia

Avda. Guido Boggiani 5509 ¢/, Procer
Arguello, Asuncion, Paraguay



Notes to the Company financial statement {continued)

T. Related undertakings {(continued)

Name

P&O Maritime Mozambique SA

P&Q Maritime Ocean Sciences Limited

P&QO Maritime Services (France) SARL
P&Q0 Maritime Services (Ireland) Ltd
P&0O Maritime Services (PNG) Limited
P&0 Maritime Services {Singapore) Pte.
;t;() Maritime Sarvices (South Africa)
{Proprietary) Limited

P&0O Maritime Services (UK) Limited
P&O Maritime Services Paraguay S.A.
P&O Maritime Services Pty Ltd

P&O Netherlands B.V.

P&0O Overseas Holdings Limited

P&QO Pension Funds Investments Limited
P&0 Ports Ltd,

P&O Properties International Limited
P&0 Scottish Ferries Limited

PAG Scoftish Ferries Ship Management

Limited

P&0O Tankships Investments Limited

Country of
incorporation

Mazambique

United
Kingdam

France
Ireland

Papua New
Guinea

Singapore

South Africa

Lnited
Kingdam
Paraguay

Australia
Netherlands

United
Kingdom
United
Kingdom
United
Kingdom
United
Kingdom
United
Kingdom
United
Kingdom

United
Kingdam

Percentage
of share
capital
owned by
the Group
0.9%

47.0%

94.0%
94.0%

94.0%

94.0%

94.0%

94.0%
94.0%
94.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
160.0%
100.0%
100.0%

100.0%

100.0%
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Class of
shares

Ordinary
shares
Ordinary-
A
slidies
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Qrdinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Qrdinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

P&O Annual Report

Registered Address

Av. Martires De Inhaminga, Recinta
Portuaria, n°® 4, Maputo, Mozambigue
18 Palace Street, London, SW1E 50},
United Kingdom

8 Rue De L'Est, Boulogne Billancourt,
France

Parkmore Business Park West, Galway,
Ireland

Motukea Island, Porebada Road, Port
Moresby, National Capital District, Papua
New Guinea

30 Pandan Road, 609277, Singapore

2ND Fioor Block D, The Boulevard Office
Park, Searle Street, Woodstock, 7925,
South Africa

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ,
United Kingdom

Avda. Guido Boggiani 5509 ¢/, Procer
Arguella, Asunclon, Paraguay

Level 4, 70 City Road , Southbank VIC
3006, Australia

16 Palace Street, Londan, SW1E 5JQ,
United Kingdom

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 54Q,
United Kingdom

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ,
United Kingdom

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ,
United Kingdom

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ,
United Kingdam

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ,
United Kingdom

Computershare Investor Services PLC,
Edinburgh House, 4 North St. Andrew
Street, Edinburgh, EH2 1HJ, United
Kingdom

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ,
United Kingdom



Notes to the Company financial statement (continued)

T. Related undertakings {(continued)

Name

Pacity Investments Pty Limited
Parktex Developmeant, Inc.
Parkway investments Partners, LP

Parkway Limited Investments, Inc.

Pecard Group Holdings, Inc.

Philippine Seaport, Inc

POETS Fleet Management Limited
Portsynergy Projects SA
Portsynergy SAS

Portus Indico - Sociedade de Servicos
Pnrtuarins FZC0
PTS Heldings Limited

Qasim [nternational Container Terminal
Pakistan Limited

Qingdao New Qianwan Container
Terminal Co., Ltd

Qingdac Qianwan Container Terminal
Co., Lid

Qingdac Qianwan United Advance
Container Terminal Co., Ltd,
Qingdac Qianwan United Container
Terminal Ca., Ltd.

Qingdao Qingyin Financial Leasing
Company | imited
Remolcadares de Puerto v Altura, S.A.

Country of
incorporation

Australia
United States
United States

Urited States

Philippines

Philippines
United
lingdom
France
France
United Arab

Emirates
Mauritius

Pakistan

China

China

China

China

China

Spain

Percentage
of share
capital
owned by
the Group
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

100.0%

16.0%

39.8%
100.0%
50.0%
50.0%
48.5%

58.4%

55.0%

27.6%

28.9%

9.6%

13.8%

1.7%

53.6%
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Class aof
shares

Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Class B
Common
shares
Cemman
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
sharco
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares and
redeemable
“p
QOrdinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Crdinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Qrdinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

P&O Annual Report

Registered Address

Level 21, 400 George Strest, Sydney NSW
2000, Australia
Delaware, United States

Texas, United States

Naticnal Registered Agents, Inc., 160
Greentree Drive, Suite 101, Dover DE
19804, United States

3rd Floor, SSHG Law Centre, 105 Paseo
de Roxas, Makati City, Philippines

3rd Floor, SSHG Law Centre, 105 Paseo
de Roxas, Makati City, Philippines

16 Palace Street, London, SWHE 5JQ,
Unitod Kingdem

Av Du 16eme Port, 76600, Le Havre,

I ranoce

25 Traverse Mardirossian, 13015,
Marseille, France:

P.0, Box 17000, Dubai, United Arab
Emirates

3rd Floor - C6, 31 Cybercity, Ebene,
Mauritius

Berths 5,6 & 7, Marginal Wharves, Pon
Muhammed Bin Qasim, Karachi, Pakistan,
75020, Pakistan

No. 567 Tongjiang Road, Free Trade Zone,
Qingdao, Shangdong Province, China
Fenjin 4th Road, Port of Qianwan,
Huangdao, Qingdao, Shangdong Province,
266500, Chita

Qingdaa Free Trade Zone, Qingdao,
Shandong Province, China

No. 567 Tongjiang Road, Free Trade Zane,
Qingdao, Shangdong Province, China
Qingdao Free Trade Zone, Qingdao,
Shandong Province, China

Muelie de Reus, s/n, Edificio Fruport ~
43004 Tarragona - Sp, 43004 , Tarragona,
Tarragona, Spain



Notes to the Company financial statement {conlinued)

T. Related undertakings (continued)

Name

Saigon Premier Container Terminal

SKatellite Telemetry (Aust) P/L

SCT Nominaes Limited

SCT Pensian Trustees Limited

SG Holdings. Inc

Sociedade de Desenvolvimento do Porto de
Maputo, S.A.

Solent Container Services Limited

South Asia Logistics Pvi Ltd

South Cotabato Integrated Port Services, Inc.

Southampton Container Terminals Limited

Terminal de Cabotagem de Maputo SARL

Teminales Ria de la Plata S.A.

UK EDI Limited
Ventress Investments Pty Limited
Vipport

Visakha Container Terminal Private Limited

Waugheal Pty Limited

Welbeck Navigation Inc

Country of
incorporation

Vietnam

Australia
United
Kingdum
United
Kingdom
Philippines
Mozambique
United
Kingdom
Mauritius
Philippines
United

Kingdom
Mozambique

Argentina

United
Kingdom
Australia

Belgium

India

Australia

Panama

Percentage
of share
capital
owned by
e Giorniy
80.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
16.0%
24.7%
100.0%
100.0%
14.9%

100.0%

247%

52.3%

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

26.0%

100.0%

94.0%
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Class of
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Preferred
shares

C Class
shares
Qrdinary
shares
Ordinary
shares
Cammon
shares
Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares

Ordinary
shares
Qrdinary
Equity
shares

Ordinary
shares
Ordinary
shares

P&O Annual Report

Registered Address

Plot C-17, Street No.14, Hiep Phuoc Industrial
Zone, Hisp Phuoc Communa, Nha Be District,
Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

Level 21, 400 George Street, Sydney NSW
2000, Australia

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ, United
Kingdom

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ, United
Kingdom

7th Floor, STI Holdings Center, 6764 Ayala
Avenue, Makati City, Metro Manila, Philippines
Praca dos Trabalhadores, Porto de Maputo,
Maputo, Mozambique

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ, United
Kingdom

3rd Floor - C6, 31 Cybercity, Ebene, Mauritius

SCIPSI Administration Building, Makar Wharf,
Gen, Santos City, 9500, Philippines

16 Palace Street, London, SW1E 5JQ, United
Kingdom

Martires de Inhaminga, Recinto Portuario —
Partao n® 4, Caixa Postal 145, Maputo,
Mozambique

Av. R.S. Castillo y Comodoro Py s/N°, Puerto
Nueva, Capital Federal, Buenos Aires,
C1104BAL, Argentina

16 Palace Street, Londan, SW1E 5JQ, United
Kingdom

Level 21, 400 George Street, Sydney NSW
2000, Australia

Nieuwe Westweg haven 742, 2040 Antwerpen,
Belgium

Godrej Coliseum, Office No. 801, 8th Floor, C -
Wing, Behind Everard Nagar,, Off Somaiya
Haspital Road, Near Priyadarshini, Sion (East),
Mumbai, Maharashtra, 400022, India

Level 21, 400 George Street, Sydney NSW
2000, Australia

Edificio Plaza 2000, Piso 16, Calle 50, Panama,
Panama
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Notes to the Company financial statement (continued)

U. Post Balance Sheet Events

Nn nthar matter or circiimstance has arisen since 31 December 2020 that has significantly affected, or may significantly
affect the Company's operations, the results of those operations, or the Company's state of affairs in future financial

years,

Glossary

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA

EBITDA, a measure used by the Company's management to measure operating performance, is defined as profit after tax
from continuing operations plus finance costs (net of finance income), income tax, depreciation and amortisation. EBITDA
includes the Group's share of profit from associates and joint ventures.

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as FRITDA further adjusted to remove the impact of Separately disclosed items ('SDI's’).
Adjusted EBITDA includes the Group's share of profit from associates and joint ventures.

The Cnmpany's management believes that EBITDA and Adiusted EBITDA are helpful in highlighting trends because thay
exclude certain items that are outside the normal course of business and can differ significantly from company to company
depending on long-term strategic decisions regarding capital structure, the tax jurisdictions in which companies operate and
capital investments. The Company's management uses EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to supplement IFRS results to
pravide a mare complete nnderstanding of the factors and trends affecting the business than IFRS results alone.



